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2. Corporate Structure 

2.1 Name and address 

The Issuer’s full corporate name is Synergy Acquisition Corp. (the “Company” or “Synergy”). The Company 

intends to change its name to “Quebec Mineral Properties” shortly after listing on CNSX to better reflect the 

nature of its business going forward. 

The Company’s head office is located at 1240-1200 av. McGill College, Montréal (Québec) H3B4G7, Canada 

and the registered office is located at 1500, 10180 – 101 Street NW, Edmonton, AB, T5J 4K1. 

2.2 Incorporation 

The Company was incorporated by articles of incorporation under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) on 

June 24, 2003 as a capital pool company named Heartwood Capital Company. On March 29, 2006, the 

Company completed its qualifying transaction and concurrently changed its name to Neo Alliance Minerals 

Inc. Following the completion of a reorganization, the Company changed its name to Synergy Acquisition 

Corp. on December 16, 2010. 

The Company has been a reporting issuer in the Province of Alberta since December 22, 2003, pursuant to 

the issuance of a receipt for a final prospectus under the Securities Act (Alberta). The Company began 

trading on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) on January 20, 2004 under the symbol “HWC.P” which was 

subsequently changed to “NAM” on April 10, 2006 and “SAQ.H” on December 17, 2010. 

The Company was voluntarily delisted from TSXV on October 16, 2013 and has been approved on the same 

date for listing on CNSX under the symbol “QMP”.  

2.3 Intercorporate relationships 

The company has no subsidiaries.  

2.4 Fundamental change or reorganization 

This section does not apply.. 

2.5 Foreign incorporation 

This section is not applicable to the Company since it is a Canadian company.  

3. General Development of the Business 

3.1 General development over the last 3 years 

The Company’s last three years has been characterized by a reorganization of its business, which developed 

a follows: 

On December 16, 2010, the Company changed its name to “Synergy Acquisition Corp.” to better reflect the 

nature of its business going forward. The proposed business activity for Synergy Acquisition Corp was to 

effect a merger, asset acquisition, share purchase, reorganization or other similar business combination with 

one or more synergistic operating businesses.  

On February 8, 2011, the shareholders of the Company approved, in preparation for certain initiatives being 

considered by the Company to enhance shareholder liquidity and to attract equity financing in order for the 
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Company to meet its working capital requirements and to fund future acquisitions, a consolidation of up to 

one (1) Post-Consolidated Share for each six (6) Pre-Consolidated Shares (the “Consolidation”). 

On May 12, 2011, the Company received approval from the TSXV to complete a consolidation of its 

outstanding shares on the basis of one post-consolidation common share for every six pre-consolidation 

shares held in accordance with the approvals received from its shareholders at the annual and special 

meeting of shareholders held February 8, 2011. The 15,541,000 pre-consolidation common shares of the 

Company outstanding immediately prior to the Consolidation were reduced to 2,590,167 post-consolidation 

common shares of the Company. 

On March 15, 2012, the Company announced it had closed a non-brokered private placement of 666,667 

common shares of the Company at the price of $0.15 per common share to Don Caron, the Chairman and a 

director of the Company, David Tam, a director of the Company and Eric Sauze, Chief Financial Officer and 

Secretary of the Company. The shares are subject to a TSXV hold period expiring on July 6, 2012. The 

Company intends to use the proceeds from the sale of the common shares for general working capital. 

On July 15, 2013, the Company entered into an agreement in principle (the “Term Sheet”) for the arm’s 

length acquisition (the “Transactions ”) of all the rights and interest in approximately 2,950 mining claims 

located in the Province of Quebec (the “Claims”) from 9248-7792 Quebec Inc. (“9248”) and 9257-1256 

Quebec Inc. (“9257”) (“9248” and “9257” hereinafter collectively, “Quebec Co.”).  

On October 10, 2013, the Company completed its previously announced transactions, including the arm’s 
length acquisition of significant mining claim assets, private placements and reverse take-over of the 
Company (the “Transactions”), described more fully in section 3.2 hereafter.  

 
3.2 Acquisition of significant mining claim assets 

On October 10, 2013, Synergy has purchased all the rights and interest in the Claims from  Quebec Co.for an 

aggregate consideration of 10,000,000 common shares of Synergy to be issued at a deemed price of $0.06 

per share in accordance with two definitive claims purchase and rollover agreements entered into between 

the respective parties. 

Among the Claims is the Dalquier Property consisting of sixty (60) mining claims in the south-east part of the 

Abitibi Greenstone Belt and for which an independent technical report has been prepared in accordance with 

Canadian National Instrument 43-101 (“NI-43-101”). See section 4.3 entitled “Mineral Exploration Property”.  

Concurrent with the closing of the Transactions, Synergy has completed two non-brokered private 

placements, (the “Offerings”), raising total gross proceeds of $167,500 through the issuance of 3,250,000 

Synergy common shares at $0.05 per common share and 50,000 Synergy common shares at $0.10 per 

common share. All subscribers in the Offering were arms-length accredited investors except for one current 

director who subscribed for 500,000 Synergy common shares at $0.05 per common share. 

Following completion of the Transactions, Quebec Co. owns approximately 60.4% of the issued and 

outstanding common shares of Synergy. 

The Company has obtained the written consent of the holders of a majority of its voting shares approving the 

Transactions and the listing of the Company on the CNSX. The TSXV has approved the Company’s 

application for voluntary delisting from NEX on October 16, 2013 and the Company was listed on the same 

date on CNSX under the symbol “QMP”. Concurrent with the closing of the Transactions, the current directors 

and officers of Synergy have resigned and new directors and officers have been nominated by Quebec Co. 
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See section 13, “Directors and Officers”. The Company intends to change its name to “Quebec Mineral 

Properties Inc.” (assuming this is acceptable to the applicable authorities). 

Quebec Co will retain a 1% net smelter royalty ("NSR") on each Claim with Synergy having the right to 

purchase one-half (0.5%) of the NSR at any time by paying $500,000 to Quebec Co. Concurrent with the 

closing of the Transactions , Synergy and 9248 have entered into an exclusive exploration work management 

agreement. 

3.3 Trends 

Please refer to Section 17 entitled “Risk Factors”. Other than as disclosed therein, the Company is not aware 

of any trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events which are likely to have a material effect on 

the Company’s business financial condition or results of operations. 

4. Narrative Description of the Business 

4.1 General 

For the last three years, the business activity of the Company has been to identify and evaluate targets for a 

merger, asset acquisition, share purchase, reorganization or other similar business combination with one or 

more synergistic operating businesses. 

Following the closing of the Transactions , the Company will have an interest in approximately 3,200 Claims 

located in the Province of Quebec and will become a mineral exploration business focused primarily on the 

exploration, and development of mineral properties.   

(a) 12 Month Business Objectives and Milestones 

  i. Completing the Transactions and listing of the Company on the CNSX. 

 ii. Completing follow on financing to fund the proposed work on the Dalquier Property 

pursuant to the NI 43-101 Report on this property. 

iii. Compilation and re-interpretation of all existing geological and geophysical data concerning 

the Dalquier Property (Block 1 for NI-Cu-PGE and Blocks 2 for  gold). 

iv. Prospecting and geological mapping. 

v. Geophysical surveys. 

vi. Exploration drilling. 

(b) Significant milestones, time period and the costs related to each event. 

EVENT COST (ESTATE) TIMING 

Claims Purchase Transactions , 

Private Placement and CNSX 

Listing 

$85,000 1 month 
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Additional financing for $400,000- 

$450,000 

$40,000 3 months 

Phase 1 of Recommended 

Exploration Program (Dalquier 

Property) 

$131,000 6 months 

Compilation and interpretation of 

date on all other properties of the 

Company 

$50,000 9 months 

Phase 2 of Recommend 

Exploration Program (Dalquier-

Property) 

$263,350 12 months 

 

(c) Total funds available: 

 See 4(2)(b). 

(d) Use of proceeds of the Offering 

 See 4(2)(b). 

4.2 Asset-Backed Securities  

This section is not applicable since the Company has no asset-backed securities outstanding. 

4.3 Mineral Exploration Property 

1- PROPERTY DESCRIPTION AND LOCATION 

(a) Property location 

Geologically, the property is located in the Archean greenstone belt of northwest Quebec (Canada). The 

Dalquier Property is located about 55 kilometers northwest of the town of Val d'Or and at 8 kilometers east of 

the town of Amos (Fig.1). 

(b) Historical acquisition of the claims 

The 60 claims that comprise the Dalquier Property were held by Mr. Glenn Griesbach, Mr. Stéphane Leblanc 

and Mr. W. Lambertz. Mr. Griesbach, who was responsible for the claims, is familiar with the Abitibi region, 

mineral exploration and mining in Abitibi, having worked as a geologist with a number of exploration and 

mining companies in the region in the late 1980s and early 1990s. The region of “Amos-Barraute-Senneterre” 

has always been of particular interest to Mrs. G. Griesbach and S. Leblanc and so several years ago they 

began to build a portfolio of mineral licenses in the region. The Dalquier Property is one of the results of their 

diligent efforts to acquire, by staking, the right to explore some of the most prospective ground in the region. 
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The actual Dalquier Property, which is the object of this report, is comprised of 59 claims, owned by the same 

owners cited above, but reorganized in a Ni-Cu-PGE objective. Mr. Stephane Leblanc is responsible for the 

property claims. 
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(c) Property Description and subdivisions 

The Dalquier Property (actual), consisting of 59 claims in two blocks totalling 2,429 hectares, lies mainly in 

Figuery  and Landrienne townships, with a few of the claims in Dalquier Township (Fig.2). The Harricana 

River lies between the claims groups: 

 
 

(i) Block 1: 
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The property consists in part, of the larger Block 1 representing more than 90 % of the property a r e a  and 

lies within Figuery and Landrienne townships: Range 9, Range 10 for Figuery and Range 9 for Landrienne.  

The UTM WGS 84 center coordinates of block 1  is given below: 

 Block 1: E 720747m   N 5382217m 

 

The East Harr icana group wi th the major  c laims  Block, called Block 1, the West Harricana  claims 

block, called Block 2 (Figure 1). 

(ii) Block 2 

West of the Harricana River and north of block 1, we have the block 2 (Fig 3). 

The center coordinates of block 2 is given below: 

 Block 2: E 715067m N 5389990m 

(d) Mining title’s Status 

The Dalquier Property is comprised of 59 mineral claims in 2 blocks totaling 2,429 hectares. The table 

below provides the details of the mining titles for the property, blocks 1 and 2, and give the details 

concerning each claim (location, surface area, owner, etc.) and encumbrances for each claim.  

The Dalquier Property covers a surface area of 2,412 hectares and needs exploration expenditures for the 

renewal of these claims for a total of around $71,000.00. All these data have been obtained from the MRNFQ. 
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Table 1:  Mining titles status and encumbrances 

 

SNRC
 Township
 CELL IDENTITY

Range-Lot

CLAIM

NUM BER 

CDC "X"

EXPIRY
DATE
 Expl. Exp.

Req. for renewal 

($)

AREA

(Ha.)

Owner & responsible

name

%
owner


32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0049 0 2311613 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.26 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 60.0%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0050 0 2311614 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.21 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 60.0%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0052 0 2311615 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.14 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 60.0%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0053 0 2311616 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.09 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 60.0%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0054 0 2311617 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.06 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 60.0%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0042 1 2311618 4/11/2014 1200.00 30.95 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 60.0%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0043 1 2311619 4/11/2014 1200.00 31.02 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 60.0%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0045 1 2311620 4/11/2014 1200.00 31.16 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 60.0%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0046 1 2311621 4/11/2014 1200.00 31.23 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 60.0%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0047 1 2311622 4/11/2014 1200.00 36.59 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 60.0%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0048 0 2311612 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.29 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 60.0%
32D09 DALQUIER CD040 R 0004 0033 0 2287623 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.76 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 60.0%
32D09 DALQUIER CD040 R 0004 0034 0 2287624 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.81 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 60.0%
32D09 DALQUIER CD040 R 0004 0035 0 2287625 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.87 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 60.0%
32D09 DALQUIER CD040 R 0004 0036 0 2287626 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.92 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 60.0%
32D09 DALQUIER CD040 R 0004 0037 0 2287627 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.98 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 60.0%
32D09 DALQUIER CD040 R 0004 0038 0 2287628 4/11/2014 1200.00 43.03 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 60.0%
32C12 Cel. 30" X 30" 32C12 X 0007 0008 1 2293603 4/11/2014 1200.00 27.33 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 20.4%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0010 0050 0 2293595 4/11/2014 1200.00 41.99 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0010 0051 0 2293596 4/11/2014 1200.00 41.92 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0010 0053 0 2293597 4/11/2014 1200.00 41.79 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0010 0054 0 2293598 4/11/2014 1200.00 41.72 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0010 0055 0 2293599 4/11/2014 1200.00 41.65 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0010 0059 0 2293600 4/11/2014 1200.00 41.37 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0010 0060 0 2293601 4/11/2014 1200.00 41.31 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0010 0061 0 2293602 4/11/2014 1200.00 41.24 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32C12 LANDRIENNE CL215 R 0009 0001 0 2293611 4/12/2014 1200.00 25.28 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 0.204
32C12 LANDRIENNE CL215 R 0009 0003 0 2293612 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.59 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 20.4%
32C12 LANDRIENNE CL215 R 0009 0004 0 2293613 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.61 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 20.4%
32C12 LANDRIENNE CL215 R 0009 0005 0 2293614 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.63 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 20.4%
32C12 LANDRIENNE CL215 R 0009 0006 0 2293615 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.65 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 20.4%
32C12 LANDRIENNE CL215 R 0009 0008 0 2293616 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.68 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 20.4%
32C12 LANDRIENNE CL215 R 0009 0009 0 2293617 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.70 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 20.4%
32C12 LANDRIENNE CL215 R 0009 0010 0 2293618 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.72 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 20.4%
32C12 LANDRIENNE CL215 R 0009 0011 0 2293619 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.74 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 20.4%
32C12 LANDRIENNE CL215 R 0009 0016 0 2293620 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.84 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 20.4%
32C12 LANDRIENNE CL215 R 0009 0017 0 2293621 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.84 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 20.4%
32C12 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0064 0 2293622 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.63 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 20.4%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0055 0 2293623 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.01 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 20.4%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0059 0 2293624 4/11/2014 1200.00 41.84 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 20.4%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0060 0 2293625 4/11/2014 1200.00 41.83 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 20.4%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0061 0 2293626 4/11/2014 1200.00 41.89 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 20.4%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0062 0 2293627 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.31 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 20.4%
32C12 LANDRIENNE CL215 R 0009 0002 0 2285409 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.57 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32C12 LANDRIENNE CL215 R 0009 0007 0 2285410 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.67 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32C12 LANDRIENNE CL215 R 0009 0015 0 2285411 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.82 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0051 0 2285412 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.18 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0056 0 2285413 4/11/2014 1200.00 41.98 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0057 0 2285414 4/11/2014 1200.00 41.94 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0058 0 2285415 4/11/2014 1200.00 41.90 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0010 0049 0 2285416 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.06 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0010 0052 0 2285417 4/11/2014 1200.00 41.85 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0010 0056 0 2285418 4/11/2014 1200.00 41.58 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0010 0057 0 2285419 4/11/2014 1200.00 41.51 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0010 0058 0 2285420 4/11/2014 1200.00 41.44 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32C12 LANDRIENNE CL215 R 0009 0013 0 2299170 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.78 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32C12 LANDRIENNE CL215 R 0009 0014 0 2299171 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.80 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32C12 LANDRIENNE CL215 R 0009 0012 0 2299169 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.76 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 19.8%
32D09 FIGUERY CF100 R 0009 0063 0 2293628 4/11/2014 1200.00 42.33 9248-7792 Québec Inc. 20.4%



 

FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

Page 12 

2- ACCESSIBILITY, CLIMATE, LOCAL RESOURCES, INFRASTRUCTURE AND 
PHYSIOGRAPHY 

(a) Accessibility 

The property is located approximately 8 km east of Amos, 55 km northwest of the mining city of Val d’Or via 

Highway 111 and approximately 100 km northeast of the industrial and mining city of Rouyn-Noranda via 

highways 117 and 107 (Fig.1 & Fig.2). 

(b) Climate and Physiography 

The climate is temperate with warm summers, cold winters, and a low average precipitation.  Summer 

temperatures average 25° C during the day and there is relatively little precipitation (200 to 500 mm). Winters 

are cold, with temperatures averaging -15° C in January and February, where it can get as low as -35°C for 

periods of a few days to a few weeks at a time.  Lake ice remains until roughly the end of April. Exploration is 

possible throughout the year; however this can require the use of snow removal equipment to keep access 

roads open. 

The regional topography is typical of the glaciated Canadian Shield in that low ridges of rock, gravel or sand 

interrupted by areas of muskeg along drainages. The physiography is generally a fairly flat region and 

consists of swampy bush and small trees. Drainage varies from poor to good depending on topography. 

(c) Local Resources and Infrastructure 

The closest center for the area is the city of Amos with a population of about 13000. The city of Val-d'Or 

(population approximately 35000), is about 60 minutes’ drive from the Dalquier Property (55 from Val d’Or). 

The city of Rouyn-Noranda (population 40.000) is approximately 110 km distant. 

The Canadian National Railway (CNR) crosses the property just north of Highway 111.  

Due to its proximity, the town of Amos offers good logistical support (groceries, hardware, banks, hotels and 

motels, etc.), with a small hospital (with emergency services) and necessary provincial government services.  

Amos has a municipal airport but scheduled flights from major centers land at the airports of Val d'Or and 

Rouyn-Noranda.  

The region has an experienced, skilled and innovative workforce, considering the many exploration, 

development, contracting and engineering companies carrying out activities in the region. In addition, a 

variety of provincial government ministries maintain full service offices. Both the regional school board and 

technical colleges offer many industry-focused courses that ensure an educated workforce. 

3- HISTORY OF EXPLORATION WORK 

In the Val d’Or mining district, which encompasses the Dalquier Property, gold was discovered in the 

beginning of the 20th century, with the first active mine (the Lamaque Mine) entering production in 1933. 

In the Amos area, exploration appears to have also begun around 1930 ( Jay Copper in  1924). The carrying 

out of the regional magnetic and  EM surveys by the Geological Survey of Canada in 1947 boosted  

exploration activity.  At that time serious exploration began (prospecting, geological mapping, aerial and 

ground geophysical surveys and drilling) in the area. 
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All the information below  has  been  obtained  from  public  assessment  files  kept  by  the  “Ministère  des 

Ressources Naturelles et de la Faune”. These are available on the web site (www.mrn.gouv.qc.ca). 

(a) Blocks 1 of Dalquier Property 

Figuery Township 

 

1947-1949: Prospecting and geological mapping in Range 10 and Dalquier Range 4, by Paramount 

Mining Co. GM 234 N - 234 H - 235 

 

1963-1966: Ground geophysics surveys (EM & Mag), mapping and  1  DDH by AMOS SYNDICATE, in  

Range 9. GM 14283-1 - GM 14283-2; GM 4283 - 16014     

 

1963:  DDH (1) by “Colonisation, Min”. GM 14981 

 

1965: Ground geophysics surveys (EM & Mag), in Range 10 by Kidd Mining Co. GM 16262 

 

1966: Geophysical ground surveys (Mag & EM profiles), geological mapping and 3 DDH, by 

Canadian Johns-Mainville Co Ltd, Range 10. GM 18048 

 

1966: Diamond Drilling logs and geological sections by Union Carbide Expl Ltd, Range 9. GM 

19453  

 

1972-1973: Ground geophysics surveys (EM & Mag), followed by two drillholes in Range 9 by Mattagami 

Lake Mines Ltd. GM 28019 – 28971-28634. 

 

1974: Geophysical reports by SOQUEM  on  EM, gravity and I.P. surveys covering parts of Range 9 

and 10. GM 29792-29758 

 

1975 - 76: Ground geophysics surveys (Mag & EM) in range9 & 10, by UMEX Inc.  

GM 32169 – 31408 

 

Ground geophysics surveys (Mag-EM) and DDH location, by LABRADOR EXPLORATION 

LTD, in Range 9 & X. GM 30716 - 30717 

 

1978: Ground geophysical survey (VEM) to confirm an input anomaly by SEREM, in R IX, Lot 60-

64. GM 34385 

 

1984: Geological mapping, geophysical surveys (ground gradiometry, Mag & VLF) by Noranda 

Exploration Ltd, Range 9 – X. GM 41662 

 

Prospection and mapping by Noranda Exploration (Claims Cosette) Range 10 and IX. GM 

41680 

 

1984:  DDH and samples analysis by “Claim Leclerq”. GM 42415 

 

1998: Ground Geophysics (Mag & VLF) and diamond Drillholes by Claims Hamel in Range 10. GM 

56441 

 

http://www.mrn.gouv.qc.ca/
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2008: Regional computer compilation using multiple Ni deposits  characteristics with “CARDS” 

software for the identification of  Ni deposits potential area at the scale of The Abitibi 

greenstone belt. By Diagnos.  GM 63895  

 

Landrienne Township 

 

1947:  Geological mapping by Paramount Mining Co. in Range 9. GM 234 - 237 

 

Geological mapping by KOULOMIZE & Co in Range VI - X . GM 12805 

 

1962: Detail mapping and magnetic surveys followed by six drillholes by Canadien Johns Manville 

Co. GM 11979 – 15080 – 18048 - 18474. 

  

1963-66 Geological mapping and  2 DDH, by Canadian Johns-Mainville Co Ltd, Range 9. GM 15080  

 

1965: Ground geophysics surveys (EM & Mag), in Range 10 by Kidd Mining Co. GM 16262 

 

1966: Geophysical  ground  surveys  (Mag & EM profiles), geological mapping  and  3 DDH, by 

Canadian Johns-Mainville Co Ltd, Range 10. GM 18048  

 

1966-1967: Ten drillholes in Range 9 by Union Carbide Ltd. GM 19453. 21556. 

 

1971-1972: Four holes drilled by Wright bar Ltd in Range 10. GM 27436. Geological mapping and 

trenching followed by nine drillholes in Ranges IX and X by SOQUEM. GM 27656 – 27659-. 

 

Magnetic and EM surveys by Noranda Exploration followed by one drill hole.  

GM 27538 - 27539. 

 

1976: Magnetic and EM surveys followed by one drill hole in Range 9 by Umex Ltd. GM 28985 – 

31632 – 31633 – 31789 – 31790 - 32687. 

 

1983:  Soil geochemistry, Range 9, by  Minerai lac Ltd.  GM48288 

 

1984: Geological mapping, geophysical surveys (ground gradiometry, Mag & VLF) by Noranda 

Exploration Ltd, Range 9 – 10. GM 41662 

 

Prospection and mapping by Noranda Exploration east Range 10 and IX. GM 41680 

 

1984-85: Geophysical surveys (Mag & EM / EM&VLF) and DDH recommendations, Range 9, Lot 55 - 

62 by Geo-Exploration Services. GM42065; GM41063 

 

1988: Geophysical surveys (Mag & Max Min), prospection and geochemical sampling (soil and 

rocks), Geological and geochemical report, Barraute Property by MINES BHP-UTAH Ltee, 

Range 9. GM 48288 

 

1989: Diamonds drillholes and sampling analyses by MINES BHP-UTAH Ltee, Range 9. GM 48843 
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2008: Regional  computer compilation using multiple Ni deposits characteristics with “CARDS” 

software for the identification of  Ni deposits potential area at the scale of The Abitibi 

greenstone belt. By  Diagnos.  GM 63895  

(b) Block 2 of Dalquier Property 

Block 2 is located in the north part of the Amos area, about 10 kilometers north of the city of Amos, in Range 

IV, lots 33-38 inclusive, west of the Harricana River. 

Considering the few GM reports available that cover the 6 lots of this small block, little work seems to have 

been carried out here. A list of the GM reports in the immediate vicinity of Block 6 is given below. 

1947: Geological survey by “Paramount Mining and develop. Syndicate”. GM 00243 F ; GM 234  J. 

 

1974: Ground geophysical surveys (EM & Gravity) by “Claims Gauthier & New Jersey Zinc Expl  Co 

Ltd”. GM 30554 

 

1985:   Geological survey of the Property by “Claims Gauthier”. GM 43461 

 

1986: Geophysical Survey (Mag & VLF) partially on the Property by “Exploration Mon-Dor Inc”. GM 

43462 

4- GEOLOGICAL SETTING AND MINERALIZATION 

(a) Regional geology 

The Dalquier Property is located in the east part of the Abitibi Greenstone Belt of the Canadian Shield’s 

Superior Province.  

Abitibi region consists mostly of NW-SE to E-W striking volcanic and sedimentary rocks of Archean age. 

Plutonic bodies  are  diverse  in  size and  composition,  and include  granitic to granodioritic  plutons, and 

granitic  to gabbroic and ultramafic sills  and  dykes.   

The volcanic rocks are mainly of mafic composition although ultramafic, intermediate and felsic types are also 

present. The abundance of pillowed and non-vesicular lavas, together with the flyschoid character of much of 

the sedimentary component, demonstrates the prevalence of deep submarine conditions. However, the 

occurrence of some fluvial sedimentary rocks and airfall tuffs attest to occasional local non-marine conditions. 

The supracrustal rocks were deformed and intruded by granitic stocks and batholiths during the Kenoran 

event about 2,680 to 2,700 million years (Ma) ago. Folding along generally east-trending axes has commonly 

produced isoclinal structures. Regional metamorphism is predominantly greenschist and prehnite-pumpellyite 

facies except in the contact aureoles of the Kenoran granites where amphibolite grade is usually attained. The 

amphibolite facies metamorphism also occurs in the sedimentary rocks of the Pontiac Group. 

The Abitibi Sub-province, the largest greenstone belt of the Superior Province, is well-known for its important 

volcanogenic massive sulphides and orogenic lode gold deposits. These Archean terranes enclose also a 

multitude of showing and small deposits of nickel associated to mafic-ultramafic sills and/or dykes and 

molybdenum (Mo) associated with differentiated post-kinematic intrusions (monzonite to monzogranite with 

Pegmatites). 
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The eastern Abitibi Sub-province “The Amos area” where is located the Dalquier property (Fig.3), encloses 

favourable lithologies and structures to discover base metal deposit and gold deposits. This area is also 

known by the presence of nickel showing associated with ultramafic sills. A world-class deposit of Nickel, the 

Dumont Ni deposit (1,451,000.000 tons at 0.25% Ni + minor Cu), is located in an ultamafic sill, about 30 Km 

west of the property. 
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(b) Local geology: 
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At the scale of the eastern Abitibi greenstone belt, the rocks of the Amos area (metavolcanics) are located 

withing the northern flank of “La Motte-Vassan Anticline” (Imreh, 1982) and considered as a part of the 

Kinojevis Group. The Kinojevis Group is defined as a sequence of iron tholeitic rocks. It is stratigraphically 

located under the Blake River Group. 

At a smaller scale, the rocks in the Amos area (metavolcanics) are located within the southern flank of “NE 

Amos mega-anticline”. 

(i) Lithology and stratigraphy 

Imreh defines three lithological groups in the south of the Amos area; from south to north they are: 

 Landrienne Formation: Chloritic basaltic massive flows, locally magnetic, pillowed and brecciated, 

with the presence of lenticular rhyolitic lava flows. Porphyritic intrusives are common and appear to 

be comagmatic with the volcanic pile. 

 Figuery group, subdivided into: 

 Lower Figuery: Lava flows and breccias flows  of mafic metavolcanics and tholeitic 

metandesites; volcanogenic epiclastic deposits; tuff and chemical precipitations; locally 

ultramafic - mafic differentiated sills.    

 Upper Figuery: Flow breccias and lava flows, mostly andesitic, rarely dacitic and basaltic; 

tuffaceous episode with chemical precipitation. 

 Lower Amos group: Mostly pillowed basaltic flows; ultramafics-mafics differentiated sills. 

More recent geological work (GM B9524; Labbé, 1994, 1999) in the area of Amos reconsider the historical 

lithostratigraphic subdivisions concerning their Continuity. 

The author, based on lithological and lithogeochemical criteria, defines six stratigraphical units regionally 

separated from one another by major structural contacts (Fig. 5). Thus, from north to south: Béarn group 

(pillowed baltic flow), Lac Arthur group (andesite and rhyolite), La Morandière group (pillowed basaltic flow), 

Amos group (pillowed basaltic flow), Figuery group (andesites and rhyolite) and Landrienne group (pillowed 

basaltic flow). 

This volcanic succession is interpreted, following a geochemical study of all the volcanics mentioned above, 

as beginning by a first phase of calco-alcaline (Figuery Group) volcanism in an immature arc environment, 

followed by a rifting and a second phase of transitional volcanism (Lac Arthur Group). 

All these units are regionally oriented E-W on the regional trend of deformation and shows isoclinals 

structures of folding. 

In our case, The Dalquier property is essentially located in Figuery and Amos Groups except for Block  2 

(north claim) which is located in the “Lac Arthur Formation”.  

The “Lac Arthur Formation”, which represents the major part of the “Dalquier group”, consists mostly of 

andesitic and minor basaltic flows, generally metric pillowed flows, with some felsic volcanic like rhyolitic 

(Jonpol Rhyolite, which contains some massif sulphide lens) and dacitic flows. (Labbé,1995,1999). 

(ii) Structures 
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A. SCHISTOSITY AND FOLDING 

Regionally, in the area of Amos Township, all the structures and microstructures are generally oriented along 

the regional E-W trend.  Rock units dip generally steeply to the north, however, locally they commonly dip 

sub-vertically to the south. 

The schistosity, generally highly developed in some geological units (Figuery), can also be discreet in other 

units (north of the McArthur Formation).. 

However, this schistosity intensifies approaching the deformation corridors, the inverse faults and the axial 

plane of folds. 

Folds can be observed at different scales depending on the lithology. At a regional scale (Amos area), 4 

megastructures have been identified by Webber et al (1964) and redefined (Fig.6) by Labbé (1982). From 

North to south, is the the Soma anticline and the supposed “Duverny syncline” affecting the Mac Arthur Group 

lithologies, the anticline of “Rivière Chevalier” (Amos anticline of Webber) affecting the “Figuery Group” 

lithologies and the syncline of “Ruisseau Brisson” limited in the south by an overthrust fault on the Landrienne 

Group. 

B. REGIONAL STRUCTURES AND STRATIGRAPHIC CONSEQUENCES 

It is important to notice that as far as stratigraphy is concerned, until the structural problems are  resolved , no 

serious stratigraphic organization can be established, especially concerning the units (formations and groups) 

defined (Webber et al,1964; Imreh, 1982; Labbé, 1995, 1999) north of the Figuery Group (Amos Group, Lac 

Arthur Formation, La Morandière and more to the north).  

The anticline mega-structure northeast of Amos is shown in all the existing maps of the MRNFQ (32C12, 

32D09,  Map of 1982, MRNFQ) and its axis plane is located around the Suma Anticline defined by Webber 

(Figure 3&4). 
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Regionally, south of this axial plane, the schistosity and/or stratification-schistosity, generally highly developed 

in some lithologies, is oriented along the regional E-W trend and dips steeply to the north. The majority of the 

professional geological papers in this area of Amos, south of the axial plane, report “a steep northerly dip and 

facing south”. This structural configuration is typical of an inverse flank, we are regionally south of the axial 

plane of NE Amos mega-anticline, if we accept an anticline for this mega-structure. Thus, considering the 

“drag folds of the megastructure of Amos”, which have been described by different authors and mapped by 

Labbé (1995,1999), from south to north, Amos group and Mc Arthur Group come out approaching the heart of 

the anticline mega-structure of NE Amos. In this scheme, if we suppose that there are no “nappe structures” 

(overturned structures) the Amos Group and Lac Arthur Group have to be more historical than the Figuery 

Group, which is contradiction with the interpretation concerning the stratigraphic position of the Amos Group 

accepted until now, in Imreh’s work of 1982. 

More recently, Labbé (1999) made some Zircon geochronological studies done on the Jonpol Rhyolite  of the 

Lac Arthur Formation which gives an age of 2714 ±±3 My. The Lac Arthur Formation corresponds to a 

volcanic cycle not yet identified  in the Abitibi Greenstone Belt and possibly identified (Labbé, 1999) in the 

Ontario part of this greenstone belt (Hunter Mine Group). 

This structural problem has numerous exploration consequences at a regional scale considering the 

metallogenic repartition of different deposits in different groups and formations and associated volcanism 

types in the Abitibi greenstone belt (Imreh, 1982).  
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C: DEFORMATION CORRIDORS 

Three deformation corridor of regional scale (Labbé, 1995), characterized by an intense schistosity, crosscut 

the Amos area and generally underline the contact between the different groups mentioned above (Fig.6). 

Thus, from North to south we have: 

Jonpol Corridor: located NE and W of Amos Town, this corridor separates the Lac Arthur Formation from the 

Amos Group. It width can reach 2 kilometres but the extension seems to be limited (located between two 

intrusives). 

Bolduc Corridor: This regional deformation corridor, which constitutes the contact between the Amos Group 

and the Figuery Group, is located east of the town of Amos and develops more to the east in Barraute and 

west Senneterre townships. 

Abcourt Corridor: Located in the contact between the Figuery Group to the north and the Landrienne Group to 

the south, this corridor is about 1 to 2 km with  highly deformed rocks and has a regional E-W extension.   

In addition to theses’ Deformation Zones, the geological map of the area of Amos (MRNFQ 1982, Labbé, 

1995) shows senestral faults (brittle deformation), generally oriented NE-SW to NNE-SSW, of different scales 

which seem also control the hydrographical system of this region.  
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(c) Intrusive rocks: 

Plutonic bodies in the Abitibi region  are diverse  in  size and  composition,  and include  granitic to 

granodioritic  plutons,  granitic  to gabbroic and ultramafic sills  and  dykes. Volcanic and intrusive rocks (sills 

and dykes) have  generally  been  metamorphosed  to greenschist facies except in the vicinity of large 

intrusives were rocks are usually of amphibolite’ facies (Imreh, 1982). 

At the scale of The meridional Abitibi greenstone belt, different authors (Leduc, Sans Chagrin and Imreh) 

recognize the presence of two kinds of intrusives: 

 Syn-kinematic to tardi-kinematic calc-alkaline intrusions characterized by the presence of hornblende 

and the lack of g garnet ( Preissac, LaCorne batholiths),  

 Post-kinematic intrusions (Lamothe and Preissac batholiths) composed of biotite diorite, biotite grano-

diorite and adamellite (quartz monzonite and monzonitic granite included) where pegmatitic dykes 

with spodumene (Mo) are frequent. 

Numerous diabase dykes, post Kenoran orogenesis, with a Proterozoic Age, crosscut at a direction of 030° to 

045° N all the lithologies described above. 

In the goal of this report, we have to remind the generation of intrusive thus “the ante-kinematic intrusive” 

which took place before the Kenoran orogenesis. 

Anti-kinematic intrusives: Numerous sills and dykes, granitic, gabbroic and ultramafics, occur throughout the 

volcanic rocks and they are generally parallel to the WNW regional structural trend. In this category we can 

also add some synvolcanic felsic intrusive like Trecesson and Duverny intrusions (Labbé, 1999). 

These non-differentiated intrusions, mafic to ultramafic in composition, correspond to porphyries, 

lamprophyres, gabbros and peridotites (Imreh, 1982; Hébert, 1992; Labbé 1994). 

(d) Intrusive rocks in the area of the property 

In the immediate environment of the property, six plutons are known (Fig.5) and correspond to Villemontel 

intrusive, Amos intrusive, Trécesson intrusive, Berry intrusive, Duverny intrusive and Claverny intrusive. Most 

of these intrusions, post to syn-kinematic, correspond to granodiorite and granite, locally diorite and 

monzodiorite. 

Besides these post-kinematic intrusives, anti-kinematic mafic to ultramafic sills and dykes are known in the 

area of the property and will be discussed later. 

(e) Property Geology 

Geographically, The Harricana River subdivides the property into two claims groups (Fig.7): 

 East Harricana Group with one major claims block called Block 1,   

 West Harricana with a small block claims, called Block 2, 

Geologically, the blocks 1 is located in the Figuery and Amos groups. Block 2 is located in the McArthur group 

further to the north. 
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(f) Block 1 

Block 1 represents about 90% of the property with 53   lots. This block, which is straddling Figuery Township 

(Range 9 & 10) and Landrienne Township (Range 9), is also straddling geologically part of the Figuery Group 

to the south limit of the property and the Amos group to the north (Fig.5 & 7). 

The Property Block 1, particularly the Figuery part, is characterized by a lack of outcrops, particularly in the 

south part where most of the geological interpretations are done by the projection of lateral data, by 

geophysical anomalies and by drill holes data. Nevertheless, the ultramafic sills, for their relative hardness, 

come out from lots 21 to 64, Range 10 of Figuery township and in the north limit of Landrienne Township in 

Range 9 from lot 1 to lot 45 (Hébert, 1982). 

 According to Labbé (1995), the synthetic structural map (Fig.6) shows the presence of a major regional 

tectonic contact (overthrust fault) in the south limit of the Block 1 Property (Figuery Township Range 9), 

separating  the Amos Group from the Figuery Group in south ( Bolduc Corridor). This contact continues to the 

east and reappears in the east part of the property Block 1 (Landrienne Township, Range 9).  

North of this contact, the property lies at the base of Amos Group lithologies, mainly andesites, rhyolite and 

dacite lava, alternating with felsic tuff, the whole locally intruded by some intrusives like gabbro and 

pyroxenite (GM27538, GM21556, GM 19453). This zone shows the presence of multiple graphitic horizons, 

mainly mineralized in pyrite and pyrrhotite. 

In the north-west part of Block 1 (Figuery Range 10), the presence of an ultramafic sill complex (UMS) is 

known, identified in this area by geophysics (magnetics) and correspond to the continuity of the UMS 

outcrops in the east of this block. These sill continue towards the east in Landrienne Township (Range 10), 

just north of Block 1(Range 10, Landrienne Township). 

Two others sills, recognized by drillholes have been crosscut in lots 2 to 7 in Landrienne Range 10. north of 

the principal sill’s complex, but their position has not been established precisely (Hébert, 1982). 

A. GEOLOGY OF LOWER PART OF AMOS GROUP AND THE ULTRAMAFIC SILLS 

As part of a MRNQ project (“Liothostratigraphie et métallogénie prévisionnelle des volcanites de l’Abitibi Est”), 

detailed mapping of the area of the ultramafic sill (UMS) was carried out by Hébert in summer 1980.  

The Amos group, where the UMS is located in the lower part (lower Amos Group ), is limited to the south by 

the Figuery Group, essentially the upper Figuery (Imreh, 1982). The lower Amos Group is constituted, in this 

area, by mafic to intermediate “metavolcanic” rocks, locally felsic, and intercalations of fine tuff and/or crystal 

tuff.
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Differentiated ultramafic to mafic tabular structures, constituting the UMS, are injected sub-parallel to the 

primary “metavolcanic” structures, particularly in a specific narrow felsic tuff.  

The volcanics south of the main basic intrusion are generally massive, quite highly sheared and contorted 

(Bolduc Corridor), with minor pyrrhotite sulphide mineralization, the disseminations becoming more 

concentrated toward the peridotite-volcanic contact. 

The volcanics north of the main intrusive are moderately pillowed, but the pillows were so highly sheared 

(Jonpol Corridor) and altered that dip and strike determinations were not possible (GM 12776). 

B. THE ULTRAMAFIC SILL COMPLEX   

The differentiated Amos sill complex, with a maximum of 500 m in thickness, has a length of 15 km 

recognized regionally by outcrops, drillholes and geophysics. 

Some authors (Serem, 1978; GM 34385) who worked near the UMS report the existence of narrow layers of 

felsic tuffs and cherts that contain veinlets of chalcopyrite and malachite centimeters in thickness and a few 

centimeters in length. 

The lower contact of the UMS is regionally (Hébert,1982) emphasized by a thin banded tuff layer, locally 

metamorphosed and recrystallized with amphibole, chlorite, epidote and oligoclase. This intrusive contact 

shows an angle inferior to 15° with the tuff layer. Furthermore, the lower part of the UMS (dunite) is locally 

brecciated over three meters in width with angular elements of dunite of about 30 cm in a schistose 

serpentine matrix.    

Hébert (1982) recognize five cycles of intrusions in this sill complex and the scheme of the succession of the 

different lithofacies keeps quite the same in every cycle. Thus, from the base upwards, we have the 

succession of “dunite-wehrlite-clinopyroxenite-gabbro” that we find in all the cycles except cycle 3. 

This third cycle is anomalous due to the presence of the sequence “dunite-gabbro-clinopyroxenite-wehrlite”. A 

hypothesis of tectonic movement has been proposed by Mr. Hébert (1982) to explain this anomalous cycle. 

C. BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE DIFFERENT LITHOFACIES IN A CYCLE OF THE UMS 

COMPLEX (HÉBERT, 1982) 

Dunite: Dunite represent about 50% of every cycle of the UMS. Granulometry, from bottom to top, varies 

from fine (less than 1mm) to coarse (4 mm). The fine dunite is massive and highly magnetic; the coarse 

dunite is characterized by bedding (millimetric to pluri-centimetric chromite layers alternating with decimetric 

layers of olivine, “dunite”) and a magmatic foliation highly developed. All these facies are totally serpentinized.  

The dunite is locally deformed with the appearance of of brucite in fracture planes. In this tectonized facies we 

can also find small veins of chrysotile in different type of fractures and microfractures (schistosity and joints). 

Wehrlite: Overlying the dunite, the wehrlite appear gradually by a progressive enrichment in clinopyroxene 

(5-15%). This massive rock rich in chromite (diopside rich in chromite),shows a multitude of olivine inclusions 

in diopside, totally serpentinized. Magnetism is less strong than in dunite. 

Clinopyroxenite: The passage from wehrlite to clinopyroxenite is gradual and where magnetite disappears 

due to the lack of olivine.  
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Gabbro:  The transformation from clinopyroxenite to a gabbro remains also gradual by the enrichment in 

plagioclases. The gabbro can be bedded (alternation of fine layers of plagioclases and pyroxenes) and/or 

foliated. Depending of the profile, the gabbro width varies from 12 m to 280 m. 

The gabbro shows some differences (colour, granulometry, recrystalizations of the amphiboles) depending in 

which cycle and which profile we are. 

All these ultramafic complex lithofacies are affected but the regional Kénoran metamorphism given the 

following paragenesis (Hébert, 1982): 

o Host rocks (metavolcanics):  Chlorite-albite-epidote-quartz (±±hornblende) 

o Ultramafic sills: 

o Dunite:   Serpentine + magnetite ± chlorite ± talc ± carbonate ± amphibole 

o Wehrlite : Serpentine + chlorite + magnetite ± amphibole ± talc ± carbonate 

o Clinopyroxenite : trémolite + actinote + chlorite + magnetite 

o Gabbro : Brown hornblende + chlorite + epidote + albite ± leucoxene ± garnet ± carbonate± 

(a) Block 2 geology 

In Block 2 outcrops occur mainly in the north part of the property (Fig.6&7). This consists mainly of 

intermediate lava striking west-northwest with a steep northerly dip and facing south (GM00234F; GM43461). 

Considering the regional geology discussed below, this block is located in the “Lac Arthur Formation”, south 

of the axial plane of the NE Amos megastructure, so always in the inverse flank. 

Following a brief mapping of this property (GM43461), volcanic lithological units, mafic to intermediary in 

composition have been distinguished in this block. They correspond to andesitic and minor basaltic flows, 

generally pillowed, with some felsic volcanics such as dacitic flows. The mafic and felsic flows are generally 

pillowed, with pyrite in their borders. A crystal tuff unit with a width of more than 350 m occupies the south of 

the property. 

(b) Mineralization 

The Dalquier Property, as defined below, consists of two claims blocks for a total of 59 claims. Considering 

the geological and metallogenic environment of the 2 blocks, a regrouping is done for those presenting similar 

geological and metallogenic characteristics. 

Therefore, we will discuss Block 1 located in the Amos Group and in the Figuery Group and finally Block 2 in 

the north located in the Lac Arthur Formation.  

The Dalquier Property is an early stage exploration project, the known mineralization is essentially that 

discovered by historical exploration prospection and drilling. 

We will first describe the exploration results of historical work of each block for gold and massive sulphides 

(Zn, Pb and Cu). Ni-Cu exploration work and potential, for its strong relation with the ultramafic and mafic sills, 

will be described separately. 



 

FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

Page 30 

(i) Gold and Base metals exploration works on the  Dalquier  Property 

In comparison to the north region of Amos (Amos mine, and further the north) little exploration work has been 

carried out in this area, generally based on the reconnaissance of airborne INPUT anomalies. Hence, after  

brief mapping,  geophysical surveys such as magnetics, VLF and/or Maxmin EM, short diamond drilling (60 m 

to 150 m) was proposed for the recognition of the ground geophysical anomaly, and enables to “explain” the 

different EM conductor.    

A. BLOCK 1 

Block 1, Range 9 Figuery and Landrienne townships, covers the lower part of the Amos Group and locally 

encloses the contact with the Figuery Group (Bolduc Corridor). 

Block 1, Range 10 Figuery cover the ultramafic sill and its hanging wall and footwall. 

In the Landrienne Township part of Block 1 the recognized conductors correspond generally to a pluri-

decimetric to pluri-metric graphitic horizon, generally mineralized in pyrite and/or pyrrhotite (0.5% to 30% 

sulphides, locally massive and/or banded sulphide). This “graphitic” horizon is sometimes described like (or 

associated with?) siltstones, cherty black fine sediments sometimes showing the presence of quartz-

carbonate stringers or hematite stringers (GM21556). A chloritization and sericitization is noted in some 

drillholes, affecting the “graphitic horizon” in its hanging wall and footwall (GM19453). The altered 

(chloritization and epidotization) hanging wall and footwall may contain finely disseminated pyrite.  

The host rock of this graphitic horizon corresponds to mafic basaltic flows, locally pillowed interlayers with 

andesitic or felsic tuffs, locally with dacites or rhyolites and cherts. Fine sediments, essentially siltstones and 

rarely carbonates, have been observed in drillholes. 

Block 1, Figuery Range 10, cover partially the Ultramafic Sill (UMS) of the Amos Group. The volcanics south 

of the main ultramafic intrusion are generally massive, quit highly sheared and contorted (Bolduc Corridor), 

with minor pyrrhotite sulphide mineralization, the disseminations becoming more concentrated toward the 

peridotite-volcanic contact. North of the main intrusive, the volcanic, highly deformed (Corridor Jonpol 

Corridor), are moderately pillowed and altered with pyrite disseminations (GM 12776). 

Nickel-copper exploration works will be described later. 

B. BLOCK 2 

This block lies on a mafic to intermediary volcanic lithological unit (GM43461), corresponding to an andesitic 

and minor basaltic flow, generally pillowed, with some felsic and dacitic volcanicic flows. The mafic and felsic 

flows are generally pillowed, with pyrite in the pillow borders. A crystal tuff unit, with a width of more than 350 

m, occupies the south part of the property. 

In this block, the two known mineralized (1% chalcopyrite and pyrite) quartz veins, located in a crystal tuff unit 

(Lot 38), are oriented N40°E with a width of 50 cm. One of them (east vein) can be followed discontinuously 

for about 70 m (GM 43462). 

Besides these showings, Block 2 is surrounded by interesting showings: 

o NW of Block 2 (Range V, Lots 18-19), presence of  the “Mondor Zone” with 5.1 g/T over 1.8 m, 4.5 

g/T over 1,8 m and 2,2 % Zn. 



 

FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

Page 31 

o NE of Block 2 (Range VI, Lot 52) discovery (Raymor Resources & Co) of mineralization in graphitic 

silicified and sericitized shear zone drillhole: zone with 2.4 g/T on 30 m and 2.9 g/T on 19.8 m. 

 Nickel-Copper and PGE mineralization in the Dalquier Property (b)

Nickel-Copper and PGE concentrations are strongly associated with ultramafic and mafic rocks which are 

stratigraphically located in the lower sequences of the Amos Group. 

In the Dalquier Property, the most important UMS is known in Block 1 Figuery Township, Range 10 and 

Landrienne Township range 9 (Fig.7). This part of the property covers the lower sequences of the Amos 

group which encloses the UMS for about 15 kilometers in an east-west direction. This property block 1 covers 

the principal UMS, in east-west, on about 3 km (Lot 49 to 61 inclusive). Two other smaller UMS are known by 

drillholes, north of the principal, in the Range 10 of Figuery Township (Labbé, 1982). 

Very little exploration (geological mapping, geophysical surveys “magnetics & EM”) has been done over the 

area of the UMS and generally their objectives were essentially to explore for gold, volcanogenic massive 

sulphides or asbestos fiber (the latter as an alteration product of the UMS).  

Drillholes appear to be entirely absent in this part of the Dalquier Property, and the few drillholes which 

crosscut the UMS are localized (Fig.8) west of this block and basically in the east, in Range 10 of Landrienne, 

north of the property (Block 1 Landrienne, Range 9). 

Thus, west of Block 1 of the property (Fig.8), following a geophysical survey (VLF), a DDH has been realized 

to rest the VLF anomaly axis. This drillhole (F1-97-03, GM56441) localized in the lower contact of the UMS 

with the underlying andesite, the presence of mineralization (disseminated or in the matrix of breccias) of 

pyrite and chalcopyrite (2-3% py-cpy) in a narrow highly altered (quartz, carbonates, feldspars and chlorite) 

and sheared felsic tuff horizon. Fine disseminated pyrite (less than 1%) is present locally in the UMS crosscut 

by this drillhole. 

The best values obtained in this drillhole are between 84.1m and 86.0m (1.8 m apparent width) with 330 ppb 

Au, 5.2 ppm Ag and 7240 ppm Cu.  

A second drillhole done in 1998, next to the first described above, recognized the same geology and 

mineralization without any economic values (GM 57204). 

Further  to the east, north of Block 1, Landrienne part (Range 9), four holes were drilled  in 1971 by Wrightbar 

Mines Limited, thus holes WL-1 to WL- 4 which crosscut the  UMS in this sector. They recognise the UMS 

with its different ultramafic lithofacies, different kinds of alteration (carbonation, serpentinization) and 

dissemination of fine sulphides (pyrite, pyrrhotite and chalcopyrite). 
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As an interesting example, we provide the results of one of them (Hole WL-1, GM27436). 
 
Hole WL-1: Location Landrienne Township. Lot 7. Range 10. 

Line 63-W. Station 17450N. 

Claim No. 2. Certificate 312210. 

Description: 0.0 _ 23.0 Casing. 

 23.0-170.0 Massive medium-grained grey to dark 

grey gabbro. 

Scattered in-light colored feldspathic   

stringers. Little chalcopyrite and pyrite  in 

places. 

72.5-76.0 Scattered fine-grained 

chalcopyrite 

 170.0-953.0 Dark grey coarse-grained massive 

peridotite-pyroxenite.Much Magnetite. 

170.0-180.0 Disseminated fine-grained 

chalcopyrite and pyrrhotite and pyrite. 

A few sulphides threads. 

180.0-450.0 Scattered very fine-grained 

sulphides with much magnetite. 

Slightly serpentinized. 

230.0-500.0 Fractured and contains 

numerous dark green serpentinized 

threads. 40
°
-50

°
• No mud. 

Platy sulphides along slip planes in 

places. 

323.0-450.0 Disseminated very fine-

grained sulphides with much magnetite. 

342.0 - " carbonate stringer at 70
°
. Pyrite 

and chalcopyrite.450.0-650.0 

Disseminated very fine-grained 

sulphides  

A little more than previous. 

Much magnetite. 

Setter serpentinization. 

500.0-530.0  highly fractured. 45
0
-60

°
 

530.0-585.0  Moderately fractured. 

45
°
-60

0.
 

with numerous dark green serpentinized 
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threads. No mud. 

585.0-650.0 Scattered chloritic 

serpentinized stringers. 45
°
-65

°
. to1". 

 650.0-935.0 Fair magnetite. 

Magnetite content diminishes slightly. 

Peridotite, massive. 

Disseminated very fine-grained 

sulphides. Scattered dark serpentine 

threads with magnetite. 

736.0-742.0 Scattered low angle 

serpentinized stringers. 

790.0-843.0 Scattered asbestos threads, 

45
°
, and stringers 1/32 to 1/8"1 Cross 

fibers.  

843.0-872.0 Well fractured, 45
°
-60

°
. 

872.0-875.0  Very fine-grained and 

magnetic. 

875.0-893.0 Scattered asbestos threads 

and string-ers, 60
°
-70

°
, 1/32" to 1/8w.  

875.0-953.0 Peridotite contains fair 

magnetite, and is well erpentinized. 

 935.0-953.0 Disseminated fine-grained sulphides. 

A little botter than before. 

 953.0— 976.5 Medium-grained grey massive gabbro. 

974.0-976.5  Very fine-grained. 

 976.5- 988.0 Dark grey rhyolitic tuffs. 

Well mineralized with coarse pyrite 

aggregates and threads. 

Very little pyrrhotite. 

 988.0-1004.0 Light gray coarse-grained acidic flows 

and tuffs. Little fine grained sulphides in 

places. 

  End of hole 

 

81 core sample have been taken from 72.5 feet to 988.0 feet (end of hole) for Ni assays by the Bourlamaque 

assay office  reg’d. The results are summarized in average as follows (GM27436): 

Drillhole WL-1: 

  0.207 % Ni over 70 feet, from 300 to 370 feet 

  0.199 % Ni over 70 feet, from 820 to 890 feet 
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For the three other holes drilled west of the first one (Fig. 8): 

Drillhole LW-2: Drilled furthest to the west, in Lot 2, Range 10 Landrienne Township, shows some important 

lateral variation by the abundance of the gabbro facies and a the presence of basic dykes in UMS. Fine 

mineralisation of pyrite-pyrrhotite and chalcopyrite keep present with a different amount but in general less 

abundant than in holehole LW-1 described above. The length of the hole is 950 feet with the same collar 

angle than hole LW-1, thus 60°, to south. 

31 core samples have been taken from 37.5 feet to 950.0 feet (end of hole) for Ni assays by the Bourlamaque 

assay office reg’d. The results are summarized, in average, as follows (GM27436): 

Averages: 

  0.175 %  Ni over 137.5 feet, from 37.5 to 175.0 feet 

  0.170%  Ni over 85.0 feet, from 865.0 to 950.0 feet 

 

Drill hole LW-3: Drilled east of the hole LW-2, in Lot 3, Range 10 Landrienne Township, with a  60° azimuth at 

collar, has a depth of 502 feet. This drill hole recognized an important volume of peridotite, locally tectonized 

(faults) with abundant sulphides including disseminated pyrite-pyrrhotite and less chalcopyrite. 

The end of the hole at 502 feet is  in peridotite with disseminated sulphides. 

38 core samples were taken from the interval 150 feet to 502.0 feet (end of hole) and assayed for nickel by 

Bourlamaque assay office reg’d. The results has not been summarized. Values of nickel vary from 0.05% Ni 

to, locally  0.24% Ni.  

Drill hole LW-4: Drilled east of holehole LW-3, in Lot 4, Range 10 Landrienne Township,  south azimuth and --

55° dip at collar, has a depth of 550 feet. This drillhole recognized the gabbro lithofacies until 217 feet depth 

until it- penetratedan altered carbonatized talcose peridotite with a fair concentration of magnetite, and a 

coarse grained grey peridotite at 262-501 feet depth, and a  gabbro contact at 501 feet. The end of hole 

stayed in the gabbro lithofacies at 550 feet, with a mafic dyke from 543 to 548 feet depth. Few sulphides have 

been described in this hole and the 28 core samples taken from 220 to 500 feet gave  weak Ni values varying 

from 0.03% Ni to 0.16% Ni.  

East of this zone, close to the property, there are other drillholes (Fig.8) which crosscut the UMS, thus: 

Drillhole LA-66-4 (GM18747), located further to the east, NE of the limit of the entire Block 1 Property, 

crosscut the UMS recognizing the presence of disseminated pyrrhotite and chalcopyrite in the 10 meters of 

the andesitic and rhyolitic footwall with a graphitic narrow horizon with dissemination of pyrite, intercalated in 

this volcanic. 

Drillhole LA-66-1 (GM18048), drilled west of the LA-66-4, crosscut all the UMS without any trace of sulphide. 

Drillhole LA-66-2 (GM18048), drilled further to the east of  LA-66-1, and east the drillhole LA-66-4 

(GM18747) described above, recognize the presence of sulphide dissemination of pyrite, pyrrhotite and 

chalcopyrite in the footwall of the UMF composed of  carbonitized  rhyolite and diorite with disseminations  of 

pyrite and chalcopyrite over several meters, and finished in andesitic lava with minor pyrite disseminations. 

Drillhole LA-66-03 recognizes the presence of sulphide in the bottom of the peridotite moderately magnetic 

with disseminations of pyrite, minor pyrrhotite overlying a highly carbonatized peridotite with disseminations of 
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pyrrhotite and chalcopyrite and also a bronze  stellated mineral forming star like crystals (nickel mineral?), 

followed by a fault zone in peridotite and finally a gabbro at the  end of the hole. 

No nickel or PGE samples analyses have been done, for these drillholes, on these sulphides spatially 

associated to the UMS and its contact with the volcanic. 

Following this brief description of all these occasional short drillholes that crosscut the UMS close to the Block 

1 property (Figuery and Landrienne), we can conclude the following concerning the UMS of southeast Amos: 

 Presence of disseminated sulphides such as pyrite, pyrrhotite and chalcopyrite in some lithofacies of 

this ultramafic sill, 

 Presence of sulphides (disseminations, small massive lenses and stockwork) in the basal contact of 

the UMS, generally tectonized, and  in the host rock (tuff and/or felsic and mafic lava flow) , 

 Presence of alteration such as serpentinization and talc-carbonates spatially associated with 

mineralized zones, 

 Presence of nickel mineralization in non-negligible quantities and grades, locally sub-economic, 

whenever the UMS rock containing visible sulphide mineralization has been analysed for nickel, 

 Existence of a lateral variation considering the abundance and absence of sulphides, 

 Existence of a nickel evolution in the sulphide zones. 

All these data will be discussed later in the chapter interpretation and conclusions. 

5- DEPOSIT TYPE 

Considering the position of the Dalquier Property within the Abitibi Greenstone Belt and the presence of the 

Ultramafic sill, three major kinds of deposits may be found:  

 Orogenic gold quartz-veins 

 Nickel, chromite and PGE deposits 

 
(a) Orogenic Gold Deposits (gold-bearing quartz ± carbonate veins in volcanic rocks and 

plutonic rocks) 

Archean orogenic gold deposits are generally defined as structurally controlled vein or shear margin deposits 

emplaced epigenetically in all lithologies occurring in volcano-plutonic belts of Archean Age (Lamothe et al., 

2006, Groves et al., 1998). These concentrations of gold are the result of relatively homogeneous 

hydrothermal fluid flows of variable origin, including metamorphic devolatilization, felsic plutonism and mantle 

fluids (Lamothe et al., 2006, Hagemann and Cassidy, 2000). 

The Amos region has a high potential for gold. In  Duverny Township, east of Dalquier Township, numerous 

gold showings  have been discovered (Fig.10), such as Duvay (reserves estimated at 40,000 tons at 1.7 g/t 

Au), Fontana (reserves estimated to 968,000 tons  at  5.47 g/t Au) and  Standard Gold (reserves estimated to 

435,453 tons at  6.17 g/t Au).  
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These deposits are all associated with highly carbonatized (ankerite) alteration zones, and are spatially 

associated with the NW-SE shear zones. 

More to the west, in Dalquier Township (Labbé, 1995), two other gold showings are known. The Chib-

Kayrand occurrence is located in Range VI (lots 12 and 13) near the eastern edge of the Trécesson Pluton. A 

selected sample of the main vein of the occurrence (Goldstar vein) gave 88 g/t Au (deposit file 032D/09-22, 

MRNQ). SE in the andesites of the Lake Arthur Formation a sample of a quartz vein in the Mondor Black 

occurrence gave a result of 57g/t Au. These two occurrences are associated with an approximately N130° 

shear-direction. 

The great majority of gold showing and deposits of the Amos region are spatially associated to regional NW-

SE dextral shear zones except the Duvay deposit that seems to expose a particular kinematic (Labbé, 1999). 

(b) Nickel, Copper and PGE deposits 

The magmatic nickel, copper and platinium group deposits are subdivided into two major subgroups, thus the 

“ultramafic-associated nickel, copper” and the “gabbroid-associated nickel, copper, and platinium 

group elements” (O.R. Ekstrand, 1984). 

6- ULTRAMAFIC ASSOCIATED NICKEL COPPER DEPOSITS  

The host rock is subdivided into three major types: 

 Volcanic Peridotite Nickel 

 Intrusive Dunite Nickel 

 Intrusive Ultramafic Nickel-Copper 

The known economic nickel deposit associated with the ultramafic intrusion (Dumont Nickel deposit) relates  

to the Intrusive Ultramafic Ni-Cu category, for which the general geological and metallogenic criteria are as 

follows: 

(a) Geological setting 

Intrusive Ultramafic Nickel-Copper: Proterozoic mafic volcanic belts, Archean greenstone belts. 

(b) Host rocks or mineralized rocks 

Intrusive Ultramafic Nickel-Copper: Ultramafic intrusive lenses, less magnesian than Volcanic Peridotite 

Nickel and Intrusive Dunite Nickel, adjacent metasedimentary and metavolcanic rocks. 

(c) Form of deposits, distribution of ore minerals 

Intrusive Ultramafic Nickel-Copper Ores may comprise either 1) rich segregations at margins (basal contacts 

were interpretable) of ultramafic lenses, as at Agnew, Pipe and Manibridge; or 2) conformable internal zones 

of disseminated sulphides, as at Dumont and Mt. Keith. 

Remobilization of sulphides into veins, breccia matrices, and disseminations in fault zones and wall rocks is 

common. 

(d) Genetic model 
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Partial melting of the mantle is considered to have produced highly magnesian liquid (>20% Mg in Archean 

komatiitic host rock’s subtypes  “Volcanic Peridotite Nickel” and “Intrusive Dunite Nickel”). In the case of 

deposits containing rich basal concentrations of nickel sulphide, the liquid apparently became saturated with 

respect to sulphur prior to, or at an early stage of crystallization. The resulting immiscible nickeliferous 

sulphide droplets became segregated by flow and gravitational settling, and gave rise to rich basal sulphide 

concentrations in the ultramafic flows and sills. In the case of deposits consisting of internal zones of 

disseminated sulphide, sulphur saturation was apparently reached at a later stage of crystallization, probably 

in situ within the ultramafic flows and sills. 

The apparent high degree of mantle melting that gave rise to komatiitic rocks and their nickel ores seems to 

have been most common in Archean times, but also occurred in the Aphebien (Thompson). 

Subtype “Intrusive Ultramafic Nickel-Copper” is presumed to be of similar genesis but involved liquid that 

were less magnesian. 

(e) Application to the Amos Region 

At the scale of the Amos region there is one important known nickel deposit, associated with ultramafic and 

mafic sills in two superposed different lithological formations (Fig.10), thus: 

o The world class Nickel-PGE-Cu deposit “Dumont Nickel Deposit” associated with an ultramafic sill in 

the Amos Group, estimated (All categories reserves, NI 43101 of August16, 2010) at: 1,451,000 (000 

tons) at 0.25% Ni + minor Cu. 

o A small deposit of Nickel-Copper associated with gabbroic sills in the Lac Arthur Formation, thus the 

“Wendell Nickel-Copper deposit” discovered in the mid 1940’s (GM39791; GM14320) estimated to 

contain 65,000 tons at 0.68% Cu and 0.31% Ni. 

The following brief description of the Dumont Ni-PGE-Cu deposit remains the best models to rely on for the 

exploration of Ni-PGE-Cu in the Ultramafic Sill  south east of the town of Amos where  the Dalquier Property 

is located. 

(f) Dumont Nickel Deposit  

Located within the Amos Group , the Dumont Sill (NI 43-101, September 2010) is poorly exposed over a 

strike length of 6.5 km and dips 60° to 70° to the northeast and comprises a lower ultramafic zone which 

averages 450 m in true thickness and an upper mafic zone about 250 m thick. The ultramafic zone is 

subdivided into the lower peridotite, dunite and upper peridotite subzones. The lower and upper peridotite 

subzones are olivine-chromite cumulates with variable amounts of intercumulus clinopyroxene. The dunite 

subzone is an extreme olivine adcumulate containing very small amounts of intercumulus chromite and 

clinopyroxene. Cumulus sulphide occurs in certain parts of the dunite subzone and also locally in the lower 

peridotite.  

The mafic zone comprises three subzones which are, from the base upwards, the clinopyroxenite, the gabbro 

and the quartz gabbro. The clinopyroxenite subzone is an extreme clinopyroxene adcumulate at its base but 

grades into clinopyroxene + plagioclase cumulate rocks in the overlying gabbro subzone. The quartz gabbro 

subzone includes both plagioclase + clinopyroxene cumulates and non-cumulate gabbros that contain modal 

and normative quartz. Olivine and chromite are restricted to the ultramafic zone whereas plagioclase occurs 

only in the mafic zone. 
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The parent magma of the intrusion is inferred to have been a peridotitic komatiite liquid containing about 

27.5% MgO and carrying about 12.5% olivine (93% forsterite) in suspension. The lower peridotite subzone 

represents the accumulation of these phenocrysts and variable proportions of trapped intercumulus liquid. 

The cumulus chromite in the lower peridotite may also have been carried into the magma chamber in 

suspension or may have crystallized during settling of the olivine subzone but do not extend over the entire 

strike length of the sill.  

The ultramafic rocks are pervasively serpentinized and serpentinization is overprinted by talc-carbonate 

alteration in places along the basal contact of the sill. 

The sill was faulted and tilted into a steeply inclined attitude during the Kenoran event but no penetrative 

deformational fabric is evident, and the effects of regional metamorphism are minimal 

Magmatic sulphides are restricted to the lower peridotite and dunite subzones; although in the former they 

represent mainly a post cumulus phase. In the dunite subzone, olivine and sulphide are present in 

approximately their "cotectic" proportions and molten sulphide was apparently a cumulus phase. Three 

olivine-sulphide cumulate layers occur within the dunite subzone but do not extend over the entire strike 

length of the sill. The middle layer has the highest average nickel grade (0.50%) and is the most laterally 

extensive, persisting over a strike of 2,400 m with an average true thickness of 24 m. A higher-grade zone 

within the middle layer averages 0.71% nickel over a strike length of 730 m and has a true thickness of 14 m 

(Duke, 1986). 

A. DUMONT NI-PGE MINERALIZATION: 

Two types of mineralization have been identified historically within the Dumont Sill, the primary large low-

grade to medium-grade disseminated nickel deposit (Duke, 1986), and the contact type nickel-copper-

platinum group elements (PGE) occurrence discovered in 1987 (Oswald, 1987). Drilling by Royal Nickel has 

also identified discontinuous PGE mineralization associated with disseminated sulphide at lithological 

contacts in the layered intrusion and within the dunite. 

A.1. DISSEMINATED NICKEL MINERALIZATION 

Nickel bearing sulphides and a nickel-iron alloy are enriched within three distinct layers of the dunite subzone, 

the upper layer, the middle layer, and the lower layer, and are broadly disseminated throughout the dunite 

and lower peridotite subzones. In thinner parts of the dunite subzone, fewer than three enriched layers may 

be present. Nickel mineralization continues at lower grades between the enriched layers. 

A.1.1. NICKEL MINERALOGY 

Disseminated nickel mineralization is characterized by disseminated blebs of pentlandite ((Ni,Fe)9S8), 

heazlewoodite (Ni3S2), and the ferro-nickel alloy, awaruite (Ni2.5Fe), occurring in various proportions 

throughout the sill. Millerite (NiS) is also present in lesser amounts near host rock contact zones. 

A.2. CONTACT-TYPE NICKEL-COPPER-PGE MINERALIZATION 

Contact-type Nickel-Copper-PGE mineralization is confirmed by drilling (Lewis and San Martin, NI 43-101, 

August, 2010). Drilling by Royal Nickel has confirmed the occurrence and grade of the historically identified 

mineralization at the basal contact at the eastern end of the Dumont sill. Drill hole 08-RN-71 intersected 0.8 m 
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of semi-massive pyrrhotite grading 0.99% nickel, 0.19% copper, 0.3 g/t platinum, 1.0 g/t palladium and 0.07 

g/t gold at the contact between the Dumont intrusive and volcanic footwall. This contact-related mineralization 

appears to be restricted in extent. 

Royal Nickel has drilled several holes through the footwall of the Dumont intrusion, to test weak, vertical-axis 

Time Domain Electromagnetic (VTEM) anomalies. The holes intersected barren pyrrhotite-pyrite 

mineralization in the footwall volcanics in proximity to the contact and no nickel-bearing sulphides were found. 

A.3. OTHER TYPES OF PGE MINERALIZATION 

Royal Nickel's drilling has further delineated three anomalous PGE horizons other than the basal contact type 

described above. In 2008, a PGE horizon associated with the pyroxenite layer, overlying the upper peridotite, 

was identified. This zone varies in thickness from 1.5 to 22.0 m with grades ranging from 0.01 to 0.16% 

nickel, 0.08 to 0.39 g/t platinum, and 0.04 to 0.34 g/t palladium. The second PGE horizon, which lies under 

the main sulphide body, was previously identified during research on the historical drilling (Brügmann, 1990). 

This zone ranges from 0.4 to 34.5 m thick with grades ranging from 0.18 to 1.37% nickel, 0.01 to 0.76 g/t 

platinum, and 0.01 to 0.14 g/t palladium. The remaining PGE horizon was discovered by Royal Nickel in 2008 

and is located approximately 100 m below the lowest sulphide body near the dunite contact with the lower 

peridotite. This horizon is ranges from 1.0 to 139.5 m thick with grades ranging from 0.09 to 0.49% nickel, 

0.003 to 0.84 g/t platinum, and 0.03 to 1.86 g/t palladium. These horizons are generally observed to be 

continuous along strike and dip where drilling is present.  

7- EXPLORATION 

No exploration work has been carried out on the property by the current mineral lic 

8- DRILLING 

No exploration or definition drilling has been carried out on the property by the current mineral license owners 

9- SAMPLE  PREPARATION, ANALYSES AND SECURITY 

No sampling has been carried out on the property by the license owner. 

10- DATA VERIFICATION 

The author, M. Ali Ben Ayad, PhD., verify the available data such as the past statutory works and the mining 

titles status. 

11- MINERAL PROCESSING AND METALLURGICAL TESTING 

The Dalquier Property is an early stage property; thus no gold processing or metallurgical test work was done. 

12- MINERAL RESSOURCES ESTIMATE 

The Dalquier Property is an early stage property; thus no Mineral resource estimate was done. 

13- MINERAL RESERVE ESTIMATES 
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The property is not an advanced stage exploration property, there is no mineral resource defined. 

14- MINING METHODS 

N/A 

15- RECOVERY METHOD 

N/A 

16- PROJECT INFRASTRUCTURE 

N/A 

17- MARKETS STUDIES AND CONTRATCTS 

N/A 

18- ENVIRONMENTAL STUDIES, PERMITTING AND SOCIAL OR COMMUNITY IMPACT 

N/A 

19- CAPITAL AND OPERATING COAST 

N/A 

20- ECONOMIC ANALYSIS 

N/A  

21- ADJACENT PROPERTIES 

Block 1 of the Dalquier Property, which constitute more than 90% of the area of the Property, lies over an 

Ultramafic Sill in the lower part of the Amos Group  (Fig.10) which is the host, in another equivalent Ultramafic 

Sill, of the world class Dumont Nickel-Cu and PGE deposit. 

Numerous gold and base metals occurrences (Figure 9 & Table 2), including a number of good exploration 

prospects and deposits with known reserves, are spatially associated with the Lac Arthur group and its 

intrusive, ( Block 2).  
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22- OTHER RELEVANT DATA AND INFORMATION 

There is no additional public information other than what has been used to write this report. 

23- INTERPRETATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS 

As part of the creation of this Technical Report for the Dalquier Property, the resume and analysis of all the 

exploration work realized on this property allows to highlight the interesting potential of the different blocks 

constituting the property for Gold (Au), base metals (Zn, Ag, Cu), and particularly for Ni-Cu & PGE. 

(a) Base metals potential: 

This concern Block 1 located over rocks of the Figuery Group, in the north flank of the “Rivière Chevalier” 

anticline (Amos anticline according to Webber & al). A base metals showing (Zn, Ag & Cu) recognized by a 

drillhole which gave interesting values (4.3% Zn and anomalous Ag-Cu) in a sequence of felsic tuffs and 

lapilli-tuffs overlying an intermediate to mafic volcanic sequence (dacite, andesite). This repetitive sequence 

characterizes all the Figuery group and is known (Labbé, 1999) for its good potential for base metals as is 

attested by the historical Abcourt mine ( 5 M tons at 3% Zn and 18,4 g/T Ag) located  to the east. Localized in 

the same stratigraphic horizon, thus upper Figuery Group, the Abcourt Mine shows a very close 

mineralization paragenesis. 

Another felsic to intermediate tuff horizon, in the property (Block I, Figuery Range 10), locally about 20 m in 

width, accompanied by a metric chert layer,  highlights the basal contact of the UMS regionally, over more 

than 15 km, and corresponds to a volcanic hiatus in the andesitic Amos Group volcanics. This tuff horizon 

could be potential for base metals if we consider that the recognized sulphides are independent of an 

eventual ultramafic sill mineralization in which case will also have potential for other elements such as nickel 

and PGE. 

Considering the extensive exploration work carried out over the area of  the property in the goal of VMS 

discoveries using the geophysical surveys anomalies, aerial surveys (INPUT EM anomalies) or on ground 

(VLF, MaxMin EM), accompanied by geological mapping and finally drillholes, we suggest first a compilation 

of all these data with a field control for the different maps. Depending of the results of this compilation, further 

exploration work can be proposed if necessary. 

(b) Gold potential of the Property: 

This concerns the Block 2 located in the Lac Arthur Formation.  

Regionally, gold showings and/or deposits seems to be (Labbé, 1999)  spatially associated with  the intrusive, 

thus the Amos-Trécesson, and Duverny intrusives (Figure 9 & table 2) locally  in tension quartz-veins and 

generally associated to NW-SE shear zones in contact with these intrusives, in the surrounding mafic 

intrusives (gabbro) or in the volcanics. Alteration correspond generally to a silicification-carbonation and/or 

épidotitization. The paragenesis of the mineralization corresponds to the common association “pyrite-

chalcopyrite-sphalerite” and gold can be associated to pyrite and/or native gold. 

According to Labbé (1999), the first major control seems to be the NW-SE linear structures, corresponding to 

the dextral shear zones host of the majority of the gold deposits of the Amos region. A spatial and probably 

genetic relation with the intrusive is also confirmed by the presence of sheelite in some gold deposits of the 

area (eg., Chib Kayrand deposit). 
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All the deposits discovered since the beginning of the 20
th
 century, in spite of their respectable grades, have  

limited volumes, discouraging any mining  of these structures. Nevertheless, considering the multitude of 

showings and small deposits in the area, the presence of “ante-tectonic” and “syn-tectonic” intrusives in a 

relative high degree of deformation environment of the rocks (eg., isoclinal folding, ductile-brittle shearing and 

faulting), new traps able to accumulate  economic gold concentrations have to be found in this promising 

region. For this, one must  keep exploring a relative important volume which supposes a good number of 

claims.  

Blocks 2, despite its strategic position in the region, needs a better geological compilation enclosing all the 

area with adjacent properties.  

(c) Ni-Cu & PGE potential of the Property: 

Following The description of the Dumont Ni-Cu & PGE deposit, nickel and copper mineralization is strongly 

associated to sulphides, and two types of  Ni-Cu (PGE) mineralization have been identified historically within 

the Dumont sill: 

- The primary large low-grade to medium-grade disseminated nickel deposit, enriched within three 

distinct layers of the dunite subzone, the upper layer, the middle layer, and the lower layer, and are 

broadly disseminated throughout the dunite and lower peridotite subzones. 

The contact type nickel-copper-platinum group elements (PGE), corresponding generally to massive to semi-

massive sulphides (pyrrhotite) mineralization which appears to be restricted in extent. 

- PGE mineralization, beside its association with the Ni-Cu contact type, has also been identified as 

associated with disseminated sulphides at lithological contacts in the layered intrusion (PGE horizon 

associated with the pyroxenite layer, overlying the upper peridotite; PGE horizon, which lies under the 

main sulphide body near the dunite contact with the lower peridotite) and within the dunite. 

Finally, it is also known, for this type of mineralization, that remobilization of sulphides into veins, breccia 

matrix, and disseminations in fault zones and wall rocks is common. 

The southeast Amos Ultramafic Sill (UMS of the property) has strong similarities with the Dumont Sill 

concerning its litho-stratigraphic position and its magmatic differentiation (fractional crystallization allowing the 

different lithofacies characterizing these Ultramafic sills).  

Nevertheless, the Dumont Sill appears to correspond first to one cycle of crystallization which allowed the 

concentric organization “Lower peridotite – Dunite - Upper Peridotite” in a vertical section, underlying a 

gabbro facies. Does this geometry suggest the gabbro as a second cycle? In every instance, in the SE Amos 

Sill, 5 cycles have been defined (Hébert, 1982) and it’s will be interesting to compare this west part of the sill 

with the rest, at least 13 km more to the east. (Fig 11) 

An eventual lateral evolution of the cycles or any internal organization of the SE Amos UMS could help to 

predict the vertical evolution of this sill who extends laterally about 15 km. 

Considering: 

 The high geological similarities, mentioned above, of the SE Amos UMS with the Dumont Sill,  

 The presence of sulphides in the shallow drillholes which crosscut the sill in the west and east limits 

of the property, 



 

FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

Page 46 

 The presence of nickel mineralization in the sulphide zones with interesting values, 

We have all the reasons to suppose a high potential of the Amos SE Sill for Ni-Cu & PGE mineralization, for 

the contact mineralization type and for a disseminated mineralization type, at least in one of the 5 cycles 

defined in this voluminous sill. 

It is important to notice that a computer geological compilation (GM 63895) to highlight Ni project deposits 

realized by DIAGNOS (WWW.diagnos.ca) who develop CARD (Computer Aided resources Detection 

System), compilation software, applying the known signatures of nickel deposits in NTS regions 32C and 

32D, identified the Amos Nickel Project. CARDS highlighted a significant zone of 90% probability of fostering 

the discovery of Nickel mineralization. Their targets lie along an approximately 20 km long, east-west trending 

peridotite and gabbro layered sill, corresponding to the south east Amos sill. 

24- RECOMMENDATIONS 

(a) Recommendations for NI-Cu & PGE   mineralization: 

In the objective to concretize the high potential for Ni-Cu & PGE mineralization of the southeast Amos Sill, 

which can be considered to be “virgin” ground in terms of exploration, we propose the following: 

 Realization of a compilation of all the existent data, including geophysics (EM and 

magnetics), aerial and ground surveys realized by different companies in this sector, 

 Re-interpretation, in the objective of the creation of geological sections, of all the drillholes 

mentioned above which crosscut the UMS in the area of the property and even elsewhere 

along the regional 15 km of extent of the UMS, 

 Geo-structural mapping of the Block I, Figuery part (Range 10, lots 41 to 61 inclusive) at the 

scale of 1:5 000 for a lithofacies mapping of the principal ultramafic sill, based on a tight grid 

(100 m spacing of the lines with stations at  25 meters, for example). 

 At the same time than mapping, a prospecting program should be performed including 

trenching when necessary. 

 

 Depending on the geophysics compilation results, realization of a magnetometer ground 

survey to help to delimit the UMS, particularly in the west on the Figuery Block 1 (lack of 

outcrops),  

 Geophysical ground survey test on a known “disseminated mineralization” zone and “contact 

mineralization” zone (LW-1 drillhole zone for example), using different geophysical methods 

of high resolution. This test has to be conducted by a qualified and experienced geophysist. 

The VTEM (Vertical axis Time Domain Electromagnetic), used by Dumont exploration staff, 

seems to be very effective to localize the contact mineralization in such geological 

environment. A collaboration with the exploration department of the Dumont Mine (future) 

could be very useful considering their exploration experience with the same type of 

mineralization in the same geological environment 

http://www.diagnos.ca/
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 Realization of a first phase exploration drillholes on the basis of the geological compilation of 

existing data and geophysics results. 

 Depending of the result of these first phase of drilling, elaboration of a second phase of 

drilling more consistent. 

(b) Recommendations for base metals and gold mineralization: 

Considering the numerous small exploration programs realized on the property in the goal of VMS and/or gold 

discoveries using the geophysical surveys anomalies, aerials surveys (Input EM anomalies) or on ground 

(VLF, maxMin), accompanied by geological mapping and finally drillholes, we suggest first a compilation of all 

these data with a field control for the different maps. Depending of the result of this compilation, 

complementary exploration works can be proposed if necessary. 

The table below gives an estimate for this compilation work and particularly the exploration work to do for Ni-

Cu & PGE mineralization concerning Block 1 on Figuery Range 10.  
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Table 3: Exploration budget proposed. 

 
Work 

Phase
s 

 
DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED 
WORK 

UNIT 

QUANTITY 

(Km, meters 

or 

 
UNIT COST 
($) 

 
ROW COST 
($) 

PHASE 
1 

 
 
 
 
Compilation and re-interpretation of all existing geological and geophysical data 
concerning the property (Block 1 for NI-Cu-PGE and Blocks 2  for  gold) 
 

(Data Mag-VLF & EM) data processing + Inter  50  100  $5,000.00 

Purchase of digital files from the MRNFQ  $1,000.00 

 

Prospecting and geological mapping 

Line cutting  40  550  $22,000.00 

2 geologists  25  450  $22,500.00 

Manual and mechanical stripping  $  5,000.00 

Channel sampling & laboratory assays  50  50               $  2,500.00 
 
 
Geophysical surveys 

Combined ground magnetic/VLF survey  50  260  $13,000.00 

Ground geophysical survey (VTEM ?)  40  800  $32,000.00 
Compilation of new and historical data/targeting          10                        1000                
$10,000.00 

 

                                                                                                             Total            $113,500.00 

 

              Contingencies 15%          
$17,500.00  
 
TOT. PHASE 1 $ 130,500.00 

 
PHASE 
2 

 

Exploration drilling  1500  150 $225 000.00 

Data interpretation by a senior geologist  5  800 $4 000.00 
 

Contingencies 15%   $34 350.00 

TOT. PHASE 2 $ 263,350.00 

 GRAND TOTAL  $393,850.00 

 
     Geophysics including Mob-Demobilization       
     Drilling including cost of geologist, technicien & assays 
     Blocks 2 is concerned only by a compilation at this stage. 
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5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information 

5.1 Annual Information  

The following tables contain selected financial information for the Company for the year ended December 31, 

2012 and selected comparative financial information as at December 31, 2011.  This information has been 

prepared by management of the Company, in accordance with IFRS. 

 
 

 
 

5.2 Quarterly Information 

The following table sets forth unaudited quarterly information for each of the four quarters ended March 31, 

2011 through December 31, 2012. This information has been derived from unaudited interim financial 

As @

Dec. 31 Dec. 31

2012 2011

audited audited

Current assets $27,878 $8,053

TOTAL ASSETS $27,878 $8,053

Current liabilities $28,766 $69,008

TOTAL LIABILITIES 28,766           69,008          

SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIENCY (888)              (60,955)         

SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIENCY 

& LIABILITIES $27,878 $8,053

For the 12 months ended

Dec. 31, Dec. 31,

2012 2011

audited audited

EXPENSES

Administrative & general $37,656 $45,936

Loss before income tax 37,656           45,936          

Income tax -                -               

NET LOSS $37,656 $45,936

NET LOSS PER WEIGHTED 

AVERAGE COMMON SHARE $0.01 $0.00
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statements that, in the opinion of the Company’s management, have been prepared on a basis consistent 

with the audited annual financial statements.   

 
 

5.3 Dividends: 

They are no restrictions on the Company’s ability to pay dividends. The Company has not paid dividends in 

the past and has no present intention of paying dividends in the future. 

5.4 Foreign GAAP 

The Company’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

 

6. Annual MD&A 

The following Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of financial condition and results of operations 
of Synergy Acquisition Corp. (the “Company” or “Company”) should be read in conjunction with the 
Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012. The Company’s financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and are 
presented in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. This MD&A is dated April 29, 2013. 

Additional information relating to the Company is available on the System for Electronic Document Analysis 

and Retrieval (“SEDAR”) at www.sedar.com. 

 

OVERVIEW OF BUSINESS 

 

The Company was incorporated under the Business Companys Act (Alberta) on December 24, 2003.  It is a 

public company listed on the NEX board of the TSX Venture Exchange Inc., trading under the symbol SAQ.H. 

On December 16, 2010, the Company changed its name to “Synergy Acquisition Corp.” to better reflect the 

nature of its business going forward.   

The proposed business activity for Synergy Acquisition Corp. will be to effect a merger, asset acquisition, 

share purchase, reorganization or other similar business combination with one or more synergistic operating 

businesses. The Company will focus on an acquisition or acquisitions in the industrial energy sector, but it 

may complete its initial business combination with a company outside that industry if an alternative acquisition 

opportunity presents itself.  

During the fiscal year ended 2012, the Company has been seeking out acquisition opportunities and will 

continue to review potential transactions as they present themselves. 

 

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Statement of

Operations

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Expenses $4,973 $20,583 $8,946 $5,680 $14,356 $8,518 $9,381 $11,155

Loss for the period (4,973)   (20,583)       (8,946)       (5,680)    (14,356)   (8,518)      (9,381)    (11,155)     

Basic loss per share $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Second Quarter 

ended June 30

First Quarter ended 

March 31

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Fourth Quarter 

ended December 31

Third Quarter ended 

September 30
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The following tables contain selected financial information for the Company for the year ended December 31, 

2012 and selected comparative financial information as at December 31, 2011.  This information has been 

prepared by management of the Company, in accordance with IFRS. 

 

 
 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 

The general and administrative expenses incurred in the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 were 

professional and regulatory fees associated to maintaining the Company’s continuous disclosure obligations.  

Selected Quarterly Financial Information 

 

As @

Dec. 31 Dec. 31

2012 2011

audited audited

Current assets $27,878 $8,053

TOTAL ASSETS $27,878 $8,053

Current liabilities $28,766 $69,008

TOTAL LIABILITIES 28,766           69,008          

SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIENCY (888)              (60,955)         

SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIENCY 

& LIABILITIES $27,878 $8,053

For the 12 months ended

Dec. 31, Dec. 31,

2012 2011

audited audited

EXPENSES

Administrative & general $37,656 $45,936

Loss before income tax 37,656           45,936          

Income tax -                -               

NET LOSS $37,656 $45,936

NET LOSS PER WEIGHTED 

AVERAGE COMMON SHARE $0.01 $0.00
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The following table sets forth unaudited quarterly information for each of the four quarters ended March 31, 

2011 through December 31, 2012. This information has been derived from unaudited interim financial 

statements that, in the opinion of the Company’s management, have been prepared on a basis consistent 

with the audited annual financial statements.   

 
 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

 

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes the Company will continue 

in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the 

normal course of business. As at December 31, 2012 the Company has negative working capital of $888 and 

an accumulated deficit of $5,494,656. The capital resources of the Company are primarily its current assets 

which are cash and GST receivable. The Company does not currently have any contractual obligations for the 

use of cash and it has no capital commitments. The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is 

dependent on the ability of the Company to raise additional funds or successfully complete an acquisition of 

an operating business.  

On March 15, 2012, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement of 666,667 common shares of 

the Company at the price of $0.15 per common share to Don Caron, the Chairman and a director of the 

Company, David Tam, a director of the Company and Eric Sauze, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary of the 

Company. Gross proceeds were $100,000 less issuance costs of $2,276.  The shares were subject to a TSX 

Venture Exchange hold period expiring on July 6, 2012.  The Company intends to use the proceeds from the 

sale of the common shares for general working capital. 

There can be no assurance the Company will be able to continue raising additional financing in the future or 

the terms of such financing will be favourable. The Company may seek such additional financing through debt 

or equity offerings, but there can be no assurance that such financing will be available on terms acceptable to 

the Company or at all. Any equity offering will result in dilution to the ownership interests of the Company’s 

shareholders and may result in dilution to the value of such interests.  

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company repaid the $40,500 related party loan outstanding 

($40,500 as at December 31, 2011) from a company over which a director has significant influence. The 

transaction is measured at the exchange amount which is the amount to which the parties have agreed. 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

 

The Company has not entered into any off balance sheet arrangements other than those already described, if 

any, in this MD&A. 

  

Statement of

Operations

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Expenses $4,973 $20,583 $8,946 $5,680 $14,356 $8,518 $9,381 $11,155

Loss for the period (4,973)   (20,583)       (8,946)       (5,680)    (14,356)   (8,518)      (9,381)    (11,155)     

Basic loss per share $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Second Quarter 

ended June 30

First Quarter ended 

March 31

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Fourth Quarter 

ended December 31

Third Quarter ended 

September 30
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RISK FACTORS 

 

The Company plans to seek, identify, evaluate and complete an operating business acquisition. However, 

there are still a number of contingent business risks, some of which are beyond the Company's control which 

are categorized as follows: 

Conflicts and Efforts of Insiders 

 

The directors and officers of the Company will only devote a portion of their time to the business and affairs of 

the Company and some of them are or will be engaged in other projects or businesses such that conflicts of 

interest may arise from time to time. 

Market 

 

There can be no assurance an active and liquid market for the Company’s common shares will develop and 

shareholders may find it difficult to resell their common shares. 

Limited Funds and Completion of an Operating Business Acquisition 

 

The Company has limited funds with which to identify and evaluate potential operating business acquisitions 

and there can be no assurance the Company will be able to identify and consummate a suitable transaction. 

Dilution 

 

The closing of any proposed business acquisition will likely involve the issuance of a significant number of 

additional securities by the Company and this will result in further dilution to shareholders, which may also 

result in a change of control of the Company. 

Management 

 

The Company is relying solely on the past business success of its directors and officers to identify a business 

of merit. The success of the Company is dependent upon the efforts and abilities of its management team. 

The loss of any member of the management team could have a material adverse effect upon the business 

and prospects of the Company. In such event, the Company will seek satisfactory replacements but there can 

be no guarantee that appropriate personnel may be found. 

OUTLOOK 

 

The Company's primary focus for the foreseeable future will be to identify, evaluate and complete an 

operating business acquisition. Management will consider growth opportunities in a number of industries and 

geographic locations. 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

In preparing the financial statements, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), 

management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 

liabilities, and the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 

the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Principal areas where uncertainty is inherent 

include the valuation of deferred tax assets and valuations of accrued liabilities. 
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Management feels actual results will not be materially different from these estimates. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

There were no new accounting policies adopted in the period. 

FUTURE ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

 

The Company has reviewed new and revised accounting pronouncements that have been issued but are not 

yet effective and determined that the following may have an impact on the Company: 

The Company will be required to adopt the first phase of IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments as of January 1, 

2015. The new standard was issued as part of the IASB plan to replace IAS 39 – Financial Instruments with a 

more robust set of standards for the reporting of financial instruments used by the Company. The first phase 

addresses the accounting for financial assets and financial liabilities.  The second phase will address the 

impairment of financial instruments, and the third phase will address hedge accounting. The adoption of this 

standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.  

The Company will be required to adopt IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements which supersedes IAS 

27 – Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and SIC 12 – Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities 

as of January 1, 2013. The standard revises the definition of control together with accompanying guidance to 

identify an interest in a subsidiary. The basic requirements and mechanics of consolidation and accounting for 

non-controlling interests and change in control remain the same. The adoption of this standard is not 

expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

The Company will be required to adopt IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement as of January 1, 2013. The new 

standard does not affect which items are required to be fair-valued, but clarifies the definition of fair value and 

provides related guidance and enhanced disclosures about fair value measurements. The adoption of this 

standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.   

The Company will be required to adopt the Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements as 

of January 1, 2013. The Amendments require the Company to group items presented in other comprehensive 

income into those that, in accordance with other IFRSs, will not be reclassified subsequently into profit or loss, 

and those that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met. The 

Company expects that this will change the presentation of items in other comprehensive income, but the 

adoption of this standard amendment will not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.  

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

The Company classifies all financial assets as held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, held-for-trading or 

available-for-sale and all financial liabilities as held-for-trading and other. Financial instruments classified as 

held-for-trading are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income. Financial 

assets classified as held-to-maturity or as loans and receivables and financial liabilities not classified as held-

for-trading are measured at amortized cost. Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value with 

changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income (“OCI”).  All derivative financial instruments 

are reported on the balance sheet at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income unless the 

derivative is part of a hedging relationship that qualifies as a fair value hedge, cash flow hedge or hedge of a 

net investment in a self-sustaining foreign operation. 
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Financial assets available for sale, assets and liabilities held for trading and derivative financial instruments, 

part of hedging relationship or not, are measured at fair value. Held-to-maturity investments, loans and 

receivables, and other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at 

amortized cost.    

The Company has made the following classifications: 

Accounts payable and other liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities and are initially measured at 

fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Cash is classified as held-for-trading. 

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT 

 

Except for statements of historical fact, certain information contained herein constitutes forward-looking 

statements. Forward looking statements are usually identified by the use of certain terminology, including 

“will”, “believes”, “may”, “expects”, “should”, “seeks”, “anticipates” or “intends” or by discussions of strategy or 

intentions. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors 

which may cause our actual results or achievements to be materially different from any future results or 

achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are 

statements that are not historical facts, and include but are not limited to, estimates and their underlying 

assumptions; statements regarding plans, objectives and expectations with respect to the effectiveness of the 

Company’s business model; future operations, products and services; the impact of regulatory initiatives on 

the Company’s operations; the size of and opportunities related to the markets for the Company’s products; 

general industry and macroeconomic growth rates; expectations related to possible joint and/or strategic 

ventures and statements regarding future performance.  

Forward-looking statements used in this discussion are subject to various risks and uncertainties, most of 

which are difficult to predict and generally beyond the control of the Company. If risks or uncertainties 

materialize, or if underlying assumptions prove incorrect, our actual results may vary materially from those 

expected, estimated or projected. Forward looking statements in this document are not a prediction of future 

events or circumstances, and those future events or circumstances may not occur. Given these uncertainties, 

users of the information included herein, including investors and prospective investors are cautioned not to 

place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.  

Forward-looking statements included or incorporated by reference in this document include statements with 

respect to the Company’s ability to restrict its corporate expenditures to costs of raising equity financing, 

administrative cost to maintain the Company in good standing and costs to identify and evaluate potential 

business opportunities and the Company’s future adoption of IFRS.  

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE FOR VENTURE ISSUERS WITHOUT SIGNIFICANT REVENUE 

 

Additional disclosure concerning the Company’s general and administrative expenses is provided in the 

Company’s Statement of Loss that is contained in its financial statements for December 31, 2012 and is 

available on SEDAR which can be accessed through www.sedar.com. 

 

 

 

 

http://www.sedar.com/
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Additional Disclosure of Outstanding Share Data 

 

Common Shares 

 

As at December 31, 2012, the Company had 3,256,834 common shares issued and outstanding. 

Stock Options 

 

As of December 31, 2012, there are no stock options outstanding.  

Warrants  

 

As of December 31, 2012, there are no warrants outstanding.  

Interim MD&A 

SYNERGY ACQUISITION CORP.  MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS – June 30, 2013 

The following Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of financial condition and results of operations 
of Synergy Acquisition Corp. (the “Company” or “Company”) should be read in conjunction with the 
Company’s unaudited financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2013. The Company’s financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and are 
presented in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. This MD&A is dated August 14, 2013. 

Additional information relating to the Company is available on the System for Electronic Document Analysis 

and Retrieval (“SEDAR”) at www.sedar.com. 

 

 

 

The Company was incorporated under the Business Companys Act (Alberta) on December 24, 2003.  It is a 

public company listed on the NEX board of the TSX Venture Exchange Inc., trading under the symbol SAQ.H. 

On December 16, 2010, the Company changed its name to “Synergy Acquisition Corp.” to better reflect the 

nature of its business going forward.   

 

The Company entered into an agreement in principle (the "Term Sheet") dated July 15, 2013 for the arm's 

length acquisition (the “Transactions ”) of all the rights and interest in approximately 3,200 mining claims 

located in the Province of Quebec (the “Claims”) from 9248-7792 Quebec Inc. (“9248”) and 9257-1256 

Quebec Inc. (“9257”) (“9248” and “9257” hereinafter collectively, “Quebec Co.”). 

 

Pursuant to the Term Sheet, the Company will purchase the Claims from Quebec Co. for an aggregate 

consideration of 10,000,000 common shares of the Company to be issued at a deemed price of $0.06 per 

share in accordance with a definitive asset purchase agreement to be entered into between the parties. 

Following completion of the Transactions , Quebec Co. will own approximately 75.43% of the issued and 

outstanding common shares of the Company (the “Synergy Shares”) and current shareholders of the 

Company will hold approximately 24.57% of the Synergy Shares (prior to the completion of the concurrent 

private placement described below). Accordingly, the Transactions  will constitute a reverse take-over of the 

Company. 

 

If a special shareholders’ meeting is expressly required by the exchanges or regulatory authorities, a notice of 

special shareholders’ meeting and management proxy solicitation information circular (the “Circular”) will be 

OVERVIEW OF BUSINESS 
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mailed to the Company’s shareholders. The purpose of the meeting will be to approve the Transactions , the 

delisting of the Company from the TSX-V, the election of a new board of directors (as designated by Quebec 

Co. at its discretion) and the listing of the Company on the Canadian National Stock Exchange (“CNSX”). In 

the event that a special shareholders’ meeting is not required, the Company expects to obtain the written 

consent of the holders of a majority of voting shares of the Company in lieu of a meeting. 

 

Concurrent with the closing of the Transactions , the Company expects to complete a non-brokered private 

placement (the “Offering”) to raise gross proceeds of a minimum of $75,000 and a maximum of $150,000 

through the issuance of common shares at the discounted market price, in accordance with stock exchange 

policies. It is anticipated that the subscribers to the Offering will be arms-length accredited investors. 

 

Also concurrent with the closing of the Transactions, the current directors and officers of the Company will 

resign and new directors and officers will be nominated by Quebec Co. After giving effect to the Transactions, 

it is expected that the Company will carry on business under a different name (acceptable to the applicable 

authorities) and the Synergy Shares are expected to be listed on the CNSX under a new trading symbol. 

 

Quebec Co will retain a 1% net smelter royalty ("NSR") on each Claim with the Company having the right to 

purchase one-half (0.5%) of the NSR at any time by paying $500,000 to Quebec Co. Concurrent with the 

closing of the Transactions , the Company and 9248-7792 Quebec Inc. will enter into an exclusive exploration 

work management agreement. 

 

The Company is entitled to a break-up fee equal to the sum of $15,000, less any amount already paid by 
Quebec Co. for the Company’s expenses, if the closing of the Transactions does not occur due to Quebec Co’s 
unilateral decision not to pursue the Transactions, other than by reason of Quebec Co.’s reasonable 
dissatisfaction with the results of its legal (but not business or financial) due diligence. The Transactions is an 
arm's length transaction and therefore is not a related party transaction.   
 

On July 15, 2013 the Company voluntarily requested to halt the trading of its shares on the NEX board of the 

TSX Venture Exchange Inc. pending the completion of the Transactions. 
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The following tables contain selected financial information for the Company for the six months ended June 30, 

2013 and selected comparative financial information as at December 31, 2012.  This information has been 

prepared by management of the Company, in accordance with IFRS. 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

As @

June 30 December 31

2013 2012

unaudited audited

Current assets $5,043 $27,878

TOTAL ASSETS $5,043 $27,878

Current liabilities $17,428 $28,766

TOTAL LIABILITIES 17,428           28,766          

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

(DEFICIENCY ) (12,385)          (888)              

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

(DEFICIENCY) & LIABILITIES $5,043 $27,878

For the 3 months ended For the 6 months ended

June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30,

2013 2012 2013 2012

unaudited unaudited unaudited unaudited

EXPENSES

Administrative & general $8,144 $14,356 $11,497 $23,737

Loss before income tax 8,144           14,356    11,497           23,737          

Income tax -               -          -                -               

NET LOSS $8,144 $14,356 $11,497 $23,737

NET LOSS PER WEIGHTED 

AVERAGE COMMON SHARE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
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The general and administrative expenses incurred in the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 

were professional and regulatory fees associated to maintaining the Company’s continuous disclosure 

obligations.  

 

Selected Quarterly Financial Information 

 

The following table sets forth unaudited quarterly information for each of the four quarters ended September 

30, 2011 through June 30, 2013. This information has been derived from unaudited interim financial 

statements that, in the opinion of the Company’s management, have been prepared on a basis consistent with 

the audited annual financial statements.   

 

 
 

 

 

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes the Company will continue 

in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the 

normal course of business. As at June 30, 2013 the Company has negative working capital of $12,384 and an 

accumulated deficit of $5,506,153. The capital resources of the Company are primarily its current assets 

which are cash and GST receivable. The Company does not currently have any contractual obligations for the 

use of cash and it has no capital commitments. The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is 

dependent on the ability of the Company to raise additional funds or successfully complete an acquisition of 

an operating business.  

 

On March 15, 2012, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement of 666,667 common shares of 

the Company at the price of $0.15 per common share to Don Caron, the Chairman and a director of the 

Company, David Tam, a director of the Company and Eric Sauze, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary of the 

Company. Gross proceeds were $100,000 less issuance costs of $2,276.  The shares were subject to a TSX 

Venture Exchange hold period expiring on July 6, 2012.  The Company intends to use the proceeds from the 

sale of the common shares for general working capital. 

 

There can be no assurance the Company will be able to continue raising additional financing in the future or 

the terms of such financing will be favourable. The Company may seek such additional financing through debt 

or equity offerings, but there can be no assurance that such financing will be available on terms acceptable to 

the Company or at all. Any equity offering will result in dilution to the ownership interests of the Company’s 

shareholders and may result in dilution to the value of such interests.  

 

 

 

 

Statement of

Operations

2013 2012 2013 2012 2012 2011 2012 2011

Expenses $8,144 $14,356 $3,353 $9,381 $4,973 $20,583 $8,946 $5,680

Loss for the period (8,144)   (14,356)         (3,353)   (9,381)         (4,973)    (20,583)         (8,946)       (5,680)    

Basic loss per share $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Second Quarter 

ended June 30th

First Quarter ended 

March 31st

Fourth Quarter ended 

December 31

Third Quarter ended 

September 30

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
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Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $3,781 payable to a company over which a director has 

significant influence.  The transactions are measured at the exchange amount which is the amount to which 

the parties have agreed. 

 

 

 

 

The Company has not entered into any off balance sheet arrangements other than those already described, if 

any, in this MD&A. 

 

 

 

 

The Company plans to seek, identify, evaluate and complete an operating business acquisition. However, 

there are still a number of contingent business risks, some of which are beyond the Company's control which 

are categorized as follows: 

 

Conflicts and Efforts of Insiders 

 

The directors and officers of the Company will only devote a portion of their time to the business and affairs of 

the Company and some of them are or will be engaged in other projects or businesses such that conflicts of 

interest may arise from time to time. 

 

Market 

 

There can be no assurance an active and liquid market for the Company’s common shares will develop and 

shareholders may find it difficult to resell their common shares. 

 

Limited Funds and Completion of an Operating Business Acquisition 

 

The Company has limited funds with which to identify and evaluate potential operating business acquisitions 

and there can be no assurance the Company will be able to identify and consummate a suitable transaction. 

 

Dilution 

 

The closing of any proposed business acquisition will likely involve the issuance of a significant number of 

additional securities by the Company and this will result in further dilution to shareholders, which may also 

result in a change of control of the Company. 

 

Management 

 

The Company is relying solely on the past business success of its directors and officers to identify a business 

of merit. The success of the Company is dependent upon the efforts and abilities of its management team. 

The loss of any member of the management team could have a material adverse effect upon the business 

and prospects of the Company. In such event, the Company will seek satisfactory replacements but there can 

be no guarantee that appropriate personnel may be found. 

RISK FACTORS 

 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
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The Company's primary focus will be to complete the arm’s length Transactions  entered into on July 15, 

2013. 

 

 

 

In preparing the financial statements, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), 

management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 

liabilities, and the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 

the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Principal areas where uncertainty is inherent 

include the valuation of deferred tax assets and valuations of accrued liabilities. 

 

Management feels actual results will not be materially different from these estimates. 

 

 

 

 

During the six months ended June 30, 2013, the Company adopted the following new accounting policies: 

 

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements which supersedes IAS 27 – Consolidated and Separate 

Financial Statements and SIC 12 – Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities as of January 1, 2013. The 

standard revises the definition of control together with accompanying guidance to identify an interest in a 

subsidiary. The basic requirements and mechanics of consolidation and accounting for non-controlling 

interests and change in control remain the same. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact 

on the Company’s financial statements. 

 

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement as of January 1, 2013. The new standard does not affect which items are 

required to be fair-valued, but clarifies the definition of fair value and provides related guidance and enhanced 

disclosures about fair value measurements. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on 

the Company’s financial statements. 

 

IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements as of January 1, 2013. The Amendments require the Company 

to group items presented in other comprehensive income into those that, in accordance with other IFRSs, will 

not be reclassified subsequently into profit or loss, and those that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or 

loss when specific conditions are met. The Company expects that this will change the presentation of items in 

other comprehensive income, but the adoption of this standard amendment did not have a material impact on 

the Company’s financial statements. 

 

 

 

The Company has reviewed new and revised accounting pronouncements that have been issued but are not 

yet effective and determined that the following may have an impact on the Company: 

 

The Company will be required to adopt the first phase of IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments as of January 1, 

2015. The new standard was issued as part of the IASB plan to replace IAS 39 – Financial Instruments with a 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

FUTURE ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

OUTLOOK 
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more robust set of standards for the reporting of financial instruments used by the Company. The first phase 

addresses the accounting for financial assets and financial liabilities.  The second phase will address the 

impairment of financial instruments, and the third phase will address hedge accounting. The adoption of this 

standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.  

 

 

 

 

The Company classifies all financial assets as held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, held-for-trading or 

available-for-sale and all financial liabilities as held-for-trading and other. Financial instruments classified as 

held-for-trading are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income. Financial 

assets classified as held-to-maturity or as loans and receivables and financial liabilities not classified as held-

for-trading are measured at amortized cost. Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value with 

changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income (“OCI”).  All derivative financial instruments 

are reported on the balance sheet at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income unless the 

derivative is part of a hedging relationship that qualifies as a fair value hedge, cash flow hedge or hedge of a 

net investment in a self-sustaining foreign operation. 

 

Financial assets available for sale, assets and liabilities held for trading and derivative financial instruments, 

part of hedging relationship or not, are measured at fair value. Held-to-maturity investments, loans and 

receivables, and other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at 

amortized cost.    

 

The Company has made the following classifications: 

 

Accounts payable and other liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities and are initially measured at 

fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

 

Cash is classified as held-for-trading. 

 

 
 
 
Except for statements of historical fact, certain information contained herein constitutes forward-looking 
statements. Forward looking statements are usually identified by the use of certain terminology, including 
“will”, “believes”, “may”, “expects”, “should”, “seeks”, “anticipates” or “intends” or by discussions of strategy or 
intentions. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors 
which may cause our actual results or achievements to be materially different from any future results or 
achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are 
statements that are not historical facts, and include but are not limited to, estimates and their underlying 
assumptions; statements regarding plans, objectives and expectations with respect to the effectiveness of the 
Company’s business model; future operations, products and services; the impact of regulatory initiatives on 
the Company’s operations; the size of and opportunities related to the markets for the Company’s products; 
general industry and macroeconomic growth rates; expectations related to possible joint and/or strategic 
ventures and statements regarding future performance.  
 

Forward-looking statements used in this discussion are subject to various risks and uncertainties, most of 

which are difficult to predict and generally beyond the control of the Company. If risks or uncertainties 

materialize, or if underlying assumptions prove incorrect, our actual results may vary materially from those 

expected, estimated or projected. Forward looking statements in this document are not a prediction of future 

events or circumstances, and those future events or circumstances may not occur. Given these uncertainties, 

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT 

 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
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users of the information included herein, including investors and prospective investors are cautioned not to 

place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.  

Forward-looking statements included or incorporated by reference in this document include statements with 

respect to the Company’s ability to restrict its corporate expenditures to costs of raising equity financing, 

administrative cost to maintain the Company in good standing and costs to identify and evaluate potential 

business opportunities and the Company’s future adoption of IFRS.  

 

 

 

 

Additional disclosure concerning the Company’s general and administrative expenses is provided in the 

Company’s Statement of Loss that is contained in its financial statements for June 30, 2013 and is available 

on SEDAR which can be accessed through www.sedar.com. 

 

Additional Disclosure of Outstanding Share Data 

 

Common Shares 

 

As at June 30, 2013, the Company had 3,256,834 common shares issued and outstanding. 

  

Stock Options 

 

As of June 30, 2013, there are no stock options outstanding.  

 

Warrants  

 

As of June 30, 2013, there are no warrants outstanding.  

 

Additional Information 

 

The Company files annual and interim reports, information circulars and other information with certain 

Canadian securities regulatory authorities. The documents filed with the Canadian securities regulatory 

authorities are available at www.sedar.com. 

 

7. Market for Securities 

The Company began trading on the TSXV on January 20, 2004 under the symbol “HWC.P” which was 

subsequently changed to “NAM” on April 10, 2006. From December 17, 2010 to October 16, 2013, the Issuer 

was listed on the NEX Board of the TSXV under the symbol “SAQ.H”. Since October 16, 2013, the Company 

is listed on CNSX under the symbol “QMP”. 

8. Consolidated Capitalization 

The following table sets forth the capitalization of the Company as at October 16 2013 immediately prior to, 

and after the closing of the Transactions. 

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE FOR VENTURE ISSUERS WITHOUT SIGNIFICANT 

REVENUE 

http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.sedar.com/
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Designation of 

Security 

Authorized 

Amount 

Outstanding PRIOR TO the 

closing of the Transactions  

Outstanding AFTER the  

closing of the Transactions  

Common 

Shares 

Unlimited, no 

par value 
3,256,834 16,556,834 

Preferred 

Shares 

Unlimited, no 

par value 
_ _ 

 

9. Options to Purchase Securities 

The Company currently has no outstanding options to purchase securities. 

10. Description of the Securities 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares and an unlimited number of 

Preferred Shares, issuable in series with such rights and restrictions as are determined by the Board of 

Directors of the Company. As of the date hereof there were 3,256,834 Common Shares and no 

Preferred Shares issued and outstanding. 

Common Shares 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of shares, designated as Common Shares. The 

holders of the Common Shares have the right to vote at any meeting of shareholders of the Company (other 

than meetings of holders of other classes of shares), have the right to receive any dividend declared by the 

Board of Directors of the Company, and have the right to receive the remaining property of the Company 

on its dissolution, liquidation, winding up or other distribution of its assets or property among its 

shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs. The rights of the holders of Common Shares are 

subject to the rights attaching to any other class or series of shares currently outstanding or hereafter created 

and expressed to rank in priority to the Common Shares. 

Preferred Shares 

The Company is also authorized to issue an unlimited number of shares, designated as Preferred Shares. 

The Board of Directors of the Company may at any time issue any Preferred Shares in one or more series, 

each series to consist of such number of shares as may be determined by the Directors. The Directors 

may determine at the time of issuance the designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions 

attaching to the shares of each series. The Preferred Shares, and each series thereof, have priority and 

preference over the Common Shares in respect of rights to receive any dividends declared by the Issuer 

and in respect of rights to receive the remaining property of the Company on its dissolution, liquidation, 

winding up or other distribution of its assets or property among its shareholders for the purpose of 

winding up its affairs. 

Prior Sales past 12 months and Sales 

Concurrent with the closing of the Transactions on October 10, 2013, Synergy completed two non-brokered 

private placements, raising total gross proceeds of $167,500 through the issuance of 3,250,000 Synergy 

common shares at $0.05 per common share and 50,000 Synergy common shares at $0.10 per common 

share. All subscribers in the Offering were arms-length accredited investors except for one current director 

who subscribed for 500,000 Synergy common shares at $0.05 per common share. 
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Stock Exchange Price 

The Common Shares of the Company were listed on the NEX until October 16, 2013 under the symbol 

‘‘SAQ.H’’. The following table sets forth the reported intraday high and low trading prices and aggregate 

volume of trading of the Common Shares on the NEX (as reported by such exchange) for the last 12 

months. 

Period High Low Volume 

September 2013 $0.06 $0.06  No Trades 

August 2013 $0.06 $0.06  No Trades 

July 2013* $0.06      $0.06  No Trades 

June, 2013 $0.06 $0.06 No Trades 

May, 2013 $0.11 $0.06 5,000 

April, 2013  $0.11 $0.11 32,333 

March, 2013 $0.15 $0.11 1,333 

February 2013 $0.15 $0.15 2,000 

January 2013 $0.11 $0.11            No 
Trades 

ttTraTrades 
December 2012 $0.11 $0.10 51,918 

November 2012 $0.10 $0.10 333 

October 2012 $0.10 $0.10 4,000 
* Trading of Synergy’s Common Shares was halted at the Company’s request on July 16, 2013 

 

11. Escrowed Securities 

In accordance with the requirements of CNSX, the Common Shares of the Company received by the Vendors 

pursuant to the Transactions  will be deposited into escrow in accordance with an escrow (the “Escrow 

Agreement”) with the Company and Computershare Company of Canada (the “Trustee”) dated as of the 

closing date. 

The following table sets forth the holdings of Common Shares of the Vendors which will be escrowed and the 

percentage of Common Shares represented by their holdings on a non-diluted basis: 

Name # Common Shares owned % 
1)

  

9248-7792 Quebec Inc.
2)

 6,000,000 36,2% 

9257-1256 Quebec Inc.
3)

 4,000,000 24,2% 

1) On a fully diluted basis. 

2) A corporation controlled by Mr. Stéphane Leblanc, a director and officer of the Issuer. 

3) A corporation controlled by Mr. Jacques Turcotte.  

An aggregate of 10,000,000 Common Shares (the “Escrowed Securities”) will be deposited into escrow with 

the Trustee. As the Company is an “emerging issuer” under National Policy 46-201 – Escrow for Initial Public 

Offerings ("NP 46-201"), upon listing of the Common Shares on the CSNX, the Escrowed Securities will be 

subject to a 36-month escrow period. The Escrowed Securities will be released as follows: 10% upon 

confirmation of listing of the Common Shares on the CNSX, and the balance in six equal tranches at six 

month intervals from the date of listing (which will amount to 15% of the Escrowed Securities being released 

in each tranche). The Escrowed Securities may be released earlier in certain circumstances, as specified in 

the Escrow Agreement. The Escrowed Securities cannot generally be transferred or otherwise dealt with 

while in escrow other than pursuant to certain permitted transfers or dealings within escrow as set out in the 

Escrow Agreement. 



 

FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

Page 66 

12. Principal Shareholders 

To the knowledge of the directors and senior officers of the Company, there are no persons who beneficially 

own, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over, Common Shares carrying more than ten 

percent (10%) of the voting rights of the issued and outstanding securities of the Company other than: 

Name and  
Municipality of  

Residence Type of 
Ownership 

Class of Shares Number of Shares % of Shares
(1)

 

9248-7792 Québec Inc.   

Trois-Rivières, Québec 
Direct Common Shares 6,000,000 

36,2%
(2)

 

9257-1256 Québec Inc. 

Trois-Rivières, Québec 
Direct Common Shares 4,000,000 

24,2%
(3)

 

 

Notes: 
(1) On a fully diluted basis. 
(2) Stephane Leblanc, director and President and CEO of the Issuer, holds 6,000,000 Common Shares of the Issuer through 

9248-7792 Quebec Inc., a corporation controlled by Mr. Leblanc. 
(3) Jacques Turcotte holds 4,000,000 Common Shares of the Issuer through 9257-1256 Quebec Inc., a corporation controlled by 

Mr. Turcotte. 
 

13. Directors and Officers 

Name, Address, Occupation and Security Holding 
 
The following table sets out, for each of the proposed directors and officers of the Issuer assuming closing 

of the Transactions , the person’s name, municipality of residence, principal occupation and number of 

Common Shares beneficially owned or controlled. The term of office for each of the directors of the Issuer will 

expire at the Issuer’s next annual general meeting: 

Name and 
Municipality of 
Residence 

Present and Principal Occupation 
for Past Five Years 

Position with 
Company 

Number and 
Percentage of 
Voting Shares 

Beneficially Owned, 
Directly or 

Indirectly, or 
Controlled 

Stephane Leblanc 

Trois-Rivières, Québec 

CEO and Director, Canadian Metals Inc., 
a corporation listed on CNSX and 
President, 9248-7792 Québec inc., a 
corporation doing business under the 
name Quebec Mineral Properties. 
(mining claims management company) 

Director, President and 
Chief Executive Officer  

6,000,000 (1) 

         (36,2%) 

Patricia Lafontaine 

Trois-Rivières, Québec 
 

Administrative assistant, 9248-7792 
Quebec inc., a corporation doing 
business under the name Quebec 
Mineral Properties. (mining claims 
management company) 

Director  
 

nil 

    
Guy Paul Allard 

Brossard, Quebec 

Partner, Dentons Canada, LLP 
Law firm Director and Corporate 

Secretary 

100,000 

(0.6%) 
 
Note: (1) These Common Shares will be held beneficially by 9248, a corporation controlled by Mr. Leblanc. 
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The directors and executive officers of the Company, as a group, will beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or 

exercise control or direction over 6,000,000 Common Shares, representing 36.8% of all issued and 

outstanding Common Shares as of the date of this Listing Statement 

The term of office of the directors expires annually at the time of the Company’s annual general meeting.  The 

term of office of the officers expires at the discretion of the Company’s directors.  None of the directors of the 

Company have entered into non-competition or non-disclosure agreements with the Company. 

13.1 Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions 

Except as disclosed below, no director or executive officer of the Company is, at the date of this Listing 

Statement, or has been, within the 10 years prior to the date this Listing Statement, a director, chief executive 

officer or chief financial officer of any issuer (including the Company) that: 

 was subject to an Order (as defined below) that was issued while the director or executive (a)
officer was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; 
or 

 was subject to an Order that was issued after the director ceased to be a director, chief (b)
executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred 
while that person was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief 
financial officer. 

“Order” means a cease trade order or similar order or an order that denied an issuer access to any statutory 

exemption under securities legislation that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days. 

In addition, except as disclosed below, no director or executive officer or promoter of the Company or 

shareholder holding sufficient number of securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the 

Company: 

 is, at the date this Listing Statement, or has been within the 10 years before the date hereof, (a)
a director or executive officer of any issuer (including the Company) that, while that person 
was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, 
became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency 
or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangements or compromise with creditors 
or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; 

 has, within the 10 years before the date hereof, become bankrupt, made a proposal under (b)
any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager 
or trustee appointed to hold the assets of that person; or 

 has been subject to: (c)

(i) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a 

securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a 

securities regulatory authority; or 

(ii) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely 

be considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

On February 19, 2004, Stéphane Leblanc filed for voluntary assignment in bankruptcy (Court Number/BIA 

Estate number 41-315417). He was automatically discharged from all debts 9 months after, on November 20, 

2004.  
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On August 12, 2004, Patricia Lafontaine filed for voluntary assignment in bankruptcy (Court Number/BIA 

Estate number 41-321322). She was automatically discharged from all debts 9 months after, on May 13, 

2005. 

13.2 Conflicts of Interest 

The directors of the Company are required by law to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best 

interest of the Company and to disclose any interests which they may have in any project or opportunity of the 

Company.  If a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the board of directors, any director in a conflict is 

required to disclose his interest and abstain from voting on such matter. 

Some of the directors and officers of the Company are also directors, officers and/or promoters of other 

reporting and non-reporting issuers. Accordingly, conflicts of interest may arise which could influence these 

persons in evaluating possible acquisitions or in generally acting on behalf of the Company, notwithstanding 

that they are bound by the provisions of the Canada Business Corporations Act to act at all times in good faith 

in the best interests of the Company and to disclose such conflicts to the Company if and when they arise. 

Such directors or officers, in accordance with the Business Corporations Act (Quebec) are required to 

disclose all such conflicts and are expected to govern themselves in respect thereof to the best of their ability 

in accordance with the obligations imposed upon them by law. 

13.3 Management of the Company 

The following provides additional information regarding the proposed directors and executive officers of the 

Company. 

Stéphane Leblanc, age 32 –Director, President and Chief Executive Officer 

Mr. Leblanc has 12 years’ experience in the mining industry. He is currently a director as well as President 

and CEO of Canadian Metals Inc. a CNSX-listed mineral exploration company since July 2013. He is also 

President of 9248 a corporation doing business under the name Quebec Mineral Properties. 9248 is a private 

holding company that owns and manages a portfolio of mining claims located in the province of Quebec. Mr. 

Leblanc carries out his duties on a part-time basis and an estimated 50% of his time is devoted to the 

Company.  

Patricia Lafontaine, age 34 –Director and Vice-President 

Since 2005. Ms. Lafontaine has been an administrative assistant for Mr. Leblanc and his affiliated entities. As 

such, she is responsible for the management of mining claims and other accounting and financial duties. In 

2011, Ms. Lafontaine joined 9248 (Quebec Mineral Properties) as Manager of Development and Planning. 

Ms. Lafontaine is currently a director and Vice-President of Groupe Rodillo Inc. a private holding company 

that manages a portfolio of industrial patents. 

Guy Paul Allard, age 45 –Director and Corporate Secretary 

Mr. Allard is a partner in the Corporate & Commercial Group of Dentons Canada LLP in Montréal since 2007. 

He holds a Bachelor of Civil Law and a Bachelor of Business Administration from Laval University. Mr. Allard 

specializes in corporate finance, securities, and mergers and acquisitions of public and private companies. He 

is a regional co-lead for Dentons Canada’s National Mining Practice Group and regional lead for the 

Technology Practice Group. Mr. Allard is a member of the Legal Advisory Committee of the Autorité des 

marchés financiers. 
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14.  Capitalization 

Prepare and file the following chart for each class of securities to be listed:  

Issued Capital 

    

Number of Number of %of % of 

Securities Securities Issued Issued 

(non-diluted) (fully-diluted) (non-

diluted) 

(fully diluted) 

Public Float 

Total outstanding (A)   16,556,834 16,556,834     100%                 100% 

Held by Related Persons (B)  10,100,000 10,100,000      61%                   61% 

 

Total Public Float (A-B)    6,556,834 6,556,834      29%             29%  

 

Freely-Tradeable Float 

 

Securities subject to resale  13,300,000 13,300,000        80.3%          80.3%  

restrictions (C) 

 

Total Tradeable Float (A-C)                    3, 256,834      3,256,834        19.7%          19.7% 
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Public Securityholders (Registered) 

 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders" are persons other than persons 

enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart. List registered holders only. 

Class of Security 

Size of Holding Number of holders 

 

  Total number of securities 

    

1 – 99 securities 

100 – 499 securities 

500 – 999 securities  

1,000 – 1,999 securities 

2,000 – 2,999 securities 

3,000 – 3,999 securities 

4,000 – 4,999 securities 

5,000 or more securities 

              

              

                8  

            

              2,330 

                 

 

 

               13 

   

              7,998 

 

 

                8 

   

            17,828 

 

 

                6 

   

            15,732 

 

 

                2 

   

              7,249 

 

 

                2 

  

               

 

              8,499 

              8 

 

 

                31 

        

             3,939,067 
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Public Securityholders (Beneficial)  

Instruction: Include (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as registered 

shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities through an intermediary where the 

Issuer has been given written confirmation of shareholdings. For the purposes of this section, it is 

sufficient if the intermediary provides a breakdown by number of beneficial holders for each line 

item below; names and holdings of specific beneficial holders do not have to be disclosed. If an 

intermediary or intermediaries will not provide details of beneficial holders, give the aggregate 

position of all such intermediaries in the last line. 

Class of Security 

Size of Holding Number of holders 

 

  

Total number of securities 

    

1 – 99 securities 

100 – 499 securities 

 500 – 999 securities  

1,000 – 1,999 securities 

2,000 – 2,999 securities 

3,000 – 3,999 securities 

4,000 – 4,999 securities 

5,000 or more securities 

Unable to confirm 

                1 

                 

 

                      83  

 

                17 

   

                    4,996 

 

 

               16 

   

                 10,913 

 

 

              12 

   

                  18,745 

 

 

               10 

  

              

 

                  27,998 

 

 

               6 

   

                  21.198 

 

 

               5 

   

                   21,529    

 

 

               54 

   

                2,460,269          

2,460,269 

   2,460,269 
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Non-Public Securityholders (Registered)

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "non-public securityholders" are persons 

enumerated in section (B) of the issued capital chart. 

 

Class of Security 

Size of Holding Number of holders 

 

  

Total number of securities 

    

1 – 99 securities 

100 – 499 securities 500 – 

999 securities 1,000 – 1,999 

securities 2,000 – 2,999 

securities 3,000 – 3,999 

securities 4,000 – 4,999 

securities 5,000 or more 

securities  

Unable to confirm 

     

     

     

     

     

     

 

               3 

   

          10,100,000 

 

     

     

  



 
  

 

 

 
15. Executive Compensation 

Compensation to be paid to the officers and directors of the Company and any incentive plans will be 

determined by the new board or directors following the closing of the Transactions . 

16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 

No director or officer of the Company, or associate or affiliate of any such director or officer, is 

indebted to the Company. 

17. Risk Factors 

The Common Shares should be considered highly speculative due to the nature of the Company’s 

business and the present stage of its development.  In evaluating the Company and its business, 

investors should carefully consider, in addition to the other information contained in this Listing 

Statement, the following risk factors.  These risk factors are not a definitive list of all risk factors 

associated with an investment in the Company or in connection with the Company’s operations.  

Speculative Nature of the Company’s Securities 

The securities of the Company are highly speculative due to the nature of the Company’s business 

and the present stage of its development. 

Capitalization and Commercial Viability 

The Company will require additional funds to further explore and develop the Dalquier Property and 

the other properties comprised in the Claims.  The Company may not have sufficient funds upon 

closing of the Offering to carry out the completion of all proposed activities, and may have to obtain 

other financing or raise additional funds.  See “Use of Proceeds – Principal Purposes”.  The Company 

has limited financial resources, and there is no assurance that additional funding will be available to 

the Company to carry out the completion of all proposed activities, for additional exploration or for the 

substantial capital that is typically required in order to place a property into commercial production.  

Although the Company has been successful in the past in obtaining financing through the sale of 

Common Shares, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain adequate 

financing in the future or that the terms of such financing will be favorable.  Failure to obtain such 

additional financing could result in the delay or indefinite postponement of further exploration and 

development of its properties. 

While, upon completion of the Offering, the Company will have sufficient financial resources to begin 

the recommended exploration program in respect of the Dalquier Property, the Company will require 

additional funds to further explore and develop the Dalquier Property and to develop its other 

properties or to acquire additional properties. 

 

Factors Beyond Company’s Control 

The exploration and development of the Dalquier Property and the marketability of any minerals 

contained in the Dalquier Property will be affected by numerous factors beyond the control of the 



 
  

 

Company.  These factors include government regulation, high levels of volatility in market prices, 

availability of markets, availability of adequate transportation and refining facilities and the imposition 

of new or amendments to existing taxes and royalties.  The effect of these factors cannot be 

accurately predicted. 

Title Matters 

While the Company has performed its own due diligence with respect to title of its properties, this 

should not be construed as a guarantee of title.  The properties may be subject to prior unregistered 

agreements of transfer or land claims by First Nations groups or others, and title may be affected by 

undetected defects. 

Exploration and Development 

Mineral exploration and development involves a high degree of risk and few properties which are 

explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. 

None of the Company’s properties presently contain any mineral resources or mineral reserves.  

Should any mineral deposits be discovered, substantial expenditures will be required to confirm 

mineral reserves which are sufficient to commercially mine, and to obtain the required environmental 

approvals and permitting required to commence commercial operations.  Should any mineral resource 

be defined on such properties there can be no assurance that the mineral resource on such properties 

can be commercially mined or that the metallurgical processing will produce economically viable 

saleable products.  The decision as to whether a property contains a commercial mineral deposit and 

should be brought into production will depend upon the results of exploration programs and/or 

feasibility studies, and the recommendations of duly qualified engineers and/or geologists, all of which 

involves significant expense.  This decision will involve consideration and evaluation of several 

significant factors including, but not limited to: 

(i) costs of bringing a property into production, including exploration and development work, 
preparation of production feasibility studies and construction of production facilities; 

(ii) availability and costs of financing; 

(iii) ongoing costs of production; 

(iv) market prices for the minerals to be produced; 

(v) environmental compliance regulations and restraints (including potential environmental 
liabilities associated with historical exploration activities); and 

(vi) political climate and/or governmental regulation and control. 

The ability of the Company to sell, and profit from the sale of any eventual production from any of the 

Company’s properties will be subject to the prevailing conditions in the marketplace at the time of sale.  

Many of these factors are beyond the control of the Company and therefore represent a market risk 

which could impact the long term viability of the Company and its operations. 

General Economic Conditions 

The events in global financial markets recently have had a profound impact on the global economy.  

Many industries, including the mineral resource industry, are impacted by these market conditions.  



 
  

 

Some of the key impacts of the current financial market turmoil include contraction in credit markets 

resulting in a widening of credit risk, devaluations and high volatility in global equity, commodity, 

foreign exchange and precious metal markets, and a lack of market liquidity.  A continued or worsened 

slowdown in the financial markets or other economic conditions, including but not limited to, consumer 

spending, employment rates, business conditions, inflation, fuel and energy costs, consumer debt 

levels, lack of available credit, the state of the financial markets, interest rates, and tax rates may 

adversely affect the Company’s growth. 

Global Financial Conditions 

Current global financial conditions have been subject to increased volatility and numerous financial 

institutions have either gone into bankruptcy or have had to be rescued by governmental authorities.  

Access to public financing has been negatively impacted by the broad lack of investor confidence.  

These factors may impact the ability of the Company to obtain equity or debt financing in the future 

and, if obtained, on terms favorable to the Company.  If these increased levels of volatility and market 

turmoil continue, the Company’s activities could be adversely impacted and the trading price of the 

Common Shares could be adversely affected. 

Lack of Operating History 

The Company has a very limited history of operations, is in the early stage of exploration and must be 

considered a start-up.  As such, the Company is subject to many risks common to such enterprises, 

including under-capitalization, cash shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, financial and 

other resources and lack of revenues. 

No History of Earnings 

The Company has no history of earnings, and there is no assurance that any of its mineral properties 

will generate earnings, operate profitably or provide a return on investment in the future.  There is no 

assurance that the Company will be successful in achieving a return on shareholders’ investment and 

the likelihood of success must be considered in light of its early stage of operations.  The Company 

has no intention of paying any dividends in the foreseeable future. 

Environmental Risks and Other Regulatory Requirements 

The current or future operations of the Company, including exploration and development activities and 

commencement of production on its properties, require permits from various governmental authorities, 

and such operations are and will be governed by laws and regulations governing prospecting, 

development, mining, production, taxes, labour standards, occupational health, waste disposal, toxic 

substances, land use, environmental protection, mine safety and other matters.  Companies engaged 

in the development and operation of mines and related facilities generally experience increased costs 

and delays in production and other schedules as a result of the need to comply with the applicable 

laws, regulations and permits.  There can be no assurance that all permits which the Company may 

require for future exploration activities, construction of mining facilities and conduct of mining 

operations will be obtainable on reasonable terms or that such laws and regulations would not have an 

adverse effect on any mining project which the Company might undertake. 

Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and permitting requirements may result in 

enforcement actions including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing operations to 

cease or be curtailed, and may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, installation 



 
  

 

of additional equipment or remedial actions.  Parties engaged in mining operations may be required to 

compensate those suffering loss or damage by reason of the mining activities and may have civil or 

criminal fines or penalties imposed upon them for violation of applicable laws or regulations. 

Amendments to current laws, regulations and permits governing operations and activities of mining 

companies, or more stringent implementation thereof, could have a material adverse impact on the 

Company and cause increases in capital expenditures or production costs or reduction in levels of 

production at producing properties or require abandonment or delays in the development of new 

mining properties. 

Uninsurable Risks 

In the course of exploration, development and production of mineral properties, several risks and, in 

particular, unexpected or unusual geological or operating conditions, may occur.  It is not always 

possible to fully insure against such risks, and the Company may decide not to take out insurance 

against such risks as a result of high premiums or other reasons.  Should such liabilities arise they 

could reduce or eliminate any future profitability and result in an increase in costs and a decline in 

value of the securities of the Company. 

The Company is not insured against most environmental risks.  Insurance against environmental risks 

(including potential liability for pollution or other hazards as a result of the disposal of waste products 

occurring from exploration and production) has not been generally available to companies within the 

industry.  The Company periodically evaluates the cost and coverage of the insurance against certain 

environmental risks that is available to determine if it would be appropriate to obtain such insurance.  

Without such insurance, and if the Company becomes subject to environmental liabilities, the payment 

of such liabilities would reduce or eliminate its available funds or could exceed the funds the Company 

has to pay such liabilities and result in bankruptcy.  Should the Company be unable to fund fully the 

remedial cost of an environmental problem it might be required to enter into interim compliance 

measures pending completion of the required remedy. 

Operating Hazards and Risks 

Mineral exploration and development involves risks which even a combination of experience, 

knowledge and careful examination may not be able to overcome.  Operations in which the Company 

has a direct or indirect interest will be subject to hazards and risks normally incidental to exploration, 

development and production of minerals, any of which could result in work stoppage, damage to or 

destruction of property, loss of life and environmental damage.  Such liabilities may have materially 

adverse effect upon the Company’s financial condition. 

Securities of the Company 

The price at which the seed rounds of securities were sold was determined by the Company and the 
price of the Units offered under this Prospectus was determined by negotiation between the Company 
and the Agent and bears no relationship to earnings, book value or other valuation criteria.  The 
Company plans to focus on exploration of its properties and to use the proceeds of the Offering to 
carry out such exploration, but to further such activities and to acquire additional properties will require 
additional funds and it is likely that, to obtain the necessary funds, the Company will have to sell 
additional securities including, but not limited to, Common Shares or some form of convertible 
securities, the effect of which would result in a substantial dilution of the present equity interests of the 
Company’s shareholders. 



 
  

 

Lack of Public Market for the Company’s Shares 

There is no current public market for the Common Shares.  If an active public market for the Common 
Shares does not develop, the trading price of the Common Shares may decline below the Issue Price. 

Dilution 

 
Issuance of additional securities pursuant to future financing will result in dilution of the equity interests 

of persons who become shareholders of the Company under the Offering. 

Competition 

Significant and increasing competition exists for mining opportunities internationally.  There are a 

number of large established mining companies with substantial capabilities and far greater financial 

and technical resources than the Company.  The Company may be unable to acquire additional 

attractive mining properties on terms it considers acceptable and there can be no assurance that the 

Company’s exploration and acquisition programs will yield any new reserves or result in any 

commercial mining operations.  The Company’s inability to compete with other mining companies 

could have a material adverse effect on the Company. 

Conflicts of Interest 

Certain directors and officers of the Company are, and may continue to be, involved in the mining and 

mineral exploration industry through their direct and indirect participation in other Companys which are 

potential competitors of the Company.  Situations may arise in connection with potential acquisitions in 

investments where the other interests of these directors and officers may conflict with the interests of 

the Company.  Directors and officers of the Company with conflicts of interest will be subject to and 

will follow the procedures set out in applicable corporate and securities legislation, regulation, rules 

and policies. 

Management 

The Company’s future success depends, in significant part, upon the continued service and 

performance of its directors and senior officers.  The experience and ability of these individuals will be 

a factor contributing to the Company’s success and growth.  The loss of the services of some or all of 

these individuals could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business prospects.  The 

Company has not obtained key man insurance with respect to any of its senior officers. 

Dependence on Outside Parties 

The Company has relied upon consultants, engineers and others and intends to rely on these parties 

for development, construction and operating expertise.  Substantial expenditures are required to 

establish mineral reserves through drilling, to carry out environmental and social impact assessments 

and to develop processes to extract the commodity from ore.  If such parties’ work is deficient or 

negligent or is not completed in a timely manner, it could have a material adverse effect on the 

Company. 

 

 



 
  

 

Litigation 

The Company has entered into legally binding agreements with various third parties for consultation 

services.  The interpretation of the rights and obligations that arise from such agreements is open to 

interpretation as the Company may disagree with the position taken by the various other parties, 

resulting in a dispute that could potentially result in litigation and cause the Company to incur legal 

costs in the future.  Given the speculative and unpredictable nature of litigation, the outcome of such 

disputes could have a material adverse effect on the Company. 

Tax Issues 

Income tax consequences in relation to the Common Shares will vary according to circumstances of 

each investor.  Prospective investors should seek independent advice from their own tax and legal 

advisers prior to subscribing to the Offering. 

Dividends 

The Company has not declared any dividends on the Common Shares since incorporation and does 

not anticipate paying any dividends on the Common Shares in the foreseeable future.  Payment of any 

future dividends will be at the discretion of the Company’s board of directors. 

18. Promoters 

Stéphane Leblanc may be considered the promoter of the Company within the meaning of the CNSX 

Policies.   Mr. Leblanc beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 6,000,000 Common Shares, comprising 

36,2% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares as of the date hereof.  See “Principal 

Shareholders” and “Directors and Officers”.  

19. Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions 

Legal Proceedings 

The Company is not a party to any legal proceedings material to it, or of which any of its property is 

the subject matter, and no such proceedings are known to be contemplated. 

Regulatory Actions 

There are no penalties or sanctions imposed against the Company by a court or a regulatory body and 

the Company has not entered into any settlement agreements before a court or with a securities 

regulatory authority. 

20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 

Other than as disclosed in this Listing Statement, no director or officer of the Company or any 

shareholder holding, of record or beneficially, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the issued 

Common Shares, or any of their respective associates or affiliates, have any material interest, directly 

or indirectly, in any material transaction with the Company since incorporation or in any proposed 

transaction which has materially affected or would materially affect the Company. 



 
  

 

21. Auditors, Transfer Agent and Registrar 

The auditors of the Company are Grant Thornton LLP at its office located at 1701 Scotia Place 2, 

10060 Jasper Avenue NW, Edmonton AB, T5J 3R8. 

The Company’s registrar and transfer agent for the Common Shares is Computershare Investor 

Services Inc. at its office located at 600, 530 – 8
th
 Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta, T2P 3S8. 

22. Material Contracts 

Except for contracts made in the ordinary course of business, the following contracts indicated below 

are the only material contracts entered into by the Company in the last two years: 

a)  The agreement in principle dated July 15, 2013 between the Company and each of 

9248-7792 Quebec Inc. (“9248”) and 9257-1256 Quebec Inc. (“9257”) for the arm’s length 

acquisition of all the rights and interest in approximately 3,200 mining claims located in the 

Province of Quebec. 

b) Two Claims Rollover Agreements entered into on October 10, 2013 between the 

Company and each of 9248 and 9257. 

c) Management Agreement entered into on October 10, 2013 between the Company 

and 9248. 

23. Interest of Experts 

The audited interim financial statements of the Company included with this Listing Statement have 

been subject to audit by Grant Thornton LLP and their audit report is included herein. Grant Thornton 

LLP have advised that they are independent with respect to the Company within the meaning of the 

Rules of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. 

24. Other Material Facts 

There are no other material facts concerning the Offering other than as disclosed in this Listing 

Statement. 

25. Financial Statements 

25.1 Please refer to Appendix I. 

25.2 Not applicable. 
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Synergy Acquisition Corp.  

Second Quarter Interim Report 
     June 30, 2013  (unaudited) 

 

            

            

            

             

 

 

 

 



 
  

 

 

 

Notice of No Auditor Review of Interim Financial Statements 
 

Under National Instrument 51-102, Part 4, subsection 4.3(3)(a), if an auditor has not performed a 

review of the interim financial statements, they must be accompanied by a notice indicating that the 

financial statements have not been reviewed by an auditor. 

 

The accompanying unaudited interim financial statements of Synergy Acquisition Corp. (the 

“Company”) have been prepared by and are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  

 

The Company’s independent auditor has not performed a review of these financial statements in 

accordance with standards established by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants for a 

review of interim financial statements by an entity’s auditor. 
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Synergy Acquisition Corp. 
Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
(Unaudited – expressed Canadian dollars) 
Six Month Period Ended June 30                  
  2013 2012  2013 2012 
  (3 months) (3 months)  (6 months) (6 months) 
       
Expenses        
       
Corporate administration  $            8,144 $          14,356   $        11,497 $         23,737 

  8,144  14,356          11,497 23,737 

       
Net loss  $           (8,144)                                                    $       (14,356)  $       11,497 $      (23,737) 

       

       
Deficit, beginning of period  $  (5,498,009) $    (5,466,381)  $5,494,656 $   (5,457,000) 
       
Net loss  (8,144)  (14,356)  (11,497) (23,737) 
       
Deficit, end of period  $  (5,506,153) $    (5,480,737)  $ (5,506,153) $   (5,480,737) 

       

       
Weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding 

  
3,256,834 

  
3,256,834 

  
 3,256,834 

 
 2,982,109 

       
Basic and diluted loss per share   $ 0.00         $          0.00     $            0.00 $             0.00 

       

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

Synergy Acquisition Corp. 



 
  

 

Statements of Financial Position  June 30, December 31,    
  (Unaudited – expressed in Canadian dollars)  2013  201 
        2 

 
Assets 
Current 
 Cash    $ 4,904 $ 25,766 
    GST receivable    139  2,112
    
      
    $ 5,043 $ 27,878 
   
     
 
Liabilities 
Current 
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 17,428 $ 28,766    
  
Shareholders’ Deficiency 
Share capital (Note 6)    2,000,443  2,000,443       
Contributed surplus     3,493,325  3,493,325        
Deficit     (5,506,153) 
 (5,494,656)      
              (12,385)  (888)     
 
     $ 5,043 $  27,878  
 
 
 
 



 
  

 

Synergy Acquisition Corp. 
Statements of Changes in Equity  
(Unaudited – expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
          

          

  
 Common Shares   

 

Contributed  
 

Accumulated  Shareholders’ 

   Number    Amount     Surplus     Deficit     Deficiency  

          

Balance at 

January 1, 2013      3,256,834  $      2,000,443   $  3,493,325   $    (5,494,656)  $        (888)  

          

 Net loss   - -       -       (11,497)    (11,497) 

          

June 30, 2013       3,256,834  $      2,000,443    $  3,493,325    $    (5,506,153)   $        (12,385) 

          

          

          

  
 Common Shares   

 

Contributed  
 

Accumulated  Shareholders' 

   Number    Amount     Surplus     Deficit     Deficiency  

          

Balance at 

January 1, 2012      2,590,167  $     1,902,719   $  3,493,325   $      (5,457,000)  $        (60,956) 

          

Private 

placement (Note 

6)  666,667 97,724  -  -  97,724 

 Net loss    - -       -       (23,737)    (23,737) 

          

June 30, 2012   3,256,834  $     2,000,444    $  3,493,325    $     (5,480,737)   $           13,032 

          

 



 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 

Synergy Acquisition Corp. 
Statements of Cash Flows 
(Unaudited – expressed in Canadian dollars) 
Three and Six Month Periods Ended June 30           
   

 2013 2012  2013 2012 
 (3 months) (3 months)  (6 months) (6 months) 
      
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 

     

      
Operating      
  Net loss $ (8,144)    $      (14.356)  $       (11,497)   $ (23,737) 
 (8,144)         (14,356)             (11,497)            (23,737) 
      
Change in non-cash operating working capital:      
GST receivable            2,143 1,895  1,972 505 
Accounts payable & accrued liabilities 1,481 2,374  (11,339) (601) 
 (4,520) (10,087)  (20,863) (23,833) 
      
Financing               
Proceeds on issuance of shares (Note 6) - 20,000  - 97,724 
Advances (repayments) from/to a related party - (40,500)  - (40,500) 
 (4,520) (20,500)  - 57,224 
      
Increase (decrease) in cash (4,520) (30,587)  (20,863) 33,391 
      
Cash      
  Beginning of period 9,424 69.842  25,766 5,824 
      
  End of period $ 4,904               $    39,255  $4,903                    $39,255        

      

      

 

       
Supplementary cash flow information: 

Non-cash transactions: nil                    nil                              nil                    nil 



 

 
 

 

 

1. Nature of operations 

 

Synergy Acquisition Corp. (the “Company” or “SAQ”) was incorporated under the Business 

Companys Act (Alberta) on June 24, 2003.   

 

The Company is a public company listed on the NEX board of the TSX Venture Exchange, 

trading under the symbol SAQ.H. Although it does not currently have an ongoing business, 

it is actively seeking opportunities.  The Company’s registered office is 1500 Manulife 

Place, 10180 110 Street, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T5J 4K1. 

 

 

2. Going concern 
 

These financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a 

going concern. The going concern basis of presentation assumes the Company will continue 

in operation for the foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and discharge its 

liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. For the six months’ ended 

June 30, 2013, the Company incurred a loss of $11,497 (June 30, 2012 - $23,737) and had 

negative cash flow from operations of $20,863 (June 30, 2012 - $23,833). In addition, as at 

June 30, 2013, the Company had negative working capital of $12,384 (June 30, 2012 – 

positive working capital of $13,032) and an accumulated deficit of $5,506,153 (June 30, 

2012 - $5,480,737). 

 

The above factors raise significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. Although the Company does not require significant funds to continue current 

operations, management has taken actions to address these issues including completing a 

private placement (Note 6) to meet ongoing regulatory filings.  The Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to acquire and or obtain additional 

financing to fund a positive cash flow acquisition. 

 

The financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going 

concern assumption were not appropriate. If the going concern basis was not appropriate for 

these financial statements, then adjustments would be necessary in the carrying value of 

assets and liabilities, the reported expenses, and the classifications on the statement of 

financial position used.   

 
 

3. Basis of presentation   
 

The Company is required to present the Interim financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  In conjunction with this, these 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).   
 



 

 
 

 

 

The significant accounting policies that have been applied in the preparation of these 
financial statements are summarized in Note 4 below.   
 
  



 

 
 

 

 

4.   Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
Use of estimates 
 
In preparing financial statements to conform with IFRS, management is required to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the 

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results 

could differ from those estimates. 

 

Income taxes 

 

The Company uses the liability method for determining income taxes.  Under this method, 

deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between their 

respective carrying amounts and tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 

based on enacted or substantively enacted tax rates and laws at the date of the financial 

statements for the years in which these temporary differences are expected to reverse. 

 

In assessing whether the deferred tax assets are realizable, management considers whether it 
is probable that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized.  
 
The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets depends upon the generation of future taxable 
income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible and tax 
losses are utilized. 
 

Loss per share 

 

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of 

shares outstanding during the reporting period.  Diluted loss per share is computed similar 

to basic loss per share except that the weighted average shares outstanding are increased 

to include additional shares from the assumed conversion of preferred shares and exercise 

of outstanding warrants and stock options, if dilutive. Basic and diluted loss per share is the 

same as the Company has no options, warrants or preferred shares issued.  

 

Stock-based payments 

 

The Company has a stock-based compensation plan, which is described in Note 6.  The 

Company uses the fair value method of accounting for stock options. The fair value of an 

option grant is calculated using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model and recognized as 

compensation expense over the vesting period of those grants. A corresponding adjustment 

is recorded in contributed surplus. On the exercise of stock options, the proceeds received 

by the Company, together with the related amounts in contributed surplus are credited to 

share capital. Estimations are utilized in the determination of forfeitures and cancellations. 

 

 



 

 
 

 

 

4.   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 

Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 

Financial instruments  
 

The Company classifies all financial assets as held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, held-

for-trading or available-for-sale and all financial liabilities as held-for-trading or other. 

Financial instruments classified as held-for-trading are measured at fair value with changes 

in fair value recognized in profit or loss. Financial assets classified as held-to-maturity or as 

loans and receivables and financial liabilities not classified as held-for-trading are initially 

recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost. Available-for-sale 

financial assets are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in other 

comprehensive income.  

The Company has made the following classifications: 

 

Accounts payable and other liabilities, as well as due to related parties are classified as 

other financial liabilities.  

 

Cash is classified as loans and receivables. 

 

Recent pronouncements not yet effective and that have not been early adopted 

 

The Company has reviewed new and revised accounting pronouncements that have been 

issued but are not yet effective as at the date of authorization of these financial statements 

and determined the following may have an impact on the Company: 

 

The Company will be required to adopt IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments as of January 1, 

2015. The new standard was issued as part of the IASB plan to replace IAS 39 – Financial 

Instruments with a more robust set of standards for the reporting of financial instruments. 

The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s 

financial statements.  

 

 
 

5.    Due to related party and related party transactions 

 
         June 30,   December 31,    

    2013  2012      2011 

   

Opening balance   $ - $  40,500   

 

Settlement (a)   -  (40,500) 

  



 

 
 

 

 

Closing balance    $ - $ -   

 

The related party transactions are conducted on the terms and conditions agreed to by the 
related parties and are recorded at their exchange amounts. 
 
(a)  This represents a repayment to a company over which a director has control.  
 
 
 
 

 
6.     Capital stock  

 
a) Share capital 
 
Authorized: 

 Unlimited number of common shares, without par value 

 Unlimited number of preferred shares, without par value, issuable in series 

 

Issued and outstanding common shares: Number Amount 

 

Opening balance, January 1, 2012  2,590,167 $ 1,902,719 

 

Private placement (i)  (666,667)         $97,724 

 

Closing balance, December 31, 2012 & June 30, 2013  3,256,834$   2,000,443 

 

(i)   On March 15, 2012, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement of 666,667 

common shares of the Company at the price of $0.15 per common share to Don Caron, the 

Chairman and a director of the Company, David Tam, a director of the Company and Eric 

Sauze, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary of the Company. Gross proceeds were $100,000 

less issuance costs of $2,276.  The shares are subject to a TSX Venture Exchange hold 

period expiring on July 6, 2012. 

 
b)          Stock options to employees and directors 

 

The Company has established a stock option plan for its directors, executive officers, 

employees, and other key personnel.  The Board of Directors may designate which 

directors, officers, employees and other key personnel of the Company are to be granted 

stock options.  The expiry date, vesting terms and exercise price of any stock option granted 

are determined by the Board of Directors at the time of the grant, subject to regulatory 

requirements.  An option granted under the stock option plan may vest at such times as the 

Board of Directors of the Company may determine at the time of granting, subject to the 

rules of any stock exchange or other regulatory body having jurisdiction.  Stock options are 

not assignable.  Provision is made for accelerated vesting in certain circumstances and 

early termination in the event of death or cessation of employment. The exercise price of 



 

 
 

 

 

each stock option is set to be not lower than the lowest exercise price permitted by any 

exchange and with a maximum term of not longer than five years from the date of grant.   

 

No stock options were granted during the interim periods ended June 30, 2013 and 2012. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.  Income taxes  

 
The Company has unused non-capital income tax losses available for carry forward in 
Canada of $1,760,757 (2012 - $1,722,646).  The benefit of these losses has not been 
recognized in these financial statements.  These losses are available to reduce taxable 
income in Canada in future periods and may be carried forward for 20 years for non-capital 
losses and indefinitely for capital losses. These losses expire as follows: 
 
 
      As at     
Year of loss Dec 31, 2012    Expiry   
 2005   $ 91,346  2025   
 2006    919,509 2026   
 2007  567,970 2027  
 2008  32,972 2028          
 2009  24,984 2029          
 2010  39,931 2030    
 2011  45,934 2031 
 2012  38,111 2032 
  $1,760,757  
 
 
 
 
8.  Financial instruments 
 
a)   Fair values 

 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities, as well as due to related parties. The fair values of these financial instruments 

approximate their carrying values due to their short-term maturity. 



 

 
 

 

 

 
b) Liquidity risk 
 

The Company’s exposure to liquidity risk is dependent on the ability to raise funds to meet 
purchase commitments and to sustain operations. The Company monitors its liquidity risk by 
managing working capital and cash flows.  
 
 
 
9. Capital management 
 
The Company manages its capital to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and to preserve financial flexibility in order to fund growth and expansionary 
opportunities that may arise. The Company defines capital as its shareholders’ deficiency. As at 
June 30, 2013, shareholders’ deficiency was $12,385 (December 31, 2012 – $888). The 
Company is not subjected to capital requirements imposed by a regulator. The Company does 
not have debt and is not subject to any debt covenant provisions or externally imposed capital 
requirements. Prudent cash management is augmented by on-going analysis conducted by 
management. There has been no change to the management of capital in the year.  

 
 

 

10.              

           

       Post reporting date event  

 
The Company entered into an agreement in principle (the "Term Sheet") dated July 15, 
2013 for the arm's length acquisition (the “Transactions ”) of all the rights and interest in 
approximately 3,200 mining claims located in the Province of Quebec (the “Claims”) from 
9248-7792 Quebec Inc. (“9248”) and 9257-1256 Quebec Inc. (“9257”) (“9248” and “9257” 
hereinafter collectively, “Quebec Co.”). 

Pursuant to the Term Sheet, the Company will purchase the Claims from Quebec Co. for an 
aggregate consideration of 10,000,000 common shares of the Company to be issued at a 
deemed price of $0.06 per share in accordance with a definitive asset purchase agreement 
to be entered into between the parties. Following completion of the Transactions , Quebec 
Co. will own approximately 75.43% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the 
Company (the “Synergy Shares”) and current shareholders of the Company will hold 
approximately 24.57% of the Synergy Shares (prior to the completion of the concurrent 
private placement described below). Accordingly, the Transactions  will constitute a reverse 
take-over of the Company. 



 

 
 

 

 

If a special shareholders’ meeting is expressly required by the exchanges or regulatory 
authorities, a notice of special shareholders’ meeting and management proxy solicitation 
information circular (the “Circular”) will be mailed to the Company’s shareholders. The 
purpose of the meeting will be to approve the Transactions, the delisting of the Company 
from the TSX-V, the election of a new board of directors (as designated by Quebec Co. at 
its discretion) and the listing of the Company on the Canadian National Stock Exchange 
(“CNSX”). In the event that a special shareholders’ meeting is not required, the Company 
expects to obtain the written consent of the holders of a majority of voting shares of the 
Company in lieu of a meeting. 
 
Concurrent with the closing of the Transactions, the Company expects to complete a non-
brokered private placement (the “Offering”) to raise gross proceeds of a minimum of 
$75,000 and a maximum of $150,000 through the issuance of common shares at the 
discounted market price, in accordance with stock exchange policies. It is anticipated that 
the subscribers to the Offering will be arms-length accredited investors. 
 
Also concurrent with the closing of the Transactions, the current directors and officers of the 
Company will resign and new directors and officers will be nominated by Quebec Co. After 
giving effect to the Transactions, it is expected that the Company will carry on business 
under a different name (acceptable to the applicable authorities) and the Synergy Shares 
are expected to be listed on the CNSX under a new trading symbol. 
 
Quebec Co will retain a 1% net smelter royalty ("NSR") on each Claim with the Company 
having the right to purchase one-half (0.5%) of the NSR at any time by paying $500,000 to 
Quebec Co. Concurrent with the closing of the Transactions , the Company and 9248-7792 
Quebec Inc. will enter into an exclusive exploration work management agreement. 
 
The Company is entitled to a break-up fee equal to the sum of $15,000, less any amount 
already paid by Quebec Co. for the Company’s expenses, if the closing of the Transactions 
does not occur due to Quebec Co’s unilateral decision not to pursue the Transactions, other 
than by reason of Quebec Co.’s reasonable dissatisfaction with the results of its legal (but 
not business or financial) due diligence. The Transactions is an arm's length transaction and 
therefore is not a related party transaction.   
 

10.              

           

       Post reporting date event  (cont’d) 

 

On July 15, 2013 the Company voluntarily requested to halt the trading of its shares on the 

NEX board of the TSX Venture Exchange Inc. pending the completion of the Transactions. 

 

 
 

11.              

           

       Authorization of financial statements 

 



 

 
 

 

 

The financial statements for the interim period ended June 30, 2013 (including 

comparatives) were authorized for issue by the board of directors on August 13, 2013.  

 

“Don Caron“                                                  “  Jason Theiss” 

_________________                                 __________________ 

Don Caron, Director              Jason Theiss, Director 
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Independent Auditors’ Report  

To the Shareholders of 

Synergy Acquisition Corp.  

 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Synergy Acquisition Corp. which 

comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 

and the statements of loss and comprehensive loss, statements of changes in equity and the 

statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, and a 

summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such 

internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditor’s responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 

Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 

material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 

financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
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policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.



 
 

 

3 

 

 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate 

to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

 

Opinion 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of Synergy Acquisition Corp.  as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 and its 

financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2012 and December 

31, 2011 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.  

 

Emphasis of matter 

 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the financial statements which 

indicates that for the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company has incurred a net loss of 

$37,656 (December 31, 2011 - $45,936), has negative cash flow from operations of $37,322 

(December 31, 2011 - $32,225), and as at December 31, 2012 had negative working capital of 

$888 (December 31, 2011 - $60,956) and an accumulated deficit of $5,494,656 (December 31, 

2011 - $5,457,000). These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate 

the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

 
Edmonton, Canada 
 

April ●, 2013      Chartered 
Accountants 



 
  

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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Synergy Acquisition Corp. 
Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
(Canadian dollars) 
Year Ended December 31    2012 2011
           
       
  

   

Expenses     
    
  Corporate administration  $         20,538  $           29,345 
  Professional fees  17,118  16,591 

    
  37,656 45,936 

    
Net loss and comprehensive loss   $         37,656 $           45,936 

    

    
Basic and diluted weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding  

     3,120,222     2,590,167 

    
Basic and diluted loss per share  $        (0.012)   $          (0.018)   

    
    
         



 
  

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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Synergy Acquisition Corp. 
Statements of Financial Position  December 31, December 31,    

  (Canadian dollars)      2012  2011 
           

 
Assets 
Current 
 Cash    $ 25,766 $ 5,864 
    GST receivable    2,112  2,189
    
      
    $ 27,878 $ 8,053 
   
     
 
Liabilities 
Current 
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 28,766 $ 28,509    
    Due to related party (Note 5)      -    40,500      
     28,766  69,009     
  
Shareholders’ Deficiency 
Share capital (Note 6)    2,000,443  1,902,719       
Contributed surplus     3,493,325  3,493,325        
Deficit     (5,494,656) 
 (5,457,000)      
      (888)  (60,956)     
 
     $ 27,878 $  8,053  
 
 
 
 



 
  

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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Synergy Acquisition Corp. 
Statements of Changes in Equity  
(Canadian dollars) 
          

          

  
 Common Shares   

 

Contributed  
 

Accumulated  Shareholders’ 

   Number    Amount     Surplus     Deficit     Deficiency  

          

 Balance at 

January 1, 

2011      15,541,000  $      1,902,719   $  3,493,325   $    (5,411,064)  $        (15,020)  

          

 Share 

consolidation 

(Note 6)   (12,950,833) -    -  -    -    

          

 Net loss   - -       -       (45,936)    (45,936) 

          

December 

31, 2011       2,590,167  $      1,902,719    $  3,493,325    $    (5,457,000)   $        (60,956) 

          

          

          

  
 Common Shares   

 

Contributed  
 

Accumulated  Shareholders' 

   Number    Amount     Surplus     Deficit     Deficiency  

          

 Balance at 

January 1, 

2012      2,590,167  $     1,902,719   $  3,493,325   $      (5,457,000)  $        (60,956) 

          

Private 

placement 

(Note 6)  666,667 97,724  -  -  97,724 

 Net loss    - -       -       (37,656)    (37,656) 

          

December 

31, 2012   3,256,834  $     2,000,443    $  3,493,325    $     (5,494,656)   $            (888) 

          

 



 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 
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Synergy Acquisition Corp. 
Statements of Cash Flows 
(Canadian dollars) 
Year ended December 31       2012 2011  
   

    

Cash provided by (used in) 
   

Operating    

Net loss  $        (37,656) $        (45,936) 
    
Change in non-cash operating working capital:   
    GST receivable  77 (464) 
    Accounts payable and accrued  liabilities  257 14,175 

  (37,322) (32,225) 
    
Financing    
Issuance of share capital, net of issuance costs (Note 6) 97,724 - 
Repayment to related party (Note 5)  (40,500) 30,500 
  57,224 30,500 
    
Increase (decrease) in cash  19,902 (1,725) 
    
Cash    
 Beginning of year  5,864 7,589 
    
 End of year  $        25,766 $          5,864 

    
    
    

 

       
 
 



 

 
 

2 

 

1. Nature of operations 

 

Synergy Acquisition Corp. (the “Company” or “SAQ”) was incorporated under the Business 

Companys Act (Alberta) on June 24, 2003.   

 

The Company is a public company listed on the NEX board of the TSX Venture Exchange, 

trading under the symbol SAQ.H. Although it does not currently have an ongoing business, 

it is actively seeking opportunities.  The Company’s registered office is 1500 Manulife 

Place, 10180 110 Street, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T5J 4K1. 

 

 

2. Going concern 
 

These financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a 

going concern. The going concern basis of presentation assumes the Company will continue 

in operation for the foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and discharge its 

liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. During the year ended 

December 31, 2012, the Company incurred a loss of $37,656 (December 31, 2011 - 

$45,936) and had negative cash flow from operations of $37,322 (December 31, 2011 - 

$32,225). In addition, the Company had negative working capital of $888 (December 31, 

2011 - $60,956) and an accumulated deficit of $5,494,656 as at December 31, 2012 

(December 31, 2011 - $5,457,000). 

 

The above factors raise significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. Although the Company does not require significant funds to continue current 

operations, management has taken actions to address these issues including completing a 

private placement (Note 6) and lending the Company funds to meet ongoing regulatory 

filings.  The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to 

acquire and or obtain additional financing to fund a positive cash flow acquisition. 

 

The financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going 

concern assumption were not appropriate. If the going concern basis was not appropriate for 

these financial statements, then adjustments would be necessary in the carrying value of 

assets and liabilities, the reported expenses, and the classifications on the statement of 

financial position used.   

 
 

3. Basis of presentation   
 

The Company is required to present the annual financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  In conjunction with this, these 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).   
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The significant accounting policies that have been applied in the preparation of these 
financial statements are summarized in Note 4 below.   
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4.   Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
Use of estimates 
 
In preparing financial statements to conform with IFRS, management is required to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the 

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results 

could differ from those estimates. 

 

Income taxes 

 

The Company uses the liability method for determining income taxes.  Under this method, 

deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between their 

respective carrying amounts and tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 

based on enacted or substantively enacted tax rates and laws at the date of the financial 

statements for the years in which these temporary differences are expected to reverse. 

 

In assessing whether the deferred tax assets are realizable, management considers whether it 
is probable that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized.  
 
The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets depends upon the generation of future taxable 
income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible and tax 
losses are utilized. 
 

Loss per share 

 

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of 

shares outstanding during the reporting period.  Diluted loss per share is computed similar 

to basic loss per share except that the weighted average shares outstanding are increased 

to include additional shares from the assumed conversion of preferred shares and exercise 

of outstanding warrants and stock options, if dilutive. Basic and diluted loss per share is the 

same as the Company has no options, warrants or preferred shares issued.  

 

The weighted average number of shares outstanding for the comparative period has been 

adjusted for the share consolidation as if it occurred January 1, 2011.  

 

Stock-based payments 

 

The Company has a stock-based compensation plan, which is described in Note 6.  The 

Company uses the fair value method of accounting for stock options. The fair value of an 

option grant is calculated using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model and recognized as 

compensation expense over the vesting period of those grants. A corresponding adjustment 

is recorded in contributed surplus. On the exercise of stock options, the proceeds received 
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by the Company, together with the related amounts in contributed surplus are credited to 

share capital. Estimations are utilized in the determination of forfeitures and cancellations. 

 

 



 

 
 

6 

 

4.   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 

Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 

Financial instruments  
 

The Company classifies all financial assets as held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, held-

for-trading or available-for-sale and all financial liabilities as held-for-trading or other. 

Financial instruments classified as held-for-trading are measured at fair value with changes 

in fair value recognized in profit or loss. Financial assets classified as held-to-maturity or as 

loans and receivables and financial liabilities not classified as held-for-trading are initially 

recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost. Available-for-sale 

financial assets are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in other 

comprehensive income.  

The Company has made the following classifications: 

 

Accounts payable and other liabilities, as well as due to related parties are classified as 

other financial liabilities.  

 

Cash is classified as loans and receivables. 

 

Recent pronouncements not yet effective and that have not been early adopted 

 

The Company has reviewed new and revised accounting pronouncements that have been 

issued but are not yet effective as at the date of authorization of these financial statements 

and determined that the following may have an impact on the Company: 

 

The Company will be required to adopt IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments as of January 1, 

2015. The new standard was issued as part of the IASB plan to replace IAS 39 – Financial 

Instruments with a more robust set of standards for the reporting of financial instruments. 

The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s 

financial statements.  

 

The Company will be required to adopt IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements which 

supersedes IAS 27 – Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and SIC 12 – 

Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities as of January 1, 2013. The standard revises the 

definition of control together with accompanying guidance to identify an interest in a 

subsidiary. The basic requirements and mechanics of consolidation and accounting for non-

controlling interests and change in control remain the same. The adoption of this standard is 

not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

 

The Company will be required to adopt IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement as of January 1, 

2013. The new standard does not affect which items are required to be fair-valued, but 

clarifies the definition of fair value and provides related guidance and enhanced disclosures 
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about fair value measurements. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a 

material impact on the Company’s financial statements, unless a successful acquisition of a 

company or assets. 

 

The Company will be required to adopt the Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of 

Financial Statements as of January 1, 2013. The Amendments require the Company to 

group items presented in other comprehensive income into those that, in accordance with 

other IFRSs, will not be reclassified subsequently into profit or loss, and those that will be 

reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met. The Company 

expects that this will change the presentation of items in other comprehensive income, but  

 

4.   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 

Recent pronouncements not yet effective and that have not been early adopted 

(cont’d) 

 

the adoption of this standard amendment will not have a material impact on the Company’s 

financial statements.  

 
 

5.    Due to related party and related party transactions 

 
  December 31,   December 31,    

    2012  2011      2011 

   

Opening balance   $ 40,500 $  10,000   

 

Settlement (a)   (40,500)  - 

Advance (a)    -  30,500  

  

Closing balance    $ - $ 40,500   

 

The related party transactions are conducted on the terms and conditions agreed to by the 
related parties and are recorded at their exchange amounts. 
 
(a)  These balances represent advances (repayments) from (to) a company over which a 
director has control.  
 

(b)  For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company received legal services of $3,414 
(2011 – $4,591) from a company over which a director has significant influence.  
 

(c)  Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $3,414 (2011 – $2,431) payable to 
a company over which a director has significant influence. 
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6. Capital stock  
 
b) Share capital 
 
Authorized: 

 Unlimited number of common shares, without par value 

 Unlimited number of preferred shares, without par value, issuable in series 

 

Issued and outstanding common shares: Number Amount 

 

Opening balance, January 1, 2011      15,541,000 $ 1,902,719 

 

Share consolidation (i)   (12,950,833)         - 

Closing balance, December 31, 2011       2,590,167 $   1,902,719 

 

Private placement (ii)       666,667  97,724 

 

Closing balance, December 30, 2012       3,256,834 $   2,000,443 

 

6.  Capital stock (cont’d) 

 

(i)   On May 12, 2011, the Company received approval from the TSX Venture Exchange to 

complete a consolidation of its outstanding shares on the basis of one post-consolidation 

common share for every six pre-consolidation shares held (“Consolidation”) in accordance 

with the approvals received from its shareholders at the annual and special meeting of 

shareholders held February 8, 2011. The 15,541,000 pre-consolidation common shares of the 

Company outstanding immediately prior to the Consolidation were reduced to 2,590,167 post 

consolidation common shares of the Company. 

 

(ii)   On March 15, 2012, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement of 666,667 

common shares of the Company at the price of $0.15 per common share to Don Caron, the 

Chairman and a director of the Company, David Tam, a director of the Company and Eric 

Sauze, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary of the Company. Gross proceeds were $100,000 

less issuance costs of $2,276.  The shares are subject to a TSX Venture Exchange hold 

period that expired on July 6, 2012. 

 
b)          Stock options to employees and directors 

 

The Company has established a stock option plan for its directors, executive officers, 

employees, and other key personnel.  The Board of Directors may designate which 

directors, officers, employees and other key personnel of the Company are to be granted 

stock options.  The expiry date, vesting terms and exercise price of any stock option granted 

are determined by the Board of Directors at the time of the grant, subject to regulatory 

requirements.  An option granted under the stock option plan may vest at such times as the 

Board of Directors of the Company may determine at the time of granting, subject to the 

rules of any stock exchange or other regulatory body having jurisdiction.  Stock options are 

not assignable.  Provision is made for accelerated vesting in certain circumstances and 
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early termination in the event of death or cessation of employment. The exercise price of 

each stock option is set to be not lower than the lowest exercise price permitted by any 

exchange and with a maximum term of not longer than five years from the date of grant.   

 

No stock options were granted during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. 

 
 
7.  Income taxes  

 
The Company has unused non-capital income tax losses available for carry forward in 
Canada of $1,760,757 (December 31, 2011 - $1,722,646).  The benefit of these losses has 
not been recognized in these financial statements.  These losses are available to reduce 
taxable income in Canada in future periods and may be carried forward for 20 years for non-
capital losses and indefinitely for capital losses. These losses expire as follows: 
      As at     
Year of loss Dec 31, 2012 Expiry   
 2005   $ 91,346  2025   
 2006    919,509 2026   
 2007  567,970 2027  
 2008  32,972 2028          
 2009  24,984 2029          
 2010  39,931 2030    
 2011  45,934 2031 
 2012  38,111 2032 
  $1,760,757  
8.  Financial instruments 
 
a)   Fair values 

 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities, as well as due to related parties. The fair values of these financial instruments 

approximate their carrying values due to their short-term maturity. 

 
b) Liquidity risk 
 

The Company’s exposure to liquidity risk is dependent on the ability to raise funds to meet 
purchase commitments and to sustain operations. The Company monitors its liquidity risk by 
managing working capital and cash flows.  
 
 
9. Capital management 
 
The Company manages its capital to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and to preserve financial flexibility in order to fund growth and expansionary 
opportunities that may arise. The Company defines capital as its shareholders’ deficiency. As at 
December 31, 2012, shareholders’ deficiency was $888 (December 31, 2011 – $60,956). The 
Company is not subjected to capital requirements imposed by a regulator. The Company does 
not have debt and is not subject to any debt covenant provisions or externally imposed capital 
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requirements. Prudent cash management is augmented by on-going analysis conducted by 
management. There has been no change to the management of capital in the year.  

 
 

10.              

           

       Authorization of financial statements 

 
The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012 (including comparatives) 
were authorized for issue by the board of directors on April 25, 2013.  
 
          
 
“Don Caron” “ Jason Theiss” 
_______________________ ____________________________ 
Don Caron, Director       
  Jason Theiss, Director 
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Independent Auditor’s Report  

 

 

To the Shareholders of 

Synergy Acquisition Corp. (formerly Neo Alliance Mineral Inc.) 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Synergy Acquisition Corp. (formerly 

Neo Alliance Mineral Inc.) which comprise the statements of financial position as at December 

31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010 and the statements of loss and 

comprehensive loss, statements of changes in equity and the statements of cash flows for the 

years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, and a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such 

internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditor’s responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 

Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 

material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 

financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
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circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate 

to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

 

Opinion 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of Synergy Acquisition Corp. (formerly Neo Alliance Mineral Inc.) as at December 31, 

2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010 and its financial performance and its cash flows 

for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards.  

 

Emphasis of matter 

 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the financial statements which 

indicates that for the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company has incurred a net loss of 

$45,936, has negative cash flow from operations of $32,225, and as at December 31, 2011 had 

negative working capital of $60,955 and an accumulated deficit of $5,457,000. These conditions, 

along with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty 

that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

 
Edmonton, Canada 
 

April ●, 2012      Chartered 
Accountants 



 
  

                          See accompanying notes to the financial statements.      
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Synergy Acquisition Corp. 
Statements of Loss and  
Comprehensive Loss 
(Canadian dollars) 
Year Ended December 31    2011 2010
                
       
  

  (Note 13) 

Expenses     
    
  Corporate administration  $           29,345  $              28,665 
  Professional fees  16,591  11,265 

    
  45,936 39,930 

    
Net loss and comprehensive loss   $        45,936 $               39,930 

    

    
Basic and diluted weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding  

     13,290,605     32,178,500 

    
Basic and diluted loss per share  $          (0.003)        $             (0.001)        
    
    
         



 
  

                          See accompanying notes to the financial statements.      

3 

Synergy Acquisition Corp. 
Statements of Financial Position December 31, December 31,   January 1, 

  (Canadian dollars)     2011 2010 2010 
               (Note 13) 

 
Assets 
Current 
 Cash  $ 5,864 $ 7,589          $13,821 
    GST receivable   2,189  1,725   33,122 
    Due from related party (Note 7)   -  -  492,792 
 
    8,053       9,314           539,735 
 
Investment in subsidiaries (Note 6)   -  -  1 
  
   $ 8,053 $ 9,314   $   539,736 
 
 
Liabilities 
Current 
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 28,508      $ 14,334        $     22,033 
    Due to related party (Note 7)     40,500    10,000      492,792 
 
    69,008       24,334           514,825 
  
Shareholders’ (Deficiency) Equity 
Share capital (Note 8)  1,902,719  1,902,719          4,126,094 
Contributed surplus   3,493,325  3,493,325          1,269,951 
Deficit  (5,457,000)  (5,411,064)    (5,371,134) 
 
    (60,955)   (15,020)         24,911 
 
   $ 8,053 $  9,314      $   539,736 
 
 
 
 



 
  

                          See accompanying notes to the financial statements.      
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Synergy Acquisition Corp. 
Statements of Changes in Equity  
(Canadian dollars) 
          

          

  
 Common Shares   

 

Contributed  
 

 

Accumulated  
 Shareholders’    

  
 Number    Amount     Surplus     Deficit    

Equity 

(Deficiency)  

          

 Balance at 

January 1, 2010 

(Note 14)     33,691,000  $4,126,094   $1,269,951   ($5,371,134)  $24,911  

          

 Cancellation of 

common shares 

(Notes 5)   (18,150,000) 

  

(2,223,375)      2,223,374                           -    

          

 Net loss                            -      

           

(39,930)              (39,930) 

          

December 31, 

2010 (Note 13)      15,541,000  $1,902,719    $3,493,325    ($5,411,064)   ($15,020) 

          

          

          

  

 Common 

Shares  
  

 

Contributed  
 

 

Accumulated  
 Shareholders' 

   Number    Amount     Surplus     Deficit     Deficiency  

          

 Balance at 

January 1, 2011      15,541,000  $1,902,719   $3,493,325   ($5,411,064)  ($15,020) 

          

 Share 

consolidation 

(Note 8)    (12,950,833)        

          

 Net loss                             -      

           

(45,936)              (45,936) 

          

December 31, 

2011        2,590,167  $1,902,719    $3,493,325    ($5,457,000)   ($60,955) 
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Synergy Acquisition Corp. 
Statements of Cash Flows 
(Canadian dollars) 
Year ended December 31        2011 2010                                                                                  
   

    

Cash provided by (used in) 
  (Note 13) 

Operating    

Net loss  $            (45,936) $            (39,930) 
    
Change in non-cash operating  working 
capital: 

   

    GST receivable  (463) 31,397 
    Accounts payable and accrued  liabilities  14,174 (7,699) 

  (32,225) (16,232) 
    
Financing    
Advances from related party (Note 7)  30,500 10,000 
  30,500 10,000 
    
Decrease in cash  (1,725) (6,232) 
    
Cash    
      Beginning of year  7,589 13,821 
    
      End of year  $                5,864 $            7,589 

    
    
    

 

Supplementary cash flow information: 

 

Non-cash transactions: 

 

  $ nil $ nil 
       

 
 



 

 

   

1. Nature of operations 

 

Synergy Acquisition Corp. (the “Company” or “SAQ”) (formerly Neo Alliance Minerals Inc.) 

was incorporated under the Business Companys Act (Alberta) on June 24, 2003.   

 

Effective December 29, 2008, the shareholders approved a reorganization of the Company 

as outlined in Note 5.  All regulatory approvals for the reorganization were received on 

December 1, 2010 (Note 11).   

 

The Company changed its name from Neo Alliance Minerals Inc. to Synergy Acquisition 

Corp. effective December 16, 2010.  

 

The Company is a public company listed on the NEX board of the TSX Venture Exchange, 

trading under the symbol SAQ.H. Although it does not currently have an ongoing business, 

it is actively seeking opportunities.        

 

 

2. Going concern 
 

These financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a 

going concern. The going concern basis of presentation assumes the Company will continue 

in operation for the foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and discharge its 

liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. During the year ended 

December 31, 2011, the Company incurred a loss of $45,936 and had negative cash flow 

from operations of $32,225. In addition, the Company had negative working capital of 

$60,955 and an accumulated deficit of $5,457,000 as at December 31, 2011. 

 

The above factors raise significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. Although the Company does not require significant funds to continue current 

operations, management has taken actions to address these issues including recently 

completing a private placement (Note 14)  and lending the Company funds to meet ongoing 

regulatory filings.  The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon 

its ability to acquire and or obtain additional financing to fund a positive cash flow 

acquisition. 

 

The financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going 

concern assumption were not appropriate. If the going concern basis was not appropriate for 

these financial statements, then adjustments would be necessary in the carrying value of 

assets and liabilities, the reported expenses, and the classifications on the statement of 

financial position used.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

   

 

 
3. Basis of presentation   
 

The Company is required to present the annual financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2011 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”).  In conjunction with this, these financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  
These financial statements present the Company’s initial financial results of operations and 
financial position under IFRS as at and for the year ended December 31, 2011, including 
comparative amounts as at December 31, 2010 and for the year ended and as at January 1, 
2010. These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS 1, “First-
time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards” and with International 
Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements”.   
 
The significant accounting policies that have been applied in the preparation of these 
financial statements are summarized in Note 4 below.  These accounting policies have been 
used throughout all periods presented in these financial statements except where the 
Company has applied certain accounting policies and exemptions upon transition to IFRS.  
 
 
 
4.  Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
First time adoption of IFRS 
 
The Company has adopted IFRS on January 1, 2011 with a transition date of January 1, 2010.  
Under IFRS 1 “First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”, IFRS is 
applied retrospectively at the transition date with all adjustments to assets and liabilities as 
previously stated under Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) taken to 
retained earnings unless certain exemption are applied.  The Company is not applying any 
exemptions on first-time adoption of IFRS, other than as identified in Note 13. 
 
IFRS employs a conceptual framework that is similar to GAAP.  The adoption of IFRS has no 
significant impact on the statements of financial position, statement of loss and comprehensive 
loss, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows as previously reported under 
GAAP.   
 
Use of estimates 
 

In preparing financial statements to conform with IFRS, management is required to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the 

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results 

could differ from those estimates. 

 

Income taxes 

 

The Company uses the liability method for determining income taxes.  Under this method, 

deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between their 

respective carrying amounts and tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 

based on enacted or substantively enacted tax rates and laws at the date of the financial 

statements for the years in which these temporary differences are expected to reverse. 

 

 



 

 

   

4.  Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
In assessing whether the deferred tax assets are realizable, management considers whether it 
is probable that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized.  
 
The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets depends upon the generation of future taxable 
income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible and tax 
losses are utilized. 
 

Loss per share 

 

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of 

shares outstanding during the reporting period.  Diluted loss per share are computed similar 

to basic loss per share except that the weighted average shares outstanding are increased 

to include additional shares from the assumed conversion of preferred shares and exercise 

of outstanding warrants and stock options, if dilutive. Basic and diluted loss per share is the 

same as the Company has no options, warrants or preferred shares issued.  

 

Stock-based payments 

 

The Company has a stock-based compensation plan, which is described in Note 8.  The 

Company uses the fair value method of accounting for stock options. The fair value of an 

option grant is calculated using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model and recognized as 

compensation expense over the vesting period of those grants. A corresponding adjustment 

is recorded in contributed surplus. On the exercise of stock options, the proceeds received 

by the Company, together with the related amounts in contributed surplus are credited to 

share capital. Estimations are utilized the effect of forfeitures and cancellations. 

 

 

Financial Instruments  
 

The Company classifies all financial assets as held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, held-

for-trading or available-for-sale and all financial liabilities as held-for-trading or other. 

Financial instruments classified as held-for-trading are measured at fair value with changes 

in fair value recognized in profit or loss. Financial assets classified as held-to-maturity or as 

loans and receivables and financial liabilities not classified as held-for-trading are initially 

recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost. Available-for-sale 

financial assets are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in other 

comprehensive income  

 

The Company has made the following classifications: 

 

Accounts payable and other liabilities, as well as due from and due to related parties are 

classified as other financial liabilities.  

 

Cash is classified as loans and receivables. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

   

 

4.  Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

Recent pronouncements not yet effective and that have not been adopted early 

 

The Company has reviewed new and revised accounting pronouncements that have been 

issued but are not yet effective as at the date of authorization of these financial statements 

and determined that the following may have an impact on the Company: 

 

The Company will be required to adopt IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments as of January 1, 

2015. The new standard was issued as part of the IASB plan to replace IAS 39 – Financial 

Instruments with a more robust set of standards for the reporting of financial instruments. 

The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s 

financial statements.  

 

The Company will be required to adopt IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements which 

supersedes IAS 27 – Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and SIC 12 – 

Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities as of January 1, 2013. The standard revises the 

definition of control together with accompanying guidance to identify an interest in a 

subsidiary. The basic requirements and mechanics of consolidation and accounting f o non-

controlling interests and change in control remain the same. The Company has not yet 

assessed the impact of this standard on the Company’s financial statements. 

 

The Company will be required to adopt IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement as of January 1, 

2013. The new standard does not affect which items are required to be fair-valued, but 

clarifies the definition of fair value and provides related guidance and enhanced disclosures 

about fair value measurements. Management has not yet assessed the impact of this new 

standard on the Company’s financial statements.   

 

The Company will be required to adopt the Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of 

Financial Statements as of January 1, 2013. The Amendments require the Company to 

group items presented in other comprehensive income into those that, in accordance with 

other IFRSs, will not be reclassified subsequently into profit or loss, and those that will be 

reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met. The Company 

expects that this will change the presentation of items in other comprehensive income, but 

the adoption of this standard amendment will not have a material impact on the Company’s 

financial statements.  

 

5.  Reorganization 

 

Effective December 29, 2008, the shareholders of the Company approved a reorganization 

agreement (the “Transactions ”), providing for the sale by the Company of its subsidiaries to 

a former shareholder.  The sale of its subsidiaries was satisfied by the cancellation of 

18,150,000 common shares of the Company owned by a former shareholder along with all 

current and future obligations, including property and other obligations and any liabilities of 

whatsoever type.   

 

Despite pending approvals as at December 31, 2008, management determined that the 

Company had lost control and significant influence over its subsidiaries immediately 



 

 

   

following the Transactions , and therefore had utilized the cost method to account for its 

subsidiaries. 

 

On July 23, 2009, the Company received conditional approval for the Transactions  from the 

TSX Venture Exchange pending a full or partial revocation of the cease trade order from 

certain Canadian securities commissions.  The full revocation order was received on 

December 1, 2010 and the Transactions  was thus completed. 

 

As part of the Transactions , the Company acquired and cancelled 18,150,000 common 

shares of the Company.  As the cost to acquire such shares was below their average cost, 

the cost was allocated to share capital (Note 8) in an amount equal to the average cost of 

the shares and the remainder to contributed surplus.  The amount allocated to the share 

capital account was based on the historical average cost per share of $0.12 as at December 

1, 2010, the date the revocation order was received.  The cost to acquire the shares was $1, 

the value of the subsidiaries sold. 

 

 

6.  Investment in subsidiary 

 

 December 31, December 31,        January 1, 

  2011   2010              2010  

 

Opening Balance $ -  $        1  $          1 

 

Sale of investment following approval 
   of the Transactions   (Note 5)               -              (1)                                   

 - 

  

Closing Balance  $ - $         -             $ 1 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

   

7.       Due from (to) related party and related party transactions 
 
 
 December 31, December 31,        January 1, 

  2011   2010              2010  2010 

   

Opening Balance  $ - $        492,792        $  492,792 

 

Settlement (a)                    -         (492,792)                                   

- 

  

Closing Balance  $ - $         -             $ 492,792 

 

 
 
 December 31, December 31,        January 1, 

  2011   2010              2010  2010 

   

Opening Balance $ (10,000) $        (492,792)        $  (492,792) 

 

Settlement (b) -          492,792                                   

- 

Advance (c)  (30,500)  (10,000)                          

- 

  

Closing Balance  $ (40,500) $        (10,000)             $ (492,792) 

 

The related party transactions are conducted on the terms and conditions agreed to by the 
related parties and are recorded at their exchange amounts. 
 
(a) The $492,792 “Due from related parties” represents intercompany loans from the 

Company to two related parties. These loans were repaid with the related party payable of 

$492,792 following the receipt of the December 1, 2010 revocation order.  

 
(b)  This loan was made by a former shareholder directly to the Company who, in turn, 
invested the funds into its subsidiaries.  This obligation formed part of the Transactions  
described in Note 5, therefore once the December 1, 2010 revocation order was received, this 
loan was repaid with the related party receivable of $492,792.  
 

(c)  These balances represent advances from a company over which a director has significant 
influence.  
 

(d)  For the year ended December 31, 2011 the Company received legal services of $3,053 
(2010 – $1,065) from a company over which a director has significant influence.  
 

(e)  Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $2,431 (2010 – $2,600) payable to 
a company over which a director has significant influence. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

   

 
8. Capital stock  
 
c) Share Capital 
 
Authorized: 
 Unlimited number of common shares, without par value 
 Unlimited number of preferred shares, without par value, issuable in series 
 
b)  Share consolidation 

 

On May 12, 2011, the Company received approval from the TSX Venture Exchange to 

complete a consolidation of its outstanding shares on the basis of one post-consolidation 

common share for every six pre-consolidation shares held (“Consolidation”) in accordance 

with the approvals received from its shareholders at the annual and special meeting of 

shareholders held on February 8, 2011.  The 15,541,000 pre-consolidation common shares 

of the Company outstanding immediately prior to the Consolidation were reduced to 

2,590,167 post-consolidation common shares of the Company. 

 
c)  Share purchase warrants 
 

As at December 31, 2011 there were Nil (December 31, 2010 & January 1, 2010 – Nil) 

warrants outstanding.  

 
d)  Stock options to employees and directors 
 

The Company has established a stock option plan for its directors, executive officers, 

employees, and other key personnel.  The Board of Directors may designate which directors, 

officers, employees and other key personnel of the Company are to be granted stock options.  

The expiry date, vesting terms and exercise price of any stock option granted are determined 

by the Board of Directors at the time of the grant, subject to regulatory requirements.  An option 

granted under the stock option plan may vest at such times as the Board of Directors of the 

Company may determine at the time of granting, subject to the rules of any stock exchange or 

other regulatory body having jurisdiction.  Stock options are not assignable.  Provision is made 

for accelerated vesting in certain circumstances and early termination in the event of death or 

cessation of employment. The exercise price of each stock option is set to be not lower than 

the lowest exercise price permitted by any exchange and with a maximum term of not longer 

than five years from the date of grant.   

 

To date, stock options vested with one third becoming exercisable after 6 months of the grant, 

one third after 12 months, and one third after 18 months.  The options became fully exercisable 

after 18 months.  No stock options were granted during the years ended December 31, 2011 

and 2010. 
 

8. Capital stock (cont’d) 

 

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plan for the periods presented and 

changes during the periods ended on those dates follows:  

 

                                         Number of    Weighted average 

       stock options exercise price 

   $ 



 

 

   

 

Outstanding and exercisable, January 1, 2010   700,000                0.20 

 

Forfeited, March 15, 2010                                                 (700,000)                    0.20 

 

Outstanding and exercisable, December 31, 2010 and 2011 nil  0.20 

 

 
 
 
 

  



 

 

   

9.  Income taxes  

 
The Company has unused non-capital income tax losses available for carry forward in 
Canada of $1,722,646 (December 31, 2010 - $1,676,712, January 1, 2010 - $1,143,990).  The 
benefit of these losses has not been recognized in these financial statements.  These losses 
are available to reduce taxable income in Canada in future periods and may be carried 
forward for 20 years for non-capital losses and indefinitely for capital losses. These losses 
expire as follows: 
 

                    As at                                        
Year of loss          Dec 31, 2010                 Expiry             
2005                      91,346               -           2025   
2006                      919,509             -              2026   
2007                     567,970             -              2027  
2008                     32,972               -              2028                   
2009                     24,984               -              2029                   
2010                     39,931               -              2030    
                              $1,676,712  
 
10. Financial instruments 
 
a)   Fair values 

 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities, as well as due from and due to related parties. The fair values of these financial 

instruments approximate their carrying values due to their short-term maturity. 

 
b) Liquidity Risk 
 

The Company’s exposure to liquidity risk is dependent on the ability to raise funds to meet 
purchase commitments and to sustain operations. The Company monitors its liquidity risk by 
managing working capital and cash flows.  
 

 
11. Cease trade order and trading reinstatement 

 

On May 7, 2007, the Company received a cease trade order issued by the Alberta 

Securities Commission (“ASC”) and on May 9, 2007, the Company received a cease trade 

order issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission (“BCSC”) for failure to file its 

financial statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the year ended 

December 31, 2006 on a timely basis.  The Company subsequently filed the December 31, 

2006 financial statements and management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) on 

September 5, 2007. On September 28, 2009, the ASC issued a variation of cease trade 

order for the sole purpose of allowing the Company to enter into an agreement to effect the 

Transactions  (Note 5). On February 24, 2010, the Company applied to the ASC and BCSC 

for the full revocation order. Effective December 1, 2010, both cease trade orders were 

revoked and on December 20, 2010, the Company was reinstated and resumed trading on 

the NEX board of the TSX Venture Exchange. 

 
 
12.     Capital Management 

 
The Company manages its capital to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and to preserve financial flexibility in order to fund growth and expansionary 
opportunities that may arise. The Company defines capital as its shareholders’ deficiency. As at 



 

 

   

December 31, 2011, shareholders’ deficiency was $60,955 (December 31,2010 –$15,020, 
January 1, 2010 – shareholders’ equity $24,911). The Company is not subjected to capital 
requirements imposed by a regulator. Other than the related party advance, the Company does 
not have debt and is not subject to any debt covenant provisions or externally imposed capital 
requirements. Prudent cash management is augmented by ongoing analysis conducted by 
management. There has been no change to the management of capital in the year.  
 

13.  First Time Adoption of IFRS 

 

As disclosed in Note 3, these financial statements comprise the Company’s first annual 
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS 1, “First time adoption of 
International Financial Reporting Standards” and IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial 
Statements”.  The Company previously prepared its interim and annual consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with GAAP. The date of transition from GAAP to IFRS 
was January 1, 2010.  
 
The financial statements presented for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 
31, 2010, and the statements of financial position at January 1, 2010 and December 31, 
2010 have all been prepared using the Company’s IFRS accounting policies as presented in 
Note 4 above.  
 
The Company has applied IFRS 1 – First time adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards in preparing these first annual IFRS financial statements. There were no effects 
of the transition on equity, total comprehensive income, and reported cash flows. 
 
The Company has elected not to apply IFRS 2 – Share-based Payments to equity 
instruments granted to employees and non-employees that vested on or before the date of 
transition. This includes equity instruments granted under the reverse asset acquisition 
which occurred on March 29, 2006.  
 
 
 
14.  Events After the Reporting Period 

 

On March 15, 2012, the Company announced it had closed a non-brokered private 

placement of 666,667 common shares of the Company at the price of $0.15 per common 

share to Don Caron, the Chairman and a director of the Company, David Tam, a director of 

the Company and Eric Sauze, Chief Financial Officer of the Company. The shares are 

subject to a TSX Venture Exchange hold period expiring on July 6, 2012. 

 

The Company intends to use the proceeds from the sale of the common shares for general 

working capital. 

 

 

 

15.  Authorization of financial statements 

 
The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011 (including comparatives) 
were approved by the board of directors on April 24, 2012.  
 
          
 
“Don Caron “ Jason Theiss” 
_______________________ ____________________________ 
Don Caron, Director Jason Theiss, Director 
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Independent Auditors’ Report  

 

To the Shareholders of 
Synergy Acquisition Corp. (formerly Neo Alliance Minerals Inc.) 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Synergy Acquisition Corp. (formerly 

Neo Alliance Minerals Inc.), which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2010 and the 

statements of loss, comprehensive loss and deficit and the statement of cash flows for the year 

then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information. 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 

statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such 

internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 

standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 

financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
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OPINION 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of Synergy Acquisition Corp. (formerly Neo Alliance Minerals Inc.) as at December 

31, 2010 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.  

 

EMPHASIS OF MATTER 

 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the financial statements which 

indicates that for the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company has incurred a net loss of 

$39,930, has negative cash flow from operations of $16,232, and as at December 31, 2010 had 

negative working capital of $15,020 and an accumulated deficit of $5,411,064. These conditions, 

along with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty 

that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

OTHER MATTER  

 

The restated financial statements of Synergy Acquisition Corp. (formerly Neo Alliance Minerals 

Inc.) for the year ended December 31, 2009, were audited by another auditor who expressed an 

unmodified opinion on those statements on February 24, 2010, except as to Notes 3 and 21 of 

those statements which were as of October 15, 2010. 

 

 

Edmonton, Canada 

 

April 20, 2011      Chartered 
Accountants 



 

                          See accompanying notes to the financial statements.      
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Synergy Acquisition Corp.  
(formerly Neo Alliance Minerals Inc.) 
Statements of Loss, Comprehensive Loss and Deficit 
Year Ended December 31        2010          2009
   

 
 

Expenses      
    
Corporate administration $  28,665  $ 14,758 
 Professional fees (Note 5(e))  11,265   10,225 
  39,930  24,983 
    
Net loss and comprehensive loss  $ (39,930) $  (24,983) 
    

 

 
Deficit, beginning of year $ (5,371,134)$ (5,346,151) 
    
Net loss (39,930)  (24,983) 
   
Deficit, end of year $ (5,411,064)$ (5,371,134) 
    

 

Basic and diluted weighted average number of common  
   shares outstanding  32,178,500  33,691,000 
    
Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.001)  $ (0.001)  
    
    



 

                          See accompanying notes to the financial statements.      
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Synergy Acquisition Corp.  
(formerly Neo Alliance Minerals Inc.) 
Balance Sheet 

  As at December 31     2010 2009    
           

              

Assets 
Current 
 Cash   $ 7,589 $ 13,821 
    GST receivable    1,725  33,122 
 Due from related parties (Note 5)    -  492,792 
     9,314  539,735 
 
Investment in subsidiaries (Note 6)    -  1 
 
     $ 9,314 $ 539,736 
 
 
Liabilities 
Current 
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 5(f) ) $ 14,334 $ 22,033 
    Due to related parties (Note 5)    10,000  492,792 
     24,334  514,825 
 
Shareholders’ Deficiency  
Share capital (Note 7)   1,902,719  4,126,094 
Contributed surplus (Note 8)   3,493,325  1,269,951 
Deficit   (5,411,064)  (5,371,134) 
    (15,020)  24,911 
 
    $9,314 $  539,736 
 
 
Going concern (Note 2) 
Related party transactions (Note 5) 
Subsequent events (Note 13) 
 
 
Approved by the Board 

 

               “Don Caron”  Director 

 

 

               “Jason Theiss”  Director 

 



 

                          See accompanying notes to the financial statements.      
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Synergy Acquisition Corp.  
(formerly Neo Alliance Minerals Inc.) 
Statement of Cash Flows 

  Year ended December 31                                                                     2010                       2009    
           

                 

Cash provided by (used in) 

     
 Operating    

 Net loss  $ (39,930) $ (24,983) 
    
 Change in non-cash operating working capital:    
 GST receivable   31,397  (1,166) 
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   (7,699)  6,131 
   (16,232)  (20,018) 
Financing    
Advances from related party (Note 5)   10,000  - 
   10,000  - 
 
Decrease in cash   (6,232)  (20,018) 
 
Cash    

Beginning of year   13,821  33,839 
    
End of year  $ 7,589 $ 13,821 

       
    

Supplementary cash flow information: 

 

Non-cash transactions: 

 

Related party payable forgiveness (Note 8)  $ - $ 26,500 
       

During the year ended December 31, 2010, a related party payable for $492,792 was repaid 
with the related party receivable of $492,792 (Note 5). 



 

 

 

1. Nature of operations 

 

Synergy Acquisition Corp. (the “Company” or “SAQ”) (formerly Neo Alliance Minerals Inc.) was incorporated 

under the Business Companys Act (Alberta) on June 24, 2003.  On February 28, 2006, Neo Alliance 

Holdings Limited (“NAHL”) and the Company filed an information circular relating to a Qualifying 

Transactions  wherein the Company would purchase all of the outstanding shares of NAHL, and issue 

20,000,000 common shares of the Company to the shareholder of NAHL. The sole shareholder of NAHL 

was Neo Alliance Strategic Holdings Limited (“NASH”) prior to the Qualifying Transactions . The 

shareholders of the Company approved the transaction at a special shareholders meeting held on March 29, 

2006.   

 

Effective December 29, 2008, the shareholders approved a reorganization of the Company as outlined in 

Note 4.  All regulatory approvals for the reorganization were received on December 1, 2010 (Note 11).   

 

The Company changed its name from Neo Alliance Minerals Inc. to Synergy Acquisition Corp. effective 

December 16, 2010.  

 

Currently, the Company is a public company listed on the NEX board of the TSX Venture Exchange, trading 

under the symbol SAQ (Note 11). Although it does not currently have an ongoing business, it is actively 

seeking opportunities.        

 

 

 
2. Going concern 
 

These financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern. 

The going concern basis of presentation assumes the Company will continue in operation for the 

foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the 

normal course of business. During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company incurred a loss of 

$39,930 and had negative cash flow from operations of $16,232. In addition, the Company had an 

accumulated deficit of $5,411,064 as at December 31, 2010. 

 

The above factors raise significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Although the Company does not require significant funds to continue operations, management has taken 

actions to address these issues including recently lending the Company funds to meet ongoing regulatory 

filings.  The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to acquire 

profitable operations and obtain additional financing to fund the acquisition of profitable operations. 

 

The financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern 

assumption were not appropriate. If the going concern basis was not appropriate for these financial 

statements, then adjustments would be necessary in the carrying value of assets and liabilities, the reported 

expenses, and the balance sheet classifications used.  Due to the limited operations of the Company, these 

adjustments would be limited. 

 

 

  



 

 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies  
 

Basis of presentation  

 

The financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). 

 
Use of estimates 
 

In preparing financial statements in conformity with GAAP, management is required to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets 

and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 

during the reporting period. Significant estimates included in these financial statements include the valuation 

of future income tax assets and amounts recorded as accrued liabilities.  Actual results could differ from 

those estimates. 

 
Income taxes 

 

The Company uses the liability method to account for income taxes.  Under this method, future tax assets 

and liabilities are recognized for the future income tax consequences attributable to temporary differences 

between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax 

bases and for tax losses and other deductions carried forward. Future tax assets and liabilities are 

measured based on substantively enacted tax rates at the date of the financial statements for the years in 

which these temporary differences are expected to reverse. 

 

Future income tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is more likely than not that some portion or all of 
the future income tax assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of future income tax assets depends 
upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become 
deductible and tax losses are utilized. 
 

Loss per share 

 

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common shares 

outstanding during the reporting period.  Diluted loss per share is computed using the treasury stock method 

where the weighted average number of common shares outstanding is increased to include additional 

common shares from the exercise of outstanding stock options, if dilutive. The treasury stock method 

assumes that the proceeds to be received on the exercise of outstanding stock options are applied to 

repurchase common shares of the Company at the average market price in the year. 

 

Stock-based compensation 

 

The Company has a stock-based compensation plan, which is described in Note 7.  The Company uses the 

fair value method of accounting for stock options. The fair value of an option grant is calculated using the 

Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model and recognized as compensation expense over the vesting period of 

those grants. A corresponding adjustment is recorded in contributed surplus. On the exercise of stock 

options, the proceeds received by the Company, together with the related amounts in contributed surplus 

are credited to share capital. The effect of forfeitures and cancellations are recognized as they occur. 

 

  



 

 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 

Financial instruments  
 

The Company classifies all financial assets as held to maturity, loans and receivables, held for trading or 

available for sale and all financial liabilities as held for trading and other financial liabilities. All financial 

assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value.  Financial instruments classified as held 

for trading are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net loss. Financial assets 

classified as held to maturity, loans and receivables and financial liabilities not classified as held for trading 

are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Available-for-sale 

financial assets are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive 

income.  All derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized 

in net loss unless the derivative is part of a hedging relationship that qualifies as a fair value hedge, cash 

flow hedge or hedge of a net investment in a self-sustaining foreign operation. 

 

The Company has made the following classifications: 

 

Cash is classified as held for trading. 

 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities. 

 

 
 

 

4.       Disposition of subsidiary companies 

 

Effective December 29, 2008, the shareholders of the Company approved a reorganization agreement (the 

“Transactions ”) with NASH, a related party, providing for the sale by the Company of its subsidiaries.  The 

sale was satisfied by the cancellation of 18,150,000 common shares of the Company owned by NASH along 

with all current and future obligations, including property and other obligations and any liabilities of 

whatsoever type.   

  

Despite pending approvals as at December 31, 2008, management determined that the Company had lost 

control and significant influence over its subsidiaries immediately following the Transactions , and therefore 

had utilized the cost method to account for its subsidiaries. 

 

On July 23, 2009, the Company received conditional approval for the Transactions  from the TSX Venture 

Exchange (Note 11) pending a full or partial revocation of the cease trade order from certain Canadian 

securities commissions, which was received on December 1, 2010.   

 

 

 

 

  



 

 

5.       Due from (to) related parties and related party transactions 
 
Due from related parties   

  2010  2009 
        

           

Due from NAHL (a) $ - $        

   100,115 

Due from Neo and Thompson Capital Ltd.,  

    a company related through common shareholders (a)  -  392,677 

 

 $ - $ 492,792 

 

Due to related parties   

  2010  2009 
        

            

Due to NASH  

   a company controlled by the directors of NAHL (b) $ - $ (99,992) 

Due to shareholder of Minen Investments Inc. (c)  -          (392,800) 

Due to BRC Advisors Inc. (d)  (10,000)  - 

  

 $ (10,000) $ (492,792) 

 

The related party transactions are conducted on the terms and conditions agreed to by the related parties and 
are recorded at their exchange amounts. 
 
(a) The $492,792 “Due from related parties” represents intercompany loans from the Company to two 

related parties. These loans were repaid with the related party payable of $492,792 following the receipt of 

the December 1, 2010 revocation order.  

 
 
(b)  This loan was made by NASH directly to the Company who, in turn, invested the funds in related parties.  
This obligation formed part of the Transactions  described in Note 4; therefore once the December 1, 2010 
revocation order was received, this loan was repaid along with the $392,800 related party payable with the 
related party receivable of $492,792.  
 

  



 

 

5.       Due from (to) related parties and related party transactions (cont’d) 
 
(c)  The Company had entered into an agreement to purchase for US $700,000 the shares of a subsidiary, 

Minen Investments Inc. The December 31, 2009 amount outstanding represented the remaining amount 

outstanding from the original purchase price.   This obligation formed part of the Transactions  described in 

Note 4; therefore once the December 1, 2010 revocation order was received, this loan was repaid along 

with the $99,992 related party payable with the related party receivable of $492,792. 

 

(d)  During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company received an advance in the amount of $10,000 
(2009 – $nil) from a company over which a director has significant influence.  
 
(e)  For the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company received legal services of $1,065 (2009 – $225) 
from a company over which a director has significant influence.  
 
(f)  Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $2,600 (2009 – $nil) payable to a company over 
which a director has significant influence.  
 

 

 

6.      Investment in subsidiaries                    2010 2009 
                  

 

Balance, beginning of year   $ 1 $ 1 
  Sale of investment following approval 
         of the Transactions   (Note 4)    (1)  - 
      

Balance, end of year   $   - $ 1  
 

 

 

7. Share capital  
 
Authorized: 
 Unlimited number of common shares 
 Unlimited number of preferred shares, issuable in series 
 
Issued and outstanding common shares:   Number  Amount 
 

 Balance, December 31, 2008 and 2009        33,691,000 $ 4,126,094 
 
Cancelled common shares,   
   in accordance with the Transactions  (i)          (18,150,000)  (2,223,375) 

 
 Balance, December 31, 2010        15,541,000  $1,902,719 
 

(i) As part of the Transactions  (Note 4), the Company acquired and cancelled 18,150,000 common shares 

of the Company.  As the cost to acquire such shares was below their average cost, the cost was allocated to 

share capital in an amount equal to the average cost of the shares and the remainder to contributed surplus 

(Note 8).  The amount allocated to the share capital account was based on the historical average cost per 

share of $0.12 as at December 1, 2010, the date the revocation order was received.  The cost to acquire the 

shares was $1, the value of the subsidiaries sold (Note 6). 

  



 

 

7. Share capital (cont’d)  
 
d) Stock options to employees and directors 
 

The Company has established a stock option plan for its directors, executive officers, employees, and other key 
personnel.  The Board of Directors may designate which directors, officers, employees and other key personnel 
of the Company are to be granted stock options.  The expiry date, vesting terms and exercise price of any stock 
option granted are determined by the Board of Directors at the time of the grant, subject to regulatory 
requirements.  An Option granted under the stock option plan may vest at such times as the Board of Directors 
of the Company may determine at the time of granting, subject to the rules of any stock exchange or other 
regulatory body having jurisdiction.  Stock options are not assignable.  Provision is made for accelerated vesting 
in certain circumstances and early termination in the event of death or cessation of employment. The exercise 
price of each stock option is set to be not lower than the lowest exercise price permitted by any exchange and 
with a maximum term of not longer than five years from the date of grant.   
 
To date, stock options vested with one third becoming exercisable after 6 months of the grant, one third after 12 
months, and one third after 18 months.  The options became fully exercisable after 18 months.  No stock 
options were granted during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009. 
 

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plan for the periods presented and changes during 

the periods ended on those dates follows:  

 

                                         Number of     Weighted average 
       stock options exercise price 
   $ 

 

Outstanding and exercisable, December 31, 2008   1,900,000                
0.20 
 
Expired    (1,200,000)  0.20 
 
Outstanding and exercisable, December 31, 2009   700,000  0.20 
 
Forfeited, March 15, 2010                                                 (700,000)                    0.20 
 
Outstanding and exercisable, December 31, 2010       nil   nil 
 

 

 

  



 

 

8. Contributed surplus   

     2010  2009 

        

 
Balance, beginning of year   $1,269,951  $1,243,451 
      

Related party transaction (a)   -  26,500 
 

  Cancelled common shares, in accordance 
    with the Transactions  (Note 4 and Note 7(i))        2,223,374  - 

    
Balance, end of year   $ 3,493,325 $ 1,269,951 
 
(a) The shareholders of NASH paid for professional fees for services incurred by the Company. 
 
 

 

9.  Income taxes  

 
Income tax expense differs from the amount computed by applying the effective combined federal and Alberta 
provincial income tax rates to the respective periods’ earnings before income taxes.  These differences result 
from the following items: 
 
     2010  2009 
 
Expected income tax recovery - 28% (2009 – 29%)  $ (11,180) $ (7,245) 
  
Increase (decrease) resulting from: 
   Tax rate differential    29,830  - 
   Change in valuation allowance    (18,650)  7,245 

 
Income tax expense   $ - $ - 
 
  



 

 

9.  Income taxes (cont’d) 
 
The tax effects that give rise to the Company’s future income tax assets are as follows: 
 
     2010      2009 
Future income tax assets: 
 Non-capital losses carried forward   $ 469,479 $ 474,666 
    Capital losses carried forward    376,942  390,404  
     846,421       865,070 
 
Less: valuation allowance    (846,421)        (865,070)    
 
Net future tax asset   $ - $ - 
 
 
The Company has unused non-capital losses available for carry forward in Canada of $1,676,712 (2009 – 
$1,636,781).  The benefit of these losses has not been recognized in these financial statements.  These losses 
are available to reduce taxable income in Canada in future periods and may be carried forward for twenty 
years for non-capital losses. Capital losses can be carried forward indefinitely. Non-capital losses expire as 
follows: 
  Non-capital    
 Year of loss loss Expiry          
         2005 $ 91,346  2025  
         2006  919,509  2026 
   
      2007  567,970     2027 
   
      2008  32,972  2028  
      2009  24,984  2029 
      2010  39,931  2030 
      $ 1,676,712 

 
 

 

10. Financial instruments 
 
a)   Fair values 

 

The Company’s financial instruments include cash and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The fair 

values of these financial instruments approximate their carrying values due to their short-term maturity. 

 
b) Liquidity risk 
 

The Company’s exposure to liquidity risk is dependent on the ability to raise funds to meet purchase 
requirements and to sustain operations. The Company controls its liquidity risk by managing working capital 
and cash flows.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

11. Cease trade order and trading reinstatement 

 

On May 7, 2007, the Company received a cease trade order issued by the Alberta Securities Commission 

(“ASC”) and on May 9, 2007, the Company received a cease trade order issued by the British Columbia 

Securities Commission (“BCSC”) for failure to file its audited financial statements and Management’s 

Discussion and Analysis for the year ended December 31, 2006 on a timely basis.  The Company 

subsequently filed the December 31, 2006 financial statements and management’s discussion and analysis 

(“MD&A”) on September 5, 2007. On September 28, 2009, the ASC issued a variation of cease trade order 

for the sole purpose of allowing the Company to enter into an agreement to effect the Transactions  (Note 

4). On February 24, 2010, the Company applied to the ASC and BCSC for the full revocation order. Effective 

December 1, 2010, both cease trade orders were revoked and on December 20, 2010, the Company was 

reinstated and resumed trading on the NEX board of the TSX Venture Exchange. 

 
 
 

12.     Capital management 
 
The Company manages its capital to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and to 
preserve financial flexibility in order to fund growth and expansionary opportunities that may arise. The 
Company defines capital as its shareholders’ deficiency. As at December 31, 2010, shareholders’ deficiency 
was $15,020 (December 31, 2009 – shareholder’s equity of $24,911). The Company is not subjected to capital 
requirements imposed by a regulator. Other than the related party advance, the Company does not have debt 
and is not subject to any debt covenant provisions or externally imposed capital requirements. Prudent cash 
management is augmented by ongoing analysis conducted by management. There has been no change to the 
management of capital in the year.  
 
 

13.    Subsequent events 

 

At the February 8, 2011 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders, the shareholders approved the 

following: 

 

(i) a special resolution approving the future consolidation of the outstanding common shares on the 
basis of one new common share (“Post Consolidation Share”) for each six common shares 
presently issued and outstanding; 
 

(ii) an ordinary resolution approving a private placement (the "Private Placement") of up to 4,000,000 

Post Consolidated Shares at a price of $0.05 per Post Consolidated Share or such other price as the 
Board of Directors and management of the Company may determine and the regulatory bodies 
having jurisdiction may accept. The Private Placement transaction will be made with a company 
controlled by related parties.  This will result in a new "control person" as such term is defined by 
TSXV policies and accordingly, in connection with the rules of NEX and the TSXV, requires 
shareholder approval of the creation of a new "control person".   The shareholders approved the 
ordinary resolution of a new control person; 

 

(iii) an ordinary resolution, approving a new stock option plan  reserving up to a maximum of 10% of 
the shares issued and outstanding from time to time. 

 

 
 

 


